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LOOKING 
IN

TO THE 
INSIDE, 

LOOKING 
UP

What makes us TUHF
• Our unique ability to spot potential in all 

kinds of people

• Our ability to support, grow with and 

develop people 

• The way in which we connect and build 

relationships between different people, 

parties and communities

• Our specialist and unparalleled 

knowledge of the complexities of 

inner cities

What we value
• Grit – the tenacity to keep going, 

and going, and going

• The enquiring mind – looking beneath 

the surface to see what is real

• Human connections – authentic, 

enduring relationships

• Groundbreakers – a healthy disregard 

for limitation

What we do
We provide access to fi nance to people with passion, potential 

and integrity for purchasing, converting or refurbishing buildings 

in the inner cities of South Africa.  Our hands-on approach and 

specialised knowledge of the complexities of inner cities enables 

us to empower our clients to catalyse the regeneration of our 

neighbourhoods and communities.
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Treasury
Capital raised and well managed

Finance raised:

STRATEGIC PILLARS HOW DID WE DO?

•  Programme memorandum approved and registered with the Johannesburg Stock Exchange 

for a R1 billion domestic medium-term note programme (DMTN) over three years.

•  R800 million warehouse facility agreement over a period of three years entered into 

with Futuregrowth Asset Management (Pty) Ltd.

•  R280 million of this warehouse facility has been made available to be used in TUHF’s 

fi rst of three DMTN issuances.

•  Contracted a R200 million grant award from the National Treasury’s Jobs Fund with 

R87 million transferred to TUHF.

Commercial growth
Net book growth through approvals, 

disbursements and arrears management

Operational effi ciency
We work as a team and our systems support 

high performance

Achieved R800 million in approvals against a target of R600 million, representing 

113% of target.

Achieved R519 million in disbursements against a target of R450 million, 

representing 115% of target.

These achievements represent new records for TUHF.

i  
For more information on our strategic pillars, please see page 15

518 
BUILDINGS

20,377 
UNITS

245 
ENTREPRENEURS

Client bandwidth
A balanced portfolio made up of 40% 

starter, 40% emerging and 20% 

established entrepreneurs

2014 2016

7%
24%

69%

10%
43%

47%

Starter Emerging Established

2015

9%
34%

57%
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Integrated thinking
In preparing our integrated annual report, 

we were guided by the Integrated Reporting 

<IR> Framework (<IR> Framework) issued 

by the International Integrated Reporting 

Committee (IIRC). As we continue on the 

journey towards integrated thinking, we will 

continue to embed the guiding principles 

and fundamental concepts contained in 

the <IR> Framework to improve our 

communication with our stakeholders.

This integrated annual report aims to 

provide insight into the resources and 

relationships used and affected by our 

organisation. These are collectively referred 

to as “the capitals”. We recognise that the 

capitals are interrelated and fundamental 

to the long-term viability of our business. 

In the preparation of our report, all six 

capitals referenced in the <IR> Framework 

have been considered. These are fi nancial; 

manufactured; intellectual; human; 

social and relationship; and natural capital. 

After careful consideration, the decision was 

made that only four of the six capitals are 

material to TUHF’s ability to create value. 

TUHF had a record 
year, record disbursements and 
record approvals with a signifi cant 
reduction in non-performing projects.

Scope and boundary
This publication reports on the performance of the Trust for Urban Housing Finance (TUHF), non-profi t 

company (NPC), and its commercial subsidiaries (the Group) over the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016, 

with comparatives shown where available. The number of units, buildings, loans and entrepreneurs are reported 

on for active loans as at the end of the reporting period for TUHF’s principal activity company, TUHF Limited. All rand 

values, including loan book size and operating profi t or related percentages, are reported for the Group as per the annual 

fi nancial statements and integrated annual report. For more information on our Group structure, refer to page 11.

Reference to the various companies include: 

• Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC – TUHF NPC

• TUHF Holdings Limited – TUHF Holdings

• TUHF Limited – TUHF

• TUHF NPC, its subsidiaries and associated companies – the Group

TUHF has offi ces in Johannesburg, Durban, Port Elizabeth, Cape Town and Bloemfontein, which also 

serve inner cities in the surrounding areas such as Pretoria, Pietermaritzburg and Uitenhage. 

For more information on our geographic footprint, refer to page 12.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

In addition to the above, manufactured and natural capitals were also considered as part 

of our value creation process. We have concluded that these two capitals do not play a 

material role in our value creation process. Our offi ce space is rented rather than owned. 

Similarly, the Group is not a signifi cant consumer of natural capital and this capital is 

therefore not considered material. However, the effect our clients have on natural capital 

is considered as part of our reporting on our broader impacts.

For more information on how we use and impact the resources that enable our business, 

refer to our business model on page 20.

 Social and relationship capital: This refers to the institutions and the 

relationships that facilitate the continued success of our business, including our 

strong and interdependent relationships with key role players across our inner 

cities and industry.

Human capital: This refers to our staff complement, including our strong team 

of professionals who offer a depth of insight into the inner cities across our 

country and years of experience in the market.

Intellectual capital: Our intellectual capital refers to our organisational, 

knowledge-based intangibles, such as our in-depth knowledge of the 

complexities of inner cities and our character-based lending approach, which 

is supported by our world-class Loan Cycle Management System (LCMS). 

Financial capital: This refers to the pool of funds available to the Group, and 

includes debt capital and equity funding
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ASSURANCE
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) has externally assured the annual fi nancial statements 
provided in this integrated annual report. All information contained within this report is 
subject to internal controls and strong management oversight. The Group is confi dent 
that other data, which have not been audited, are an accurate refl ection of the business’ 
performance and position.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL
The board, with the assistance of the audit and risk committee, is responsible for ensuring 
the integrity of content presented in the integrated annual report. In preparing the integrated 
annual report, the board applied its collective mind to the content of the report and is 
satisfi ed that the report is a fair and accurate representation of the Group’s performance 
and prospects. This integrated annual report was approved by the board and signed on its 
behalf by:

Samson Moraba

Chairman

4 August 2016

Feedback
Feedback on the contents and presentation of the 2016 integrated annual report will assist the Group in improving the quality and 

relevance of future reports. Stakeholders are invited to contact TUHF at 086 000 8843 or info@tuhf.co.za. 
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Paul Jackson

Chief executive offi cer

FORWARD-LOOKING 

STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this document may 
constitute forward-looking statements. 
Such forward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties 
and other important factors that could 
cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of the Group to be materially 
different from the future results, 
performance or achievements expressed 
or implied by such forward-looking 
statements. The Group undertakes no 
obligation to update publicly or release 
any revisions to these forward-looking 
statements.
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LEADERSHIP 
OVERVIEW

“As the leading 

lender in inner city 

residential property, 

the Group is uniquely 

positioned to capture the 

opportunities arising from the 

country’s housing crisis. We believe 

the availability of safe, affordable rental 

accommodation in South Africa’s inner cities 

is another immediate sustainable option that 

addresses the challenges many South Africans face.”
– Samson Moraba, Chairman
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

Samson Moraba

Chairman

“We have proven our aptitude for identifying 
and supporting new and emerging property 
entrepreneurs. While providing our investors 
with commercially competitive returns coupled 
with developmental impact, we remain 
committed to our vision of a R5 billion loan book 
servicing every major city in our country.”

We believe our 13-year track record 

demonstrates our ability to see through 

the noise of perception, to the bricks and 

mortar of what it takes to run a successful 

business in a context that is challenging, but 

alive with possibility. We have proven our 

aptitude for identifying and supporting new 

and emerging property entrepreneurs and 

providing our investors with commercially 

competitive returns coupled with 

developmental impact, and we remain 

committed to our vision of a R5 billion 

loan book servicing every major city in 

our country.

Understanding and 

responding to our operating 

context
The premise of any business lies in 

understanding its operating context and 

developing solutions to meet clients’ needs. 

With global urban populations set to 

increase by two billion in 20 years, 

communities, developers and governments 

alike will face massive challenges to achieve 

socially positive living environments. 

South Africa, in particular, continues to face 

a growing housing crisis as a result of rapid 

urbanisation. Many South Africans live far 

from their employment, often spending 

more than 40% of their income on 

transportation costs. We see this challenge, 

coupled with the ongoing trend of inner city 

regeneration as an opportunity to enable 

entrepreneurs, through the provision of 

fi nance, to regenerate neighbourhoods 

experiencing urban decline.

While the demand for well-located housing 

grows, product development in the sector 

has remained focused on higher-income 

accommodation, resulting in a defi nitive 

gap in the market. Furthermore, across the 

South African property market, weak 

economic conditions coupled with 

above-infl ation increases in administered 

prices have continued to make rental 

escalations unaffordable, further 

compressing yields.

As the leading lender in inner city 

residential property, the Group is uniquely 

positioned to capture the opportunities 

arising from the country’s housing crisis. 

We believe the availability of safe, 

affordable rental accommodation in South 

Africa’s inner cities is another immediate 

sustainable option that addresses the 

challenges many South Africans face.

A unique approach to lending 

and business
We have a different approach to traditional 

fi nanciers. We believe in character-based 

lending – this means that we look at the 

person before the project. Our teams’ 

knowledge and skills have been developed 

over our 13 years in operation, uniquely 

positioning us to understand and mitigate 

the risks of inner city property investments.

We understand that to create social impact, 

we must be commercially successful. 

We achieve this by providing responsible 

property fi nance in areas traditional banks 

continue to avoid. The Group has embraced 

the opportunity to make a real difference in 

people’s lives. Our unique position, with a 

specialised skill set and the strength of our 

relationships, has allowed us to grow our 

business exponentially.

A strong strategic direction
As a board, we are pleased with the progress 

made in 2016 and, while the Group faced 

several challenges, exceptional progress 

was made against our strategic objectives.

Strategic pillar I: Treasury
We achieved good progress during the 

year with the approval of our domestic 

medium-term note (DMTN) programme by 

the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) and 
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While the economy
faces several challenges, the 
areas in which we operate are 
strengthened by the diverse 
economic activity that takes 
place in inner cities.
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the fi rst issuance targeted to take place in 

Q4 2016. This, in conjunction with our Jobs 

Fund grant, has ensured that TUHF has 

made substantial strides towards achieving 

our objective of ensuring that our funding 

lines exceed our pipeline, and there is 

balance in our lending profi le. We continue 

to approach mutually benefi cial funding 

partners in order to further diversify our 

funding base. 

Strategic pillar II: Commercial 
growth 
TUHF had a record year, record 

disbursements and record approvals with 

a signifi cant reduction in non-performing 

projects. This represents signifi cant progress 

towards our commercial growth ambitions. 

During the year, we focused on entrenching 

our new branches and developing the 

appropriate networks in these new areas of 

operations. While these branches are not 

yet profi table, we believe that a strong base 

has been established and will stand us in 

good stead for growth in years to come.

In spite of signifi cant operational success, 

we faced a higher-than-anticipated early 

prepayment rate during the fi nancial year. 

The twin impacts of reduced income from 

these prepayments, as well as higher 

operational costs, resulting from new 

branches and the move to our new head 

offi ces, negatively affected the profi tability 

of the Group. Despite this, we believe our 

investments have positioned the Group to 

advance our long-term growth trajectory.

Strategic pillar III: Client 
bandwidth
To counteract the concentration risk we are 

facing with regard to our established clients, 

who become increasingly appealing to other 

fi nancial institutions as their portfolios 

mature, we are focused on growing our 

client bandwidth and enhancing our service 

delivery to our existing clients. Our focus is 

on creating a balanced portfolio made up of 

clients that are 40% starter, 40% emerging, 

thus reducing our established client 

portfolio to only 20% of the book.

Strategic pillar IV: Operational 
effi ciency
We believe that increasing our operational 

effi ciency is not a once-off initiative, but a 

fl uid process of continuous assessment 

and change. We use our systems to enable 

strong portfolio management. In this regard 

I am delighted that in the year under review, 

the second phase of development of our 

Loan Cycle Management System (LCMS) 

was initiated.

Creating value through 

partnership
As an invested partner in the cities in which 

we operate, the Group actively pursues 

collaborative partnerships with all 

our stakeholders. We pride ourselves on 

operating in close proximity to our clients 

and maintaining transparent, open 

communication channels with them. 

We also work closely with our funders to 

maintain and develop good relationships, 

which are essential to our ability to grow 

our loan book. Our dedicated team is our 

direct connection to our clients, and we 

value their daily contribution to growing 

our business. At the heart of our business 

is a commitment to the shared future we 

intend to create for our clients, team, 

funders and investors.

Corporate governance
As a board, we remain dedicated to ensuring 

the Group’s evolving governance supports 

its growth. We remain committed to the 

principles encompassed in the King Code 

of Governance and the King Report 

on Governance (King III). Every year, we 

carefully assess the principles contained 

therein and, where these practices add value 

to the Group, they are incorporated into our 

governance structures and processes. 

Looking ahead
The economic outlook for South Africa 

remains uncertain, with looming interest 

rate increases, continued administered price 

hikes, and municipal service disruptions. 

While the economy faces several challenges, 

the areas in which we operate are 

strengthened by the diverse economic 

activity that takes place in inner cities. 

Against this backdrop, we believe there is 

an opportunity to set ourselves apart and 

advance our ambitions through a dogged 

pursuit of our strategy. We will do this by 

concentrating on building and maintaining 

relationships and by focusing on our area of 

expertise, that is, inner-city areas.

We will continue to focus on increasing our 

operational effi ciencies while growing 

our organisation deliberately. By pursuing 

growth in this measured and purposeful 

manner, we are ensuring that we maximise 

the scale of our impact in new areas without 

compromising the quality of our offering to 

our existing clients.

Appreciation
I would like to thank my fellow board 

members for their continued leadership and 

oversight on this invaluable journey towards 

a bigger and more dynamic TUHF Group. 

The success we have achieved in the year 

gone by is a testament to the quality of the 

people in the Group. In this regard, I would 

like to thank Paul Jackson, his executive 

team and all the staff for their hard work, 

dedication and continued excellence. 

Finally, it is with great appreciation that 

I thank our funders and partners who 

make our vision and that of our clients 

a reality through their support.

Samson Moraba

Chairman
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CEO’S REVIEW

Paul Jackson

Chief Executive Offi cer

14% of our book (long-term average of 

5%), which negatively affected profi tability 

for the year. Despite this setback, and due 

to the exceptional operational performance 

displayed by the Group, our loan book 

increased marginally from R2,02 billion 

to R2,12 billion.

Operating costs rose by 41% in line with 

our national expansion programme with the 

opening of branches in Cape Town and 

Bloemfontein, as well as increasing capacity 

in Gauteng.

Financing property entrepreneurs is 

contingent on our ability to raise capital. 

This has been the Group’s primary challenge 

since inception, as many providers of capital 

still perceive investment in inner cities as 

risky, yet the demand for housing and 

fi nance in these areas runs deep. Currently, 

we are diversifying our pool of debt capital 

investors and implementing structures that 

allow for direct access to capital markets, 

while improving our own assets and 

liabilities management in a reduced 

risk scenario. This, in addition to the Group’s 

traditional investment options, including 

on and off-balance sheet lending, joint 

fi nancing and agency work, has placed us in 

Where some view our business as a 

philanthropic entity, our success and that of 

our clients proves otherwise. As detailed in 

the chairman’s review, the case for inner 

cities remains strong, with their multisector 

economies and access to transport, jobs, 

technology, and social services. Our teams 

are experts in local inner-city markets with 

a key understanding of what makes inner 

city residential rental businesses tick, 

allowing our clients to make unprecedented 

returns on their investments.

Our loan book has consistently grown an 

average of 13% per year for the last fi ve 

years. In addition, TUHF set a new record 

in both disbursements and approvals. 

This, coupled with real reductions in 

non-performing loans, offset much of 

the prepayment risk that unwound during 

the year.

During the year, disbursements and 

approvals exceeded our targets, with 

disbursements at R519 million (15% above 

target) and approvals at R800 million 

(33% above target), however, we 

experienced a particularly high 

prepayment rate. Early prepayments 

constituted approximately R388 million,

good stead to achieve our strategic 

ambitions going forward.

The movement of large real estate 

investment trusts (REITs) and commercial 

banks to offer fi nancing in this space 

continues to improve perceptions of 

inner-city investments and the inner cities 

themselves. We are confi dent that as we 

continue to diversify our funding base, most 

notably through our DMTN programme and 

the Jobs Fund award of R200 million, that 

inner-city investment perceptions will 

continue to change. To date, R122,5 million 

has been received from the Jobs Fund, and 

R140 million has been drawn from the 

warehousing facility. Furthermore, during 

the year, the Jobs Fund grant agreement 

conditions were met with an indicative 

investment grade rating for the 

DMTN structure. TUHF now has both 

suffi cient funding and a pool of quality 

assets to complete the fi rst DMTN, and is 

focusing on both completing the underlying 

projects and on ensuring the job 

requirements are met. We have faced a 

signifi cant challenge in recording all the 

jobs created, but progress is being made 

with alternative ways of collating this 

information being considered.

Operating profi t has dropped 19% 

compared to the previous fi nancial year, 

despite a record year, aggressive arrears 

management, and the settlement of the 

bulk of our distressed projects. In the year 

ahead, we will continue to focus on 

managing our cost to income ratio 

through operational effi ciency without 

compromising our ability to effectively 

service our clients’ needs and thus improve 

our client retention.

Building our relationships 

through our brand
Being approachable, straightforward, 

street smart and discerning with a 

high-performance focus are what make us 

TUHF. Over the last few months, we have 

moved from a people/product brand 

strategy to a people/purpose-driven brand 

strategy. This means that rather than 

communicating the “what” of our business 

– namely property fi nance for residential 

rental property in inner cities, we are 

focusing on the “why” of our business 

– seeing what others do not in people, 

places and buildings. This does not mean we 

have departed from our core business, but 

rather that we are adjusting the way in 

which we communicate our business to 

our stakeholders. Speaking of stakeholders, 

an outcome of the brand strategy review 

“ Our loan book has consistently grown 

average of 13% per year for the last 

fi ve years. In addition, TUHF set a 

new record in both disbursements 

and approvals.”
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saw us revisiting our key stakeholders. 

We identifi ed funders and investors, clients, 

and our team to be the three main 

stakeholder groups to our business.

Following the work on our brand strategy 

and positioning, we launched our new look 

in February 2016. We believe that the 

launch of our new brand has helped us 

articulate our industry leadership in the 

markets in which we operate, and we look 

forward to seeing the fruits of our labour in 

the year ahead.

Supporting our clients
Our unique relational business model 

means that our services do not end with 

the provision of fi nance. We believe that 

the non-fi nancial support we offer is just 

as crucial as fi nancial support in fostering 

sustainable business growth and the 

creation of a thriving entrepreneurial 

culture across South Africa.

In October 2015, we initiated the TUHF 

Programme for Property Entrepreneurship 

(TPPE) for our clients. The initiative involves 

a six-month training and mentorship 

programme on topics such as property 

management, construction, refurbishments 

and conversions, fi nance and 

entrepreneurship, as well as general 

business management. The fi rst intake saw 

35 clients participate in the programme, 

which was delivered by Professor 

Francois Viruly from the University of 

Cape Town. The course was presented in 

collaboration with Henry Chitsulo of 

BoldMoves, who was responsible for the 

mentorship and coaching components of 

the course. Both men have over 20 years of 

property experience and have much wisdom 

to share with their students. The fi rst round 

was met with an overwhelmingly positive 

response and our second class is underway. 

We are exploring ways to roll out this 

training to our clients nationally.

We also continued to support our clients 

through our TUHF talks, covering topics 

relevant to residential property 

entrepreneurs. This year, fi ve events were 

held across three branches, where property 

management, evictions and construction, 

among other topics, were discussed. 

These events were well attended, and 

positive feedback was received from our 

clients concerning the relevance of the 

topics and the value they gleaned from 

the talks.

To offer better client service, we are 

launching a new client portal on our 

website, allowing our clients real-time 

access to their fi nances and offering 

another platform for engagement.

Reducing our environmental 

footprint
At TUHF, we do not “do green fi nancing” –

we “do green in our fi nancing”. Over the 

years, we have become more bullish in 

our efforts to incorporate environmental 

aspects in our fi nancing assessments; to 

mitigate the affordability impact inherent 

in rising administered prices. This is clearly 

demonstrated by our change in policy 

during the year. Last year our target was to 

have a green component in at least 40% 

of our loans. This year, we have made it 

policy that all loans must have a green 

component. If clients insist on having no 

green in their projects, we ask them to 

motivate for a policy exception. 

This decision clearly demonstrates our 

belief in the need and benefi t of green 

components in TUHF-fi nanced buildings.

Furthermore, we currently fi nance 

improvements that produce cost savings or 

are cost neutral, such as heat pumps, smart 

metering, energy-effi cient lighting, dual 

fl ushing and low-pressure showerheads. 

We also encourage maximising the use of 

natural light in TUHF buildings to reduce 

electricity consumption.

TUHF has undertaken an energy audit of 

35 buildings. The intention of the audit is to 

identify and encourage the implementation of 

energy-saving opportunities in TUHF-fi nanced 

projects. As a parallel process, TUHF is 

concluding its investigation into the tax 

advantages that our clients will receive from 

these renovations, as well as the timing of 

carbon tax legislation, which is currently a 

draft bill in South Africa’s legislature. TUHF 

will look for opportunities to refi nance 

projects based on the recommendations 

made by the audit exercise.

Outlook
As we look to 2017, we anticipate diffi cult 

market conditions in the short to medium 

term. South Africa is expected to continue 

facing economic headwinds including, 

among other things, low economic growth, 

political instability, rising infl ation and, 

especially worrying, rising unemployment. 

These factors are likely to result in increased 

risk, resulting in an increased cost of capital 

as investors reassess their positions.

Despite these headwinds, we believe the case 

for inner cities remains strong. Demand for 

affordable rental housing fi nds its base in 

vibrant multisector local economies. Thus, we 

will continue to focus on implementing our 

strategy in a methodical manner. However, 

we lend into a market, we do not create the 

market, and so credit tightening and reduced 

lending levels are included in our strategy for 

the next year. With a loan book of over 

R2 billion and a signifi cant investment in 

operating capacity, the Group is well placed 

to achieve its national expansion objectives 

and continue fi nancing activities that help 

create more rental property entrepreneurs. 

We believe that our ambitions are attainable 

and that we are on track to meet them.

Appreciation
It is with heartfelt appreciation that I 

thank those who have partnered with us 

throughout the year: Futuregrowth Asset 

Management (Proprietary) Limited 

(Futuregrowth), Gauteng Partnership Fund, 

Mergence Investment Mangers, Nedbank, 

the New Housing Company, the Public 

Investment Corporation on behalf of GEPF, 

and Stanlib. I value your continued support 

and look forward to strengthening our 

relationships in the years to come.

Thank you to the board for your sound 

leadership and vision and to the 

management team for your focused effort 

on implementing our strategy. My gratitude 

extends to everyone involved in the Group – 

thank you for your passion and commitment 

to changing the inner cities of South Africa 

and creating opportunities for a better life for 

this country’s citizens.

Paul Jackson

Chief executive offi cer

Despite these 
headwinds, we believe
the case for inner 
cities remains strong.
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BUSINESS 
OVERVIEW

“With 

global urban 

populations set 

to increase by two 

billion within 20 years, 

communities, developers 

and governments alike will face 

massive challenges to achieve socially 

positive living environments.”

– Samson Moraba, Chairman
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TUHF Bridge (Proprietary) Limited

Core purpose: 

Short-term bridging fi nance
Background
TUHF Bridge (Proprietary) Limited assists with 

short-term bridging fi nance for the procurement 

of rates clearance certifi cates, paying the balance 

of purchase prices, construction loans and, in the 

medium term, the rehabilitation of sectional 

title projects.

TUHF Limited

Core purpose: 

Property fi nancier
Background
The company provides commercial property fi nance 

in the form of long-term loans, secured by mortgage 

collateral and other fi nancial products, to fi nance 

entrepreneurs and landlords for the purchase, 

construction and improvement of property for the 

purpose of regeneration of South African inner-city 

precincts and surrounding areas.

Intuthuko Equity Fund 
(Proprietary) Limited

Core purpose: 

Equity fund
Background
The equity fund was established 

to assist previously disadvantaged 

individuals in gaining access to 

the property market. The fund 

requires interested entrepreneurs 

to contribute a portion of their 

own earnest money towards the 

transaction. This equity fund is 

subject to senior debt fi nance 

from TUHF Limited. For more 

information on the Intuthuko 

Equity Fund, please see page 28.

TUHF Properties
(Proprietary) Limited

Core purpose: 

Purchase properties 

for resale
Background
The company was established to 

purchase properties that become 

available for on-selling to 

entrepreneurs under deferred 

sale agreements. This is not a 

core business and is used as and 

when opportunities arise from 

on-selling of existing TUHF 

properties with TUHF bonds 

registered.

TUHF Holdings Limited

Core purpose: 

Equity holding company
Background
This is the holding company 

where shareholders have invested 

equity. While TUHF NPC owns 

33,31% of the company, a voting 

pool agreement is in place with 

the National Housing Finance 

Corporation (NHFC), whereby 

TUHF NPC has the casting vote.

TUHF Holdings Limited 

– shareholder analysis

TUHF NPC 

33,31%

Futuregrowth Asset Management 

(Proprietary) Limited on behalf of 

OMLACSA

NHFC

33,10%

TUHF 

employee 

share scheme 

3,61%

TUHF Limited 

0,94%

14,52%

14,52%

Government 

Employees 

Pension Fund

100% 100%

100% 100%

TUHF Limited (TUHF) is 

our primary operating 

activity company.

HOLDINGS (PTY) LTD

LIMITEDBRIDGE (PTY) LTD

PROPERTIES (PTY) LTDINTUTHUKO EQUITY
FUND (PTY) LTD

GROUP STRUCTURE

Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC

Core purpose: Group holding company
Background
Founded in 1993, the company was established to combine social housing and standard residential property fi nance 

in the form of a mortgage bank for existing and new entrepreneurs focused on inner-city regeneration. Today, that 

part of the business operates under TUHF Limited as our primary operating activity company, and Trust for Urban 

Housing Finance NPC is exploring alternative developmental projects such as backyard rental fi nance.

33,31%
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GEOGRAPHICAL FOOTPRINT

KWAZULU-NATAL
History Focus areas 

 Since 2009 

 7 employees

 568 units

  R102,060,421 

Loan book

    16 entrepreneurs 

assisted

Albert Park

Durban central

Overport

Pietermaritzburg central

Pinetown central

Umbilo

Warwick Avenue

GAUTENG
History Focus areas 

 Since 2003 

 43 employees

 19,103 units

  R1,980,116,096

Loan book

   201 entrepreneurs 

assisted

Arcadia

Bertrams

Hillbrow

Joubert Park

Rosettenville

Springs CBD

Vanderbijlpark CBD

Yeoville 

Cape TownCape Town

SOUTH AFRICA

Bloemfontein

Durban

Johannesburg

Port Elizabeth

FREE STATE
History Focus areas 

 Since 2015 

 1 employee

 0 units

Bloemfontein central

Bloemfontein CBD

Buitesig

Navalsig

Hilton

Hamilton

Oranjesig

WESTERN CAPE
History Focus areas 

 Since 2015 

 4 employees

 0 units

Observatory

Salt River

Woodstock

Rugby 

Ysterplaat

Voortrekker Corridor 

(Woodstock – Belville)

Brooklyn

EASTERN CAPE
History Focus areas 

 Since 2011 

 2 employees

 685 units

  R73,127,447 

Loan book

   28 entrepreneurs 

assisted

Korsten

North End

Port Elizabeth CBD

Port Elizabeth central

Richmond Hill

Sidwell

Sydenham

Uitenhage



2016  I  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT  I  13

B
u

sin
e

ss O
v

e
rv

ie
w

HISTORY

At the peak of the capital exodus out of Johannesburg’s city 

centre, the scene of rapid racial transition and the centre of 

many of the civil disobedience campaigns of the time, many 

buildings are left in squalor, overcrowded, and with no water 

or electricity, inviting crime and grime.

At the same time, people fl ock to the cities for work and 

other opportunities. Our founding members and directors 

see the potential in the infrastructure of previously popular 

areas such as Hillbrow and Yeoville.

We exceed the R1 billion mark in loan book size. The Port 

Elizabeth offi ces are opened and we receive the Business 

Award in the Investing in the Future and Drivers of Change 

Awards supported by Drivers of Change, Southern Africa Trust, 

and Mail & Guardian.

Fire affects TUHF’s head offi ce in Johannesburg, however, 

business commences as usual within one day with a relocation 

to temporary offi ces thanks to our robust IT systems.

The Inner City Housing Upgrading Trust (ICHUT) is 

established and aims to secure ownership of unkempt 

buildings in the Johannesburg CBD and, over time, for the 

tenants of those buildings to become owners through 

paying back subsidised loans to ICHUT.

The need for an equity fund to support previously 

disadvantaged individuals (PDIs) who are fi rst-time 

property investors is identifi ed. TUHF NPC launches the 

Intuthuko Equity Fund (Proprietary) Limited. The fund 

complements hard-earned money from PDIs to contribute 

to the equity required to acquire a property and 

get fi nance. 

We celebrate 10 years in operation and receive the 

Mortgage Bank of the Year Award for 2013/14 given by 

the African Banker Awards.

TUHF (Proprietary) Limited is 

established as a commercial entity, 

purchasing TUHF NPC’s loan book 

and assets, as well as employing all 

its staff. In the same year, the Durban 

branch is opened and TUHF closes 

the year with a loan book of 

R622,4 million, a 63% increase on 

the prior year.

TUHF Holdings (Proprietary) Limited 

and TUHF (Proprietary) Limited are 

converted into public companies to 

facilitate the process of accessing the 

capital markets. Further steps in our 

geographical expansion are taken as 

TUHF opens new branches in Cape 

Town and Bloemfontein. The TUHF 

loan book surpasses the R2 billion 

mark.

TUHF Limited’s DMTN Programme is 

registered on the JSE Debt Securities 

Listing Board and the fi nal stages of 

the R1 billion programme are being 

carried out. Instrumental to the listing 

of the DMTN programme in the form 

of a credit enhancement is a R200 million 

Jobs Fund grant awarded by the 

National Treasury.

TUHF’s head offi ce in Johannesburg 

is moved to permanent premises 

on the 12th fl oor of Libridge building 

at 25 Ameshoff Street in Braamfontein.

TUHF’s new brand is launched.

Early
90s

1993

2003

2006

2009

2011

2013

2014

2015

2004

ICHUT is transformed into the Trust for 

Urban Housing Finance, a non-profi t 

company (TUHF NPC). History is made 

as TUHF NPC proudly fi nances their fi rst 

project – Carhil Heights, a 28-unit 

building in Hillbrow.

TUHF NPC makes a profi t for the fi rst 

time, showing an operating profi t of 

R1,83 million. 

2016



14  I  TUHF  I  BACKING ORDINARY PEOPLE, DOING EXTRAORDINARY THINGS

HOW TUHF 
CREATES VALUE

“We 

understand 

that to create 

social impact, we 

must be commercially 

successful. We achieve 

this by providing responsible 

property fi nance in areas 

traditional banks continue to avoid.”

– Samson Moraba, Chairman
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Where we want to go

R5 billion loan book, servicing every major city in South Africa

How we intend to get there

STRATEGIC PILLARS

Treasury Commercial 

growth

Client 

bandwidth

Operational 

effi ciency

Success means:

Capital raised from a diverse 

group of investors that is 

well managed.

Our business is liquid, selling 

debt for a margin.

Success means:

Net book growth through 

approvals, disbursements 

and arrears management.

Growing client numbers by 

ensuring that our presence 

is seen and felt in inner-

city communities.

Success means:

Reduced concentration risk 

with a portfolio made up 

of 40% starter entrepreneurs, 

40% emerging entrepreneurs 

and 20% established 

entrepreneurs.

Success means:

We work as a team. 

Systems are an enabler, 

they are functional and 

support high performance. 

Our portfolio is managed 

on time, every month.

Short to medium-term initiatives

How?

• Domestic medium-term 

note (DMTN) programme 

on schedule for Q4 2016

• Implement asset and liability 

management system

• Raise two new lines of credit 

worth R300 million on 

balance sheet loans

• Capital market institutions 

stratifi ed: Investment 

opportunities packaged, 

training and skills developed

• Intuthuko Equity Fund: 

Raise R50 million nationally

• Net interest margin >3,5%

How?

• Sound credit decisions

• Clear loan and portfolio 

pricing parameters

• Breakeven and beyond 

for regions

• Pipeline, approvals 

(R600 million), 

disbursements 

(R500 million) and 

operating costs on target

• Cost to income ratio <53%

• Ratio and budget 

management

• Meet the requirements 

of Jobs Fund and DMTN 

programme

• Portfolio management

• Speed and effectiveness 

of default management

• Arrears <0,5% of book

How?

• Proactive deal matching 

with suitable clients

• Client induction and training 

programme implemented 

nationally

• Net Promoter Score (NPS) 

of >7

• Client Effort Score (CES) 

of <2

• Understanding which of our 

clients are entrepreneurs and 

which are once-off investors

• Client journey project 

completed

How?

• Proactive portfolio 

management

• Loan Cycle Management 

System (LCMS) – fi nalise 

valuation, loan proposal, 

term sheet and client portal

• Commence default 

management 

workfl ow upgrade

• Data captured accurately 

and useful for other users 

and reporting

• Standard operating 

procedures developed

• Proactive construction 

management

STRATEGY
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Matter Access to capital Economic context

Risk and impact Our ability to source adequate, well-priced funding is 

key to our ability to lend to entrepreneurs. 

The fi nance that is raised by the Group is unrated and 

unlisted, which increases perceived investor risk and 

could reduce our ability to raise capital and compete 

with institutional lenders.

The South African economy is currently in a period of 

low economic growth, with increasing infl ation as well 

as currency volatility. The broader impact of these 

factors is the possibility of a recession and hampered 

industry planning. This, in turn, has an impact on the 

property market in that interest rates and infl ation push 

up rental costs, which can increase the credit risk of our 

clients and their tenants. Increased costs also squeeze 

our clients’ margins. 

In addition, a ratings downgrade, if it does occur, will 

impact the cost and availability of the capital that is vital 

to our business.

Opportunity Expanding our debt capital by accessing the capital 

markets directly through the structuring of our fi rst 

R1 billion DMTN programme over a three-year period. 

This will both widen and diversify our pool of capital 

by offering investors in TUHF a rated and listed form 

of investment. 

This, in addition to our consistent track record of 

providing a market-related fi nancial return on investment 

(ROI) as well as development impact, places us in good 

stead to access the capital we need.

Rental housing is counter cyclical. In diffi cult times, the 

demand for affordable housing increases as people cut 

costs to live close to work at prices they can afford.

A substantial gap in the housing market exists specifi cally 

for individuals who earn too much to qualify for social 

housing, yet too little to meet the requirements for loans 

from traditional banks. This leaves an extensive number 

of people without an option for sustainable living 

and development. This issue places greater emphasis 

on the need for affordable housing.

Related 

stakeholders
Investors and funders Clients

Investors and funders

Strategic 

response
Treasury Treasury

Commercial growth

 1  UN Report: World Urbanisation Prospects, 2014 Revision 

We use the understanding and insight gleaned from our engagements with our clients, our funders, our staff and management team, as well as 

our broader operating context, to identify matters that substantially affect our ability to create and sustain value over the short, medium and 

long term. These matters were then clarifi ed through an externally facilitated assessment and subsequent management discussions, taking into 

account the external environment and internal business factors, as well as our legitimate stakeholder interests and concerns.

MATERIAL MATTERS

At TUHF, we recognise that our 

business success is built on the depth 

of the relationships we have with our 

stakeholders.
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Inner city context Social trends

Erratic implementation of development programmes and 

administered prices negatively affects affordability for landlords and 

their tenants. In addition, urban management is poor in most areas 

and the implementation of bylaws is lacking or inconsistent. 

The inner city poses many social challenges including crime, 

service delivery constraints, student protests and high levels of 

unemployment. In addition, prevalent national and global social 

activism may see unrealistic expectations on both the private sector 

and government to provide more free or subsidised housing. This is 

fuelled by heightened consumer activism and increased connectivity 

through platforms such as social media.

These factors, among others, continue to negatively impact investor 

perception, thereby affecting our ability to raise fi nancing.

13 years of commercial success, through specialising in inner city 

fi nance, uniquely positions TUHF to continue generating good 

returns for investors. Our team is familiar with the areas in which we 

operate and are experts at working with both our clients and our 

funders to generate the maximum ROI.

The case for inner cities remains strong, affi rmed by the global trend 

of urbanisation powered by the need for people to move closer to 

opportunities for better education, essential infrastructure, business 

creation and employment, and save on travel time and costs.1

Concentrated opportunities for earning, working and learning make 

cities attractive and cause a multiplier effect on urbanisation.

Spatial, economic and social integration policy is supported by the 

National Department of Human Settlements, encouraging housing 

opportunities in, or close to, the city as opposed to far, 

outlying areas.

In addition, opportunities offer the technological advantage 

of advanced cellular and internet connectivity that supports the 

modern lifestyle.

Clients Clients

Inner-city communities and organisations Inner-city communities and organisations

Investors and funders

Commercial growth Treasury

Client bandwidth Commercial growth

Low High

Lo
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Impact

Access to
capital 

Social 
trends

Inner city
context

Economic
context 



WHY INNER CITIES? 

In 2014, the number of people living in cities outnumbered those living in rural areas. This trend is set to 

continue as demand for clean and safe housing in the inner cities of South Africa is on the rise. These are 

factors infl uencing the increased demand for inner city living1:

Many individuals live great distances from their places of 
work as a result of the location of reconstruction and 

development programme (RDP) housing. These houses are 
often 40km from where employed individuals work, 

resulting in 40% of these individuals’ income going towards 
transportation costs.2  

In light of the constrained economic environment, the 
need for housing located closer to people’s places of 

work is on the rise.

South Africa’s urban population is becoming larger and 
younger. Predictions show that nearly 80% of the total 

population will be living in an urban area by 2050. 
This amount of rapid growth, combined with the existing 

housing shortages in urban areas, has increased demand for 
housing in inner cities.

Over the last 20 years, a substantial gap in the housing 
market has developed, specifi cally for individuals who earn 

too much to qualify for social housing, yet too little to 
meet the requirements for loans from traditional banks. 

This leaves an extensive number of people without 
an option for sustainable living and development. 

This issue places greater emphasis on the need 
for affordable housing in the inner cities.

18  I  TUHF  I  FINANCING RENTAL HOUSING IN SOUTH AFRICAN CITIES

TRANSPORT 
COSTS

RAPID 
URBANISATION

EXISTING 
INFRASTRUCTURE

GAP IN THE 
HOUSING 
MARKET

TECHNOLOGY 
AND 

CONNECTIVITY

Inner cities, with their close proximity to various amenities 
and required services, offer an inherent connectivity. 

In addition, they offer a technological advantage, with 
cellular and internet connectivity that supports the 

modern lifestyle. The City of Johannesburg and the City of 
Cape Town, for example, have begun implementing the 
“smart city” initiative with the intent of rolling out free, 

high-speed internet, available to residents in libraries, 
along bus routes, and in other public areas. This initiative 

will aid in unleashing entrepreneurial potential and creating 
jobs, further strengthening the case for inner city living.

South African inner cities are well established and advanced 
regarding their transportation and communication 

infrastructure. They thus hold a competitive advantage, 
as investments in this regard are generally upgrades rather 

than new developments.

1 UN Report: World Urbanization Prospects, 2014 Revision.
2 Francois Viruly, associate professor in the department of Construction Economics and Management at the University of Cape Town: Banker SA edition 11, 2014.
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STRONG 

MARKET 

POSITION

PROVEN 

TRACK 

RECORD

EMPOWERED 

TEAMS

ROBUST 

AND AGILE 

INFRASTRUCTURE

OUR 

APPROACH 

TO RISK

OUR IMPACT

Strong market position 

• We are the leading lender in inner city residential property.

• We were the fi rst to market fi nancing residential regeneration in nodes such 
as Hillbrow, Berea, Port Elizabeth central, Springs, Albert Park in Durban.

• We have a strong and healthy pipeline across a national footprint.

Proven track record

• We have demonstrated 13 years of loan book growth. 

• Our average year-on-year loan book growth for the last fi ve years is 17% per year. 

• All our investor covenants are honoured and paid back with market-related returns. 

• Our arrears are managed well below industry averages.

Empowered teams

• Our teams understand the value of the client relationship as well as the deal.

• Our professionals are thought leaders in their local markets with a key 
understanding of what makes business tick, both for us and our clients.

• We recruit for values and train for skill; in this way our culture is strengthened 
by each individual joining the team.

Robust and agile infrastructure 

• Our business was up and running within one day of the fi re that affected our 
building in Johannesburg in 2014. This is a testament to our team’s agility and 
the strong technological foundation that supports our operations.

• Our branches and head offi ce are empowered to make local decisions and 
are supported by effi cient and enabling systems.

• Work is underway to further streamline our systems to enable faster decision 
making and delivery to our clients through our website-based client portal.

Our approach to risk

• Our professionals are intimately familiar with the areas in which we lend. Their 
knowledge and skills have been honed over our 13 years in operation. The TUHF 
team assists our clients in putting the right measures in place to mitigate the risks 
of inner city property investments, allowing our clients to make unprecedented 
returns on their investments, even better than some upmarket areas such as 
Sandton and Umhlanga.

• We look at the person before the deal; this forms part of our specialised character-
based lending approach. In our experience, when a project goes bad, it is not the 
building, but rather the person behind the building that caused problems.

Our impact

• We provide access to fi nance – we fi nance in areas and to people that would not 
ordinarily be fi nanced by banks.

• We stimulate job creation – the projects we fi nance create jobs both during the 
construction and refurbishment process as well as property management, 
maintenance and cleaning employment thereafter.

• We are a catalyst in urban regeneration – by introducing a reliable source of 
liquidity into our market niche, we have seen the property market respond with 
large and consistent increases in value. Therefore, we create property markets 
where there would not ordinarily be local economic development.

• We contribute to fi scal impact – through access to quality, affordable housing, 
people are able to reside within easy reach of their places of work, adding to their 
economic empowerment and contribution to the country’s economy. The growing 
urban community of economically empowered people will ultimately place less 
strain on government resources by contributing to rates, utilities and taxes in 
buildings that were not contributing previously.
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Our services
• Supporting entrepreneurs in inner-city 

property investment

• Offering experience, knowledge and 

expertise on property entrepreneurship 

and the areas in which we operate

• Acting  as a connector between 

entrepreneurs and our greater network 

of role players

• Induction, training and mentoring 

for starter entrepreneurs

• Value-added services to clients such 

as events where industry experts share 

industry and market-related trends and 

information on challenges close to inner 

property entrepreneurship

ACTIVITIESINPUTS

BUSINESS MODEL

Financial capital

Funds available to the Group 

include debt capital and 

equity funding

Human capital

Our staff complement, including 

our strong team of professionals, 

offers a depth of insight into the 

inner cities across our country

Intellectual 
capital

Our character-based lending approach 

is supported by a robust Loan Cycle 

Management System. This process is 

customised to our market niche and 

specialisation supported by 

our stable IT systems that are 

integrated at multiple 

levels

Social and 
relationship capital

Our strong and interdependent 

relationships with role players 

across our stakeholder groups
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OUTPUTS

GOOD BUSINESS DOING GOOD

Clients

Property entrepreneurs and investors are fi nanced in areas that 

are redlined by traditional fi nance institutions. Starter 

entrepreneurs are empowered with information throughout the 

process to ensure successful projects.

Investors

Sustained commercial returns to funders and investors over 

13 years in addition to social impact such as access to fi nance, 

job creation, the provision of affordable rental housing, energy 

effi ciencies, inner city regeneration, local economic development, 

municipal fi scal impact and general contributions to the 

improvement of tenant livelihoods.

Shareholders

Consistent growth in return on investment through dividends.

Employees

Opportunity to contribute not only to an employer, but also to

a growing business with development impact. Our team has a 

strong business style and culture, and values each member of 

the team regardless of their position.

Inner cities

Affordable housing stock is made available in the inner city, 

assisting individuals who may not qualify for a home loan or 

RDP housing, which fi lls a signifi cant gap in the market.

Throughout the redevelopment of TUHF-fi nanced buildings, 

permanent and temporary jobs are created/maintained.

Communities are created as families occupy secure, affordable 

and decent rental housing. The retail market is stimulated as 

these families purchase goods and services in the city.

Government

A growing urban community of economically empowered 

people ultimately places less strain on government resources by 

contributing to rates, utilities and taxes in buildings that were 

previously non-paying which may lead to improved 

government services.

South Africa

The provision of affordable housing combined with increased local 

economic development contribute to broader socio-economic 

development across the country.

OUTCOMES

Our products
Finance for mixed-use developments of which 

the largest component should be residential 

up to the value of R50 million

Bridging fi nance
Providing short-term bridging fi nance for 

a range of needs, including procurement 

of rate clearance certifi cates, payment 

of balance of purchase prices, construction 

loans and in the medium term, rehabilitation 

of sectional title projects

Mortgage fi nance
• A single loan facility over 15 years 

for acquisition and development

• Prime-linked interest rate

• Once-off raising fee

• No monthly service fees

• Financial structuring such as grace periods 

to accommodate the property 

development and tenanting stages

LIMITED

Intuthuko Equity Fund
Equity fund to enable previously 

disadvantaged individuals who have never 

owned investment property before to 

access the property market. The fund 

requires interested entrepreneurs to 

contribute a portion of their own earnest 

money towards the transaction. This equity 

fund is subject to senior debt fi nance from 

TUHF Limited

INTUTHUKO EQUITY
FUND (PTY) LTD

BRIDGE (PTY) LTD
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS – BEING AN INVESTED PARTNER

Our relationships are the key enabler of our success. By staying in touch with our stakeholders’ needs, we are able to shape ourselves to meet 

the needs of the people for whom the Group was created and thereby maintain our relevance and competitive advantage among our funders, 

clients and in the communities in which we operate.

Stakeholder group Their needs Our needs

Clients Property entrepreneurs interested 

in, or currently invested in, the 

inner cities we service.

Our clients need fi nance and support 

in order to successfully own and 

manage rental property in the inner 

cities of South Africa.

We need property entrepreneurs who 

are serious about providing safe and 

affordable housing in the inner cities 

of our country.

Funders • Asset managers

• Finance institutions

• Development fi nance institutions

Our funders need an investment that 

will provide a good return.

We can only lend to entrepreneurs 

as much funding as we are able to 

borrow or raise from our funders and 

shareholders, therefore, the growth 

of our organisation is contingent on 

this essential aspect of our business.

Shareholders • 33,31% TUHF NPC 

• 33,10% National Housing Finance 

Corporation SOE Limited (NHFC) 

• 14,52% Futuregrowth Asset 

Management (Pty) Ltd on behalf 

of OMLACSA 

• 14,52% Government Employees 

Pension Fund 

• 3,61% TUHF employee 

share scheme 

• 0,94% TUHF Limited  

Our shareholders need sustained 

fi nancial returns to justify their 

investment in our organisation.

We need strategic shareholders who 

share our ambitions of achieving a 

very specifi c commercial and 

development impact objective within 

a defi ned market niche. In addition, 

to achieve fi nancial covenants 

required by funders, additional 

shareholders must be sought.

Employees 57 salaried employees across 

fi ve branches

Our employees need work 

environments that foster 

personal and professional 

development as well as provide 

market-related remuneration.

We need skilled, relationally 

driven professionals who value 

hard work opportunities to 

contribute to individual and 

broader socio-economic change.

Government and 

municipalities

National, provincial, state, regional 

and local government and parastatals

Government needs private sector 

companies like TUHF to stimulate 

the economy and address the vast 

housing need.

We need the infrastructure, 

protection and public services for 

“bad areas” to be regenerated.
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Making the connection Value created

Our business model is inherently relational and allows for 

multiple contact points with our clients throughout their loan 

term with us, including:

• The client has a single point of contact service managed by their 

portfolio manager, who is supported by the rest of the TUHF team

• We engage in open dialogue, including personal meetings with 

clients, informative events around the issues that inner-city 

property entrepreneurs face, such as property or utilities 

management, as well as training and mentoring opportunities

When our clients succeed, we succeed. We share a vision for the 

potential of the inner city. Through our access to fi nance and their 

passion for property, we support our clients as they grow their 

property portfolios.

We engage our funders through:

• Meeting debt/equity covenants

• Quarterly funders’ packs including updates on performance

• Regular meetings with EXCO

• Our integrated annual report, which serves as the central 

communication tool to all funders

By understanding funders’ requirements and meeting their 

needs, we can access more capital to lend to more clients with 

more security. This helps us to grow our loan book and improve 

our social impact and ROI, which also benefi ts our funders.

We engage our shareholders through:

• Quarterly investor packs

• Regular meetings with EXCO members regarding updates 

and performance

• Our integrated annual report, which serves as the central 

communication tool to all shareholders

Being in regular contact with shareholders keeps us apprised of 

pertinent issues that may be on shareholders’ minds that need to be 

addressed by the Group. In addition, shareholders are more receptive 

and likely to support management’s positions when the Group has 

been in contact with them periodically over the course of the year. 

Shareholder engagement, therefore, has the potential to lead to 

mutual agreements on various matters over time.

We engage with our staff every day as we conduct our operations.

Furthermore, we:

• Hold regular staff meetings

• Conduct staff surveys to ascertain the needs and level 

of satisfaction of our employees

• Conduct an annual mid-term review for the whole Group to 

come together under a common shared purpose

By listening to and addressing our employees’ concerns and 

needs, we foster employee satisfaction and productivity. 

Employee satisfaction, in turn, results in loyalty, high levels 

of motivation, and commitment to our organisation.

We engage with government through:

• Ongoing meetings with council, provincial and local government

• Engagement with the Department of Human Settlements.

Through the engagement process, we develop relationships that 

facilitate positive change in the inner cities.
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Our stakeholders – being an invested partner continued

Stakeholder group Their needs Our needs

Community 

members

• Inner-city communities and 

organisations as well as property 

owners’ bodies

• Johannesburg Property Owners 

and Managers Association 

(JPOMA)

• South African Property Owners 

Association (SAPOA)

• Smaller community bodies

Community members need to see 

positive change in inner cities.

We need to develop strong 

relationships with community 

members and, in so doing, we are 

kept apprised of what is happening 

in the inner cities and make 

connections that facilitate the 

change we wish to see.

Service providers Major service providers include:

• Property managers

• Legal

• Contractors

• Consultants

• Project review consultants

Service providers need strong 

business connections that deliver 

a pipeline of work.

We need connections with service 

providers to recommend to our 

clients and to better understand 

the issues being faced in this arena.

Regulators • National Credit Regulator

• Credit Ombuds Association

• Credit Providers Association

Regulators need companies to 

comply with relevant regulations in 

order to foster responsible business 

practices in our country.

We need regulators to understand 

our context and ensure that the 

regulatory environment promotes 

healthy business growth.
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Making the connection Value created

We ensure engagement through:

• Memberships and regular meetings with bodies such as the 

JPOMA and SAPOA

• Discussions, on a regular basis, with smaller community bodies in 

the individual cities in which we operate

We are collectively invested in the inner cities and committed to 

making them a better space for all. We have a vision of 

safe, affordable and decent living spaces in the city.

Through the process of rallying around these common issues, which 

are close to TUHF and close to our stakeholders, we are kept up to 

date with the latest news in the city, build a network of people 

operating in the city and potential clients come from these bodies 

due to networking and engaging.

Engagement occurs through:

• Regular meetings

• Project engagements

• Joint/referred consultation to clients businesses

Through our contact with our suppliers, we are able to tailor our 

service offerings to clients to suit their needs based on a greater 

understanding of the operating environment and suppliers, in turn, 

receive referrals based on both a strong relationship and the quality 

of their work.

We engage with regulators through annual compliance 

criteria submissions.

We engage to ensure our compliance with strict industry standards, 

as well as to assist good governance within the Group. This, in turn, 

results in the confi rmation of the legitimacy of our business, giving 

good credentials and comfort in the national standards adhered to, 

which furthers our brand in the market.
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Image to be replaced

IMPACT 
OVERVIEW

We have 

a proven 

track record of 

commercial viability 

coupled with social 

impact: we have shown 

ourselves to be a catalytic 

presence in the areas in which 

we operate.
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SOCIAL IMPACT REPORT

We have a proven track record of commercial viability coupled with social impact and have shown ourselves to be a catalytic presence in 

the areas in which we operate, while maintaining our fi nancial viability as a business. During 2016, we continued to positively impact the 

socio-economic wellbeing of our stakeholders.

ENTREPRENEURIAL GROWTH

Our character-based lending approach enables 

us to assess risk in a way that allows us to 

fi nance entrepreneurs from all walks of life 

including starter property entrepreneurs. 

In addition to providing fi nance, our team 

supports these entrepreneurs throughout their 

property journey. In addition, the TUHF 

Programme for Property Entrepreneurship is a 

formal six-month training programme where 

entrepreneurs are upskilled, facilitating personal 

and professional growth.

LIVELIHOODS ARE IMPROVED

By accessing fi nance through the Group, entrepreneurs are able to invest in the inner city, grow their 

property businesses and earn a fi nancial return, which improves their livelihoods in a sustainable manner.

The projects we fi nance also create jobs for other members of the community, both during their 

construction and/or refurbishment and through the property management aspect thereafter.

In addition, by being able to access affordable housing in the inner cities, those individuals and 

families who could not afford alternative housing are now able to realise improvements in their living 

conditions and live better lives.

By moving to the inner city, individuals and households may be closer to amenities and transport 

hubs, which can open up many opportunities. What is more, the jobs created as a result of the building 

upgrades the Group fi nances, provide a source of income that can improve livelihoods.

LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

TUHF-fi nanced housing stock encourages 

more people to move into the inner cities, 

which is associated with increased market 

activity and therefore contributes to local 

economic development. This is as a result of 

people moving into these spaces, starting 

businesses, being employed, and accessing 

local retail and amenities. There are also 

associated increases in property values 

and rentals.

LOCAL FISCAL IMPACT

The rates and utilities of buildings fi nanced by the 

Group contribute to a larger municipal budget, as 

many of these buildings were previously vacant or 

not managed appropriately. Furthermore, the 

improvements to these buildings also lead to 

increased property values, which resulted in 

increased property rates. This growth in municipal 

budgets could in turn lead to more investment in 

government services and amenities and result in 

the improved provision of government services.

21% of entrepreneurs receiving 

fi nancing from TUHF are female 

63% of entrepreneurs receiving 

fi nancing from TUHF are historically 

disadvantaged 

245 entrepreneurs receive 

fi nancing from TUHF 

667 permanent jobs 

created this year 

1,441 short-term jobs

created this year
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136,011m2 
fi nanced and 

converted to residential

518 buildings registered with local 

city councils pay rates and taxes
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INTUTHUKO EQUITY FUND

We pride ourselves in being a company with a clear ambition. Since our inception, we have sought to balance our commercial activities 

with our developmental impact. In addition to our support of low-income housing and our urban regeneration objectives, we strive to 

promote urban land reform by directing our efforts towards small-scale, previously disadvantaged landlords. There are many barriers 

to entry into the property market for these entrepreneurs, with the central issue being equity. To address this, in 2005, TUHF NPC 

established the Intuthuko Equity Fund (IEF), a fund focused on creating opportunities for budding, previously disadvantaged entrepreneurs 

with a vision for inner city redevelopment.

How it works
The IEF is designed to assist previously disadvantaged individuals (PDIs), specifi cally those who want to become property entrepreneurs in 

the inner city, but do not have the required equity to access fi nance. The fund assists entrepreneurs by contributing towards the deposit or 

equity requirements necessary for a loan approval. It requires interested entrepreneurs to contribute a portion of the fi nancing; the IEF will 

then match the entrepreneur’s own cash to a maximum of R750,000.

The fund will only fi nance a deal that makes business sense, one that earns enough money from the business, not only to repay the loan 

obtained from IEF with interest, but also to make a profi t for the entrepreneur.

Why Intuthuko?
A clear need
There is a growing demand for affordable rental housing supply in the inner cities due to rapid urbanisation across South Africa. 

In response, we saw an opportunity to support emerging entrepreneurs, mainly PDIs, to play a developmental and sustainable role 

in supplying quality, affordable rental housing. PDI participation in this market has been very limited due to the onerous obligations 

involved in obtaining institutional subsidies that make accessing equity funding opportunities extremely diffi cult.

We believe that, if these constraints are overcome, approximately 1,000 additional rental units can be added each year, in well-located 

areas, operated by emerging private-sector landlords, in a way that can materially enhance integrated human settlement policy 

and objectives. 

Structured support
We develop property entrepreneurs by identifying high-potential clients who typically live and work in the inner city. Clients are taken 

through the lending process to ensure that they meet the criteria required and that their business plan is appropriately sized according to 

their current abilities. We ensure that a client is adequately equipped to manage their desired property portfolio from the point of initial 

investment to ensure that they are in a position to repay the loan on time while running a profi table business.

In addition to the support clients receive from the TUHF staff, we have a custom training programme facilitated and accredited by the 

University of Cape Town, which is mandatory for all entrepreneurs funded through the IEF. The training covers all principles necessary 

to run a successful rental housing business, from property development to property management. Business management skills are also 

provided through a supplemented, hands-on mentorship programme tailor-made for each entrepreneur.

Strong performance
The IEF has achieved marked success in supplying equity PDIs, and in so doing has provided entrepreneurship opportunities while injecting 

funding back into the inner city property market.

Since its inception, the IEF has seen:

• 105 projects fi nanced which would not have ordinarily been funded due to lack of full equity;

• 80 previously disadvantaged property entrepreneurs funded; and

• R65,291,108 in equity funding approved.

Outlook
In response to the clear success that the fund has achieved in providing equity funding to PDIs, while capitalising on the opportunity of 

a scarcely tapped market, a plan is in place to take the programme to a national level. The IEF is uniquely positioned to provide inspired 

entrepreneurs with the opportunity to create a positive future for themselves. In light of this, we continue to explore viable options 

for funding this initiative in order to see an expanded impact throughout the country.

i
 For the stories of our Intuthuko success, please see case studies on page 36.

I N TUTHUKO
EQUITY FUND (PTY) LTD



Image to be replaced

Solly 

Ramalamula’s 

belief in the importance 

of safety, security and 

cleanliness, along with his hard 

work and entrepreneurial tenacity 

and TUHF’s assistance has enabled 

him to leave his former occupation as 

policeman to become the proud owner of 

seven TUHF-fi nanced properties since 2010. 

In addition, Solly owns and runs Take Shape Property 

Management, which assists property entrepreneurs in 

managing their properties.
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“Our community 

now know us 

and can see the 

work we do and 

the value we 

are adding to 

the area.”

True grit: The 
power of passion 
and perseverance 
in Berea
Inland from Durban’s bustling CBD, lies the 

suburb of Berea. With its wide, leafy roads, 

combining elements of city living with 

suburban comfort, Berea holds a huge 

amount of potential for property investors, 

however, crime and decay have this 

once-desirable suburb in need of attention. 

Dale and Lyndee Johnsen are looking to 

provide just that. Supported by TUHF 

fi nancing, Dale and Lyndee are capitalising on 

Berea’s popularity by converting two offi ce 

buildings on Clark Street into self-contained 

bachelor units. Change, even when it is for 

the better, is often a challenging process. 

Dale and Lyndee have spent the past year 

waiting on council plan approvals, facing 

issues within heritage committees, and 

engaging local communities to address 

concerns over the building conversion. 

“We faced opposition from both long-

standing community members and foreign 

nationals running businesses within the area. 

With a lot of hard work and many earnest 

conversations, we are pleased to fi nally be 

moving forward, having gained the respect of 

our community members. We understand 

that business is as much about relationships 

as it is products. Our community now knows 

us and can see the work we do and the value 

we are adding to the area,” refl ects Dale.

With these hurdles overcome, construction is 

taking place at a rapid rate. The property 

previously consisted of two buildings: 

one double storey and one single storey. 

Upon completion, both buildings will be 

two storeys high, each with multiple 

self-contained units. The fi rst building was 

fully tenanted within fi ve days of completion, 

demonstrating the demand in the area. 

The second building is still under 

construction. 

“We want to make a difference. We want 

to bring whole-scale positive change to the 

community while providing decent and 

affordable accommodation,” says Dale. 

This is exactly what they are doing. To date, 

the construction project has created more 

than 40 jobs. Dale and Lyndee see this as a 

big plus for the community.

CASE STUDY
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“It is hard to fi nd buildings to purchase, 

so when you get an opportunity you need 

to give it everything you have to make it 

work,” comments Dale. Dale and Lyndee 

have been property entrepreneurs for a 

number of years. The couple attribute their 

success to perseverance and having the right 

team, from the right fi nanciers, architects 

and building contractors, to the ideal 

property managers and rental team.

“The best part of being a property 

entrepreneur is the excitement of seeing the 

results of our hard work, seeing our vision 

become a reality, using equity and gearing to 

address the demand for accommodation,” 

says Dale. 

“TUHF has been a great partner in this 

project, is easy to work with, and is 

accommodating in its support. 

TUHF understands the business and is as 

eager as we are to make things happen.”

For Dale and Lyndee, the future looks bright 

as they continue to look for their next 

opportunity. “One property at a time, we 

will keep moving forward,” concludes Dale.

Fact!

 Berea, Durban

  Purchase and construction/
conversion fi nance  

 Offi ces 

    Multiple self-contained 
bachelor units
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Location Original confi guration Confi guration upon completionTUHF product
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“Shalean Place 

is a testament 

to the impact 

of thoughtful 

renovation in an 

area, creating 

homes with 

character for hard-

working families to 

live and play.”

Creating family 
homes in 
Bellevue East
Nestled between the old Johannesburg areas 

of Observatory and Yeoville, lies Bellevue 

East, an area characterised by older 

apartment buildings, often two to three 

stories high. It is home to a thriving 

community of families, with children 

regularly playing in the tree-lined streets.

Bellevue East is also the home to the 

building, Shalean Place. Unlike other 

buildings in the area, Shalean Place was well 

maintained and initially offered four very 

spacious two-bedroom units. The current 

owners of the building were initially attracted 

to the potential of the area, which, while not 

in the Johannesburg CBD, is centrally located 

with a high demand for affordable 

accommodation. Through the referral of 

other successful TUHF clients, the owners 

contacted TUHF to assist them to achieve 

their investment goals.

The building owners used innovative design 

to retain some of the original elements, such 

as the parquet fl ooring and high ceilings 

while creating beautiful living spaces for 

tenants. Today the building boasts four 

one-bedroom and four two-bedroom units, 

with rentals ranging from R3,200 to R4,500 

per month. Energy effi ciency was also an 

important consideration in the design. As a 

result, all units are fi tted with gas geysers 

and the outside lights have daylight sensors 

to save power. 

CASE STUDY
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To keep the building in good shape, tenants 

are carefully vetted through an external 

agency, and only reliable, high-calibre 

tenants are accepted. The building is 

meticulously maintained by both the owners 

and tenants, with a full-time cleaner and 

caretaker to assist.

Shalean Place is a testament to the impact 

of thoughtful renovation in an area, creating 

homes with character for hard-working 

families to live and play.
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Fact!

  Bellevue East, 
Johannesburg

  Purchase and 
construction fi nance  

  Four two-bedroom units of 
125m² each and four rooms 
of 12m2 each

   Four rooms of 12m² each, four 
one-bedroom units of 40m² 
each and 4 two bedroom units 
of 55m2 each

Location Original confi guration Confi guration upon completionTUHF product
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 “The owners of 

the property 

have worked 

hard to provide 

top-quality living 

spaces and high-

standard fi nishes.”

Creating retail 
and residential 
value in Durban’s 
CBD
Like most South African cities, Durban is 

characterised by a diverse mix of people, 

cultures and lifestyles, particularly in the 

heart of Durban’s CBD and its immediate 

surrounds. S Mohanlall Mansions falls 

squarely within this cultural mix as it 

overlooks the busy intersection of King 

Dinuzulu and Umbilo roads, just east of 

the city centre.

With a high demand for residential and retail 

space in this area, the owners of S Mohanlall 

Mansions sought fi nancing for the renovation 

of this building. Due to the scale of the 

project, self-funding was not an option 

and unfortunately, traditional fi nanciers 

perceived the area as high risk. Fortunately, 

the owners got in touch with TUHF, a key 

role-player in the area, and a valuable 

partnership was created.

To date, the owners have increased the 

building’s ground-fl oor offering from two to 

eight shops. The spaces were kept relatively 

small to keep the rentals affordable, under 

R4,000 per month, providing opportunities 

for community businesses to succeed. 

The expansion has added a butchery, tailor, 

driving school, dental practice, small 

restaurant, mini supermarket, hair salon 

and second-hand furniture store to the 

busy corner. The residential portion of the 

property is currently under construction, with 

a planned expansion from fi ve storeys 

containing 15 units to six storeys holding 

50 units. The residential apartments are 

self-contained bachelor units ranging in size 

from 12m2 to 30m². The tenant demographic 

is mostly made up of working individuals 

with a small percentage of students 

occupying the rest of the spaces, owing to 

the property’s close proximity to both the 

Durban University of Technology and the 

University of KwaZulu-Natal’s Howard 

College campus.

The owners of the property have worked 

hard to provide top-quality living spaces 

and high-standard fi nishes, which include 

porcelain tiles, granite tops, aluminium 

window frames and galvanised railings.

CASE STUDY
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Although crime was a concern initially, it has 

been well managed through the installation 

of better lighting around the property, as 

well  as the implementation of increased 

security measures.

The construction project is expected to 

employ 26 people, which include builders 

and skilled construction labourers such as 

plasterers, carpenters and painters. Upon 

completion of the project, S Mohanlall 

Mansions will stand proudly as a provider 

of quality accommodation and retail space 

to a signifi cant number of local 

community members.

Fact!

  Durban Central, Durban

  Construction fi nance  

  15 self-contained bachelor units 
and two retail ground fl oor units

  50 self-contained bachelor 
units and eight retail ground 
fl oor units
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Location Original confi guration Confi guration upon completionTUHF product
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“Today, however, 

the building 

stands proud 

as a testimony to 

entrepreneurial 

accomplishment.”

Spotting the 
hidden potential 
in Nelson 
Mandela Bay
A mere stone’s throw away from the Nelson 

Mandela Bay Stadium and the Transnet Port, 

sits Trafalgar Square, the newly renovated 

two-storey apartment block providing 

affordable housing to Port Elizabeth’s 

North End suburb. Striking in bright green 

and yellow, the property stands as a symbol 

of rejuvenation for Port Elizabeth’s inner city.

Spotting the opportunity to bolster their 

property business, while simultaneously 

helping to clean up the city and providing 

accommodation for city residents, 

Musa waShe Nyasha and Paballo Shai leapt 

at the chance to redevelop the building, 

despite the challenges present. Although 

Musa and Paballo had some of their own 

capital to invest input into the project, they 

needed further equity funding support.  

TUHF supported them with the senior debt 

for the property but more importantly 

TUHF’s Intuthuko Equity Fund made the 

project feasible through complementing their 

equity to make up the 20% required. This is 

their second property fi nanced by TUHF, but 

the fi rst with this scale of redevelopment. For 

many years, the building sat in a state of 

complete disrepair and informal dumping 

site across the road. The site, a mixture of 

broken furniture, old mattresses and building 

rubble, compounded the eyesore that was 

the dilapidated Trafalgar Square building.

CASE STUDY
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Today, however, the building stands proud 

as a testimony to entrepreneurial 

accomplishment. All 16 units in the building 

have been renovated from one-bedroom to 

two-bedroom apartments. The original 

wooden fl oors have been restored to their 

former glory, and the high ceilings and 

open-plan living areas provide comfortable 

accommodation for tenants. Members of the 

community have relished the new life that 

Trafalgar Square has breathed into the area 

and have noticed a drop in crime since 

its completion.

Trafalgar Square has a steady stream of 

enquiries from potential tenants and the 

owner has had to provide minimal 

advertising as existing tenants recruit their 

friends and colleagues to move into this 

well-run building.

Fact!

  North End, Port Elizabeth

   Intuthuko Equity Fund 
and purchase plus 
construction fi nance  

     16 one-bedroom units 
of 57m² each

  16 two-bedroom units of 
57m² each
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i
 For more on the Intuthuko Equity Fund, see page 28.

Location Original confi guration Confi guration upon completionTUHF product
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Image to be replaced

PERFORMANCE 
OVERVIEW

Advances 

represent the 

largest asset class 

on the Group’s balance 

sheet, and we ended the 

year under review with a 

loan book that had increased to 

R2,117 billion
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
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As we strive to create shared value, we measure our business success in holistic terms, taking into consideration both our fi nancial and 

social measures.

Statement of fi nancial position overview
The statement of fi nancial position shows the position of the Group’s assets, liabilities and equity at 31 March 2016.

Group summarised statement of fi nancial position

Change

%

2016

R

2015

R

Cash and cash equivalents 92 88,621,238 46,121,017

Money market assets 2 33,388,686 32,664,698

Advances 5 2,117,439,295 2,019,405,280

Other assets 38 58,496,625 36,387,814

Total assets 8 2,297,945,844 2,134,578,809

Financial liabilities 3 1,928,584,225 1,878,209,773

Other liabilities (10) 50,818,953 56,575,744

Total liabilities 2 1,981,483,462 1,934,785,517

Total equity capital and reserves 58 316,462,382 199,793,293

Total liabilities and reserves 8 2,297,945,844 2,134,578,809

i
 For the full statement of fi nancial position, refer to page 69 of the annual fi nancial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived solely from 

its lending activities, thus growing our loan 

book in a responsible manner is key to 

growing our revenue. As we are not a 

deposit-taking institution, and as a 

non-banking fi nancial institution, our ability 

to grow our advances is dependent on our 

ability to access debt capital at appropriate 

interest rates.

During the year, TUHF raised R280 million 

in additional funding from Futuregrowth 

Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited. 

The facility is being used over a three-year 

period and will be repaid from a note 

issuance enabling TUHF to draw on the 

facility. The R280 million warehouse facility 

will enable TUHF’s fi rst domestic medium-

term note (DMTN) issuance. The DMTN 

issuance is a key milestone for TUHF in 

implementing its strategy to access the 

capital markets directly. TUHF is currently 

working with ratings agency Global Credit 

Ratings to have the funding structure credit 

risk assessed, and it is anticipated that 

TUHF’s fi rst debt issuance will achieve 

investment grade status. The funding 

structure and endorsement from a 

reputable agency will mean that TUHF will 

shortly be in a position to raise funding 

both at the volumes we require and at more 

effective rates. 

The structure includes a 20% credit 

enhancement achieved through a 

R200 million grant facility that will be 

combined with R800 million senior debt. 

At year-end, R87,5 million of their facility 

was received and is included in total equity 

and reserves as a non-distributable reserve. 

The 92% increase in cash and cash 

equivalents during the year was mainly 

attributed to funding raised and drawn 

from funders to fund the TUHF’s lending. 

Money market assets increased by 2% 

to R33,4 million during the period under 

review. The increase in money market assets 

refl ects the slight increase in TUHF’s average 

guarantees funded.

The growth of 38% to R58,5 million in 

other assets is mainly attributed to TUHF’s 

investments in associated business 

enterprises and investment property.

Advances represent the largest asset class 

on the Group’s balance sheet, and we ended 

the year under review with a loan book 

that had increased to R2,117 billion 

(2015: R2,019 billion). The growth in 

advances is a function of our responsible 

lending processes and the Group’s success 

in accessing additional debt capital during 

the year. Record disbursements of 

R519 million and interest capitalised were 

offset by collections and prepayments of 

R380 million, resulting in a net growth 

of R100 million.

Financial liabilities increased by 3% 

to R1,928 billion. After repayments 

of R474 million, net debt capital on a 

Group basis increased by R50 million.

Other liabilities decreased by 10%. This 

was mostly attributed to the reversal of 

provisions for income tax, following the 

resolution of TUHF NPC’s tax PBO status.

The DMTN issuance
is a key milestone for 
TUHF in implementing 
its strategy to access the 
capital markets directly.
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Operational review continued

Statement of comprehensive income overview
The statement of comprehensive income refl ects the revenue generated by the Group, as well as the expenses incurred in the process of 

generating this revenue for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Group summarised statement of comprehensive income

Change

%

2016

R

2015

R

Net interest income 7 100,732,672 93,928,678

Loan impairment 1 12,790,661 12,587,833

Income from lending activities 8 87,972,012 81,340,845

Non-interest income 44 19,574,226 13,588,269

Operating income 13 107,516,237 94,929,114

Operating expenditure 41 72,120,791 51,259,121

Profi t/(loss) before taxation (19) 35,395,446 43,672,497

Taxation 62 4,759,352 12,407,365

Net profi t (2) 30,636,094 31,262,139

i
 For the full statement of comprehensive income, refer to page 70 of the annual fi nancial statements.

Net interest income increased by 7% driven mainly by net loan book growth of 5%. The net interest income represents the interest margin and 

profi t margin between the interest rate earned on advances made, and the interest rate paid on funding we receive. Benchmark lending rates, 

such as the prime interest rate in South Africa and available liquidity and perceived risk within the capital markets, are key factors that cause 

variation in the net interest margin (NIM).

Loan impairment charges of R12,8 million were incurred during the year, 1% higher than the prior year, while gross average loans and advances 

increased by 5%. This charge represents the amount provided for possible loss, and the decrease is mostly attributed to the decrease in 

amounts provided for other companies in the Group. The impairments relating to the Group’s other lending activities would depend on the 

specifi c circumstances such as the specifi c loan impairment for a bridging fi nance transactions or equity loans. 

Change

%

2016

R

2015

R

Mortgage fi nance loans 5 12,918,810 12,295,224

Bridging fi nance loans <100 (521,953) (81,843)

Low interest rate – equity loans 6 396,000 372,712

Other loans – deferred sale <100 (2,196) 1,740

Total 12,790,661 12,587,833



2016  I  TUHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT  I  41

To manage this risk, the Group implements industry-leading credit approval and loan administration processes and tracks the collection of 

instalments on a monthly basis. The key ratios that management tracks on arrears include the impaired capital ratio, loan capital relating to 

loans in arrears and impaired expressed as a percentage of the loan book and the total arrears ratio, the rand amount of arrears expressed as 

a percentage of the loan book.

Change

%

2016

%

2015

%

Total arrears 21 1,04 1,32

Capital impaired 28 6,65 9,21

Total arrears improved by 21% from 

1,32% to 1,24% of book. Impaired capital 

improved by 28% from 9,21% to 6,65% 

of book.

Arrears are monitored closely, and although 

the arrears levels remain relatively low, the 

decrease in total arrears and capital 

impaired continues to be managed. This 

decrease is due in large part to a single 

borrower that has defaulted on his entire 

portfolio, and ongoing litigation has 

resulted in the underlying projects 

being sold to recover outstanding debt. 

A conservative approach has been taken 

in providing for possible impairments.

Non-interest income increased signifi cantly 

mainly due to a fair value adjustment of 

approximately R5 million on investment 

property and bad debts recovered of 

R1,5 million. 

The growth of 41% in operating costs is 

signifi cant for the Group. Historically, 

growth in expenditure has been offset by an 

increase in revenue. During 2015 and 2016, 

TUHF’s board approved the Group’s national 

growth and expansion plans to formalise 

our national expansion programme. 2016 

continued to refl ect this growth strategy 

with additional staff, head offi ce set-up 

costs and new TUHF marketing and 

branding costs being incurred.

Looking ahead
The period ahead is set to be ground 

breaking for the Group in terms of 

implementing a funding structure in 2017 

that will enable TUHF to list R800 million in 

debt over a three-year period. Using this 

additional source of debt capital, the Group 

will, on a managed basis, implement our 

branch expansion in new markets such as 

Bloemfontein, East London and Cape Town 

and continue to expand our presence in 

Gauteng near node areas and existing 

markets like Durban and Port Elizabeth.
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We have undergone signifi cant growth 

during 2016, resulting in offi ces in two 

new cities: Bloemfontein and Cape Town. 

During 2015, a fundamental focus was to 

identify and defi ne the key competencies 

needed in each position to support our 

team members to operate successfully in 

the Group environment. This initiative was 

developed to support growing staff within 

the Group.

The approach that we adopt in terms of 

recruitment is to consider competence and 

values as part of the process. Technical 

interviews are held with candidates to 

assess their ability to meet the operational 

requirements of the jobs. The CEO also 

interviews every candidate to assess 

alignment and fi t within the Group culture 

and values. The appointment decisions are 

supported through the use of an approved 

psychometric assessment.

During 2015, our values were refreshed to 

align with the new brand positioning. 

The crafting of these values was done in 

a typical TUHF manner – with all staff 

contributing to building the values and 

the behaviours that make our people 

uniquely TUHF. 

i   

For an overview of these values, 

refer to the inside front cover of 

our integrated annual report.

In order to constantly monitor the TUHF 

employment climate, a climate litmus test 

was introduced. This process involved all 

staff assessing the extent to which the team 

is living the behaviours that were co-created 

by the team. The top-three behaviours were 

then celebrated by the team and the 

bottom three were identifi ed as areas 

of improvement. Managers then worked 

with their teams to identify ways in which 

each person could more effectively 

The specialist knowledge and experience of our people in 
spotting potential and dealing with the complexities of 
South Africa’s inner cities is one of our key differentiators. 
We actively create a culture that values the unique 
contribution of each individual, and acknowledge that 
competitive remuneration and rewards for excellence, 
engagement and commitment are key components of 
attracting and retaining staff.  

contribute to creating a climate that is 

aligned with the Group’s values and brand. 

The national expansion process required the 

development of a mentoring model and 

approach that supports newly appointed 

staff in other cities. This approach leverages 

the depth of experience and skill within the 

existing staff team. Senior staff members 

are partnered with new staff members to 

support their growth. This approach has the 

dual benefi t of supporting new staff 

members to integrate into the business, and 

providing job satisfaction to the experienced 

team members. 

The culture and complexity we require 

at TUHF is built through diverse and 

skilled staff. TUHF has always understood 

that diversity creates organisational 

strength. Our recruitment policy focuses 

on appointing the best candidate for the 

position and we have achieved sophisticated 

diversity in this way.

OUR PEOPLE

The TUHF Team in September 2015 in Maboneng, Johannesburg.
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OUR STAFF PROFILE

Performance management
The TUHF approach to performance 

management is designed to drive our 

strategy. Key indicators and objectives 

are set at a business level, through 

TUHF’s balanced scorecard, which is the 

CEO’s contract. The CEO then delegates 

and oversees the execution of these 

elements to managers who are responsible 

for implementing them in their teams. 

These are then incorporated into plans at 

a departmental level and performance 

contracts at an individual level. 

Monthly performance discussions are held 

between each staff member and his or her 

line manager. Every four months, a 

performance review is held where 

performance is rated. The ratings inform 

participation in the trimester incentive 

awards. The overall annual rating informs 

participation in the annual bonus award. 

A sense check is done at the end of the year 

to ensure that the overall rating of staff 

aligns with the overall performance of 

the Group. This organisational rating then 

determines the total annual incentive pool 

that is allocated. 
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Bloemfontein

Coloured

Cape Town

Indian

Port Elizabeth

White

Durban

Black

Johannesburg

Location (2015)

79%

9%

6%
4%2%

Location (2016)

75%

12%

4%

7%
2%

Racial profile (2016)

56%

21%

11%

12%

Racial profile (2015)

53%

27%

13%

8%

Gender profile of our staff (2016)

42%58% 

Gender profile of our staff (2015)

42%58% 

i
 For more information, see the Remuneration Report on page 60.
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The 

boards of the 

TUHF Group 

continuously strive 

to have a comprehensive 

and entrenched culture 

of good governance aimed 

at creating sustainable value for 

all stakeholders.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Governance framework
In order to manage and direct our 

operations, the boards of the Group 

continuously strive to have a comprehensive 

and entrenched culture of good governance 

aimed at creating sustainable value for 

all stakeholders. 

We operate within a clearly defi ned 

governance framework. On a continuous 

basis, through sustainable and integrated 

reporting, the governance framework of the 

Group requires that it observes the impacts 

(both positive and negative) on the 

communities that we serve. To this end, 

our concerns are related and involve 

environmental, social and other 

governance issues. In the last 13 years, we 

have had over R2 billion actively invested in 

the fi nancing and refurbishment of rental 

housing stock in South African inner cities, 

primarily in Johannesburg. Nevertheless, 

our priority involves more than generating 

positive returns for the property 

entrepreneur and investor. Our aim is to 

assist in creating balanced and stable 

communities in which many South Africans 

can live and work.

Annually reviewed and updated, our 

governance framework is concerned 

with the:

• role of respective members/shareholders;

• boards of directors – leadership 

responsibility/accountability;

• separate responsibilities of the chairman 

and chief executive offi cer;

• terms of reference of board committees 

and objectives;

• board and committee appointments, 

meetings, duties and scope of authority; 

and

• governance, risk management and the 

internal control framework.

The governance framework provides for 

delegation of authority while enabling 

the boards to retain effective control. 

The TUHF board delegates authority to 

relevant board committees and the 

group chief executives with clearly defi ned 

mandates and authorities, while preserving 

its accountability.
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“We are confi dent that as we continue to 
diversify our funding base, most notably 
through our DMTN programme and the Jobs 
Fund award of R200 million, that inner-city 
investment perceptions will continue to 
change.”
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Samson Moraba^ chairman

BCom (Unisa), Programme for Management Development (Harvard Business School)

Appointed to the board: 21 May 2003

Samson Moraba is the chief executive offi cer of the National Housing Finance Corporation (NHFC) and 

has served as a member of the licensing committee of the Financial Services Board since 2004. He currently 

serves on numerous boards, including the Cape Town Community Housing Company and Community 

Property Holdings Limited.

Samson was previously an executive director: IT at Standard Corporate Merchant Bank (SCMB), where he also 

served as a member of the business prioritisation committee. Samson has also served as a senior consultant at 

Gemini Consulting and manager within the Corporate Finance Division of JCI. Furthermore, from 2004 to 2007, 

he served as the chairman of the African Union for Housing Finance and was on the standing committee for the 

revision of the 1990s Bank Act at the South African Reserve Bank.

Cas Coovadia^ deputy chairman

BCom (University College – Durban), Housing Finance Course (Wharton Real Estate Centre, University of 

Pennsylvania) effective directors programme (Kagiso School of Leadership)

Appointed to the board: 18 January 1993

Cas Coovadia is the managing director of The Banking Association of South Africa and the deputy chairman of the 

African Union for Housing Finance. Additionally, Cas is the chairman for the National Business Initiative, president 

of the International Union for Housing Finance and chairperson of the National Business Initiative. He also serves 

as a member of council at the University of Witwatersrand.

He has played a central role in the negotiations leading to the signing of the Financial Services Charter (FSC) and 

is playing a critical role in the implementation of agreements reached in the charter.

Cas also serves on the board of the Centre for Development and Enterprise, Nepad Business Foundation, as well 

as serving on the management committee of Business Unity South Africa.

Paul Jackson^ chief executive offi cer

BSc in Agricultural Economics (University of Natal), BSc (Hons) in Agricultural Economics 

(University of Pretoria), Property Development Programme (University of Cape Town)

Appointed to the board: 21 May 2003

Paul Jackson has been TUHF’s CEO since inception in 2003 and has been involved in development fi nance 

since 1987.

Prior to his appointment as CEO at TUHF, Paul held positions as senior operations manager at the JHC, general 

manager for the Transitional National Development Trust (TNDT) and divisional manager for southern Africa at 

the Development Bank of Southern Africa. While he was at the TNDT, the company was awarded fi rst prize by the 

JSE/Deloitte & Touche for corporate governance with a special acknowledgement for excellent achievement.

Paul has held board directorships on the Mvula Trust, Alexander Social Housing Company, Brickfi elds Housing 

Company, Johannesburg Social Housing Company and Centre for Affordable Housing Finance.

Taffy Adler^ non-executive director

BPhil in African Studies, MSc in Building Science (University of the Witwatersrand)

Appointed to the board: 17 May 2013

Taffy Adler is the director of the University of the Witwatersrand’s Re-Imagining Wits Property Project. He was 

CEO of the Housing Development Agency, a national government parastatal from the agency’s inception in 2009 

to May 2015. He is also the chairman of Indluplace Properties and a director of Arrowhead Properties, both listed 

property companies, and chairman of the Apexhi and Arrowhead Charitable Trusts. He sits on the board of 

Makhulong a Matala, the tenant development arm of the Johannesburg Housing Company.

From 1976 to 1986, Taffy was a full-time offi cial in the non-racial trade union movement. In 1987 he became 

coordinator of the Labour and Economic Research Centre, and in 1991, became the founding CEO of the Land 

Investment Trust. 

Taffy has held directorships in at least 20 development-orientated companies over the last 10 years. He has 

held several appointments, including joint convener of the National Technical Committee of Housing Subsidies, 

which developed the fi rst housing subsidy scheme for a newly democratic South Africa, membership of the 

World Economic Forum’s Global Council on Urban Management, and, from 1994 to 2009, as adviser to the 

National Minister of Housing.

In 1999, Taffy was named Gauteng Housing Person of the Year by the SA Housing Institute and in 2007 he was 

named South African Social Entrepreneur of the Year. He is also a Fellow of the Schwab Foundation. He has 

lectured at the Universities of the Witwatersrand and Cape Town, and has either written or edited 19 journal 

articles and books.
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Robert Emslie* independent non-executive director

CA(SA)

Appointed to the board: 1 August 2009

Robert Emslie has more than 30 years’ experience in the fi nancial services sector and has held positions as the head of 

Absa Business Banking, Absa Africa and Absa Corporate and Business Bank. He was also a member of the Absa Group 

EXCO and during his time at Absa he was a board member of the following listed companies: Paramount,  Ambit and 

Commercial Bank of Zimbabwe.

Robert retired from his career in the banking industry in 2008 and currently serves on the boards of several 

unlisted and listed companies including SilverBridge Holdings Limited, Finbond Group Limited and New Europe 

Property Investments plc.

Mandu Mamatela^ non-executive director 

Associate Accountant Technician International Executive Development Programme (IEDP) (UK, Wits Business School), 

MBA (North-West University: Potchefstroom Campus)

Appointed to the board: 21 November 2006

Mandu Mamatela is the executive manager for corporate strategy at the NHFC. She has worked in the fi nancial services, 

motor and fuel industries and has obtained extensive experience in strategic leadership, credit risk, project fi nance and 

fi nancial management. She is also a member of the Institute of Directors South Africa.

Trustee: Housing Investment Partnership (HIP), Kurisani Trust, and NHFC Pension fund.

Jill Strelitz^ non-executive director

BA (Hons) in Sociology, MSc in Town and Regional Planning, Diploma in Financial Instruments, Executive Development 

Programme (run jointly by the University of the Witwatersrand and Harvard Business School)

Appointed to the board: 18 January 1993

Jill Strelitz is currently the executive director for the New Housing Company, a non-profi t, public benefi t organisation.

Jill has been involved in housing since 1980 when she joined the Urban Foundation, a private-sector non-profi t 

organisation. At the time of closure of the Urban Foundation in 1994, she was the executive director for housing on 

the board. During this time, Jill was honoured to receive the National Housing Person of the Year Award in 1994.

Following her time at the Urban Foundation, Jill became a senior manager in Special Projects at Anglo-American 

Property Services. She later joined the National Urban Reconstruction and Housing Agency as the executive director 

responsible for operations and, later, business development.

She also holds a non-executive director position on the board of the Johannesburg Housing Company.

^ Member of Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC, TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF Limited boards

* Member of TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF Limited boards only.

James Howard* non-executive director

BCom (Stellenbosch)

Appointed to the board: 28 August 2012

James Howard is the portfolio manager and head of development equity at Futuregrowth Asset Management (Pty) 

Ltd where he manages private equity funds that are mandated to target impact investing in southern Africa including 

agriculture, infrastructure and developmental assets. James has been involved in the investment industry since 1986 

where the last 16 years of his career were spent managing private equity and property assets. Previously he served as 

operations manager at Anglo American Corporation and investment manager at Southern Asset Management. 

Paul Magula* non-executive director

BSc (University of Venda), BSc (Med) Honours , BCom (University of Cape Town), BCom (Hons) in Financial Management 

(Unisa), MCom in Developmental Finance (University of Stellenbosch Business School)

Appointed to the board: 28 August 2012

Paul Magula holds the position of executive head: risk and compliance at Public Investment Corporation. His previous 

experience includes working at prestigious companies such as Alexander Forbes, Deloitte & Touché and Standard Bank. 
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Corporate governance report continued

Roles and 

responsibilities

• Provide effective 

leadership based on an 

ethical foundation

• Strive to balance the 

interests of the Group 

with those of its 

various stakeholders

• Ensure that 

management best 

serves shareholders’ 

and stakeholders’ 

interests

• Corporate governance 

within regulatory risk 

parameters

• The practice of sound

governance

Executive committee 

(EXCO)

Members: PGN Jackson (CEO), B Cooke (loan administration manager), SK Govender (KwaZulu-Natal regional manager), 

HL Makwela (senior loan offi cer), IL Roodt (chief fi nancial offi cer), K Chikomo (Eastern Cape regional manager), 

LN Netshitenzhe (development impact unit manager), R Valloo (mortgage manager: Gauteng), 

SV Webb (mortgage manager: regions)

By invitation: S Blaine (human resources consultant)

Members: IL Roodt (committee chairperson and Group fi nancial manager), B Cooke (loan administration manager), 

K Chikomo (Eastern Cape regional manager), SK Govender (KwaZulu-Natal regional manager), PGN Jackson (CEO), 

R Valloo (mortgage manager: Gauteng), SV Webb (mortgage manager: regions)

Members: PGN Jackson (committee chairperson and CEO), B Cooke (loan administration manager), IL Roodt (chief fi nancial offi cer), 

LN Netshitenzhe (development impact unit manager), K Chikomo (Eastern Cape regional manager), SK Govender (KwaZulu-Natal 

regional manager), R Valloo (mortgage manager: Gauteng), SV Webb (mortgage manager: regions)

By invitation: BN Mgqibi, BK Nkotswe, HL Makwela, JC Armer, J Labuschagne, LM Dotwana, MA Maredi, TVQ Moleko, P Nel, 

T Nakedi, SM Yusuf, MP Nyoni (liaison offi cer)

Risk management 

committee

Management committee 

(MANCO)

Board sub-committees Management committees

TUHF governance structure

Audit and risk 

committee

Members: C Coovadia (committee chairman and board member), 

SS Moraba (chairman), RR Emslie (board member), JK Mamatela 

(board member)

By invitation: PGN Jackson (CEO), IL Roodt (chief fi nancial offi cer)

Members: PGN Jackson (committee chairman), TM Adler (board 

member), RR Emslie (board member), JK Mamatela (board member)

By invitation: (refer to MANCO members)

Loan committee

Members: SS Moraba (committee chairman and Group chairman), 

C Coovadia (board member), RR Emslie (board member)

By invitation: PGN Jackson (CEO), IL Roodt (chief fi nancial offi cer), 

S Blaine (human resources consultant)

Remuneration  and 

human resource 

committee (REMCO)

Members: JS Strelitz (committee chairman and board member), 

P Magula (board member), PGN Jackson (CEO), IL Roodt 

(prescribed offi cer)

By invitation: S Blaine (human resources consultant)

Social and ethics 

committee

Members: RR Emslie (committee chairman), C Coovadia, 

PGN Jackson (CEO), JK Mamatela (board member)

By invitation: IL Roodt (chief fi nancial offi cer), 

LN Netshitenzhe (development impact unit manager)

Jobs fund committee

“Board members” refers to members of the TUHF Limited board.
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Roles and responsibilities

• review risk management policy and processes;
• ensure risk management is integrated into business operations;
• ensure management considers and implements appropriate risk responses;
• evaluate the basis and adequacy of insurance cover;
• ensure internal audit is aligned with risk management processes;
• identify emerging areas of risk;
• ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and governance codes, including King III; and
• identify areas of governance non-compliance and propose remedial action.

Roles and responsibilities

• approve fi nancing and guarantees of projects with a value of less than R10 million on a weekly basis; and
• recommend projects of a value exceeding R10 million to the loan committee.

Roles and responsibilities

• review Group accounting policies and practices and, when necessary, recommend changes;
• review Group fi nancial, operational and internal control systems and, when required, make recommendations to the board;
• monitor management’s compliance with reporting best practice; 
• oversee reporting by internal and external auditors;
• review, approve and recommend to the boards the audited fi nancial statements and integrated annual report; and 
• liaise with the social and ethics committee on ethical matters.

Roles and responsibilities

• monitor the Group’s activities with regard to legislation, best practice, social and economic development, good corporate citizenship, environment, health, public 
safety and stakeholders’ perceptions as well as labour and employment;

• liaise with the audit and risk committee on ethical matters; and
• report to the board and to shareholders on any matters within its mandate.

Roles and responsibilities

• set up for a specifi c project and will provide an oversight role and act as a sounding board to TUHF’s CEO and management in respect of the National Treasury’s Jobs 
Fund grant; and

• is set up for the duration of the grant, which is estimated to be at least 36 months plus an additional 12-month monitoring period.

Roles and responsibilities

• identify and manage the Group’s credit exposure as well as trends and responses affecting this exposure;
• review and recommend changes to the Group’s credit and loan policy, including the adequacy of allowances for credit losses;
• delegate to the MANCO the authority to evaluate and approve fi nancing and guarantees of projects within the established value band 

(below R10 million);
• evaluate and approve fi nancing and guarantees of projects within the established value band (above R10 million) delegated to the committee by the board; and
• report approved projects to the board.

Roles and responsibilities

• support the attraction, development and retention of employees with specialised and critical skills that contribute to sustained business growth;
• review employee earnings, including benefi ts, to maintain best practice and ensure competitive remuneration packages;
• review, recommend and approve, on an individual basis, executive remuneration packages;
• approve recommendations of the issue and for the vesting of awards of the Conditional Share Plan;
• review, recommend and approve salary and performance increments; 
• review and recommend annual incentive bonuses; and
• review, recommend and approve human resource policies and procedures.

Roles and responsibilities

The board has delegated the management of TUHF to the CEO and the other members of the EXCO. The CEO and, under his direction, the other members of EXCO, 
are responsible for the overall direction of the Group and the management of the business at a strategic level. Weekly meetings are scheduled to:

• assess and discuss key strategic business issues, including liquidity and stakeholder relationships;
• review the Group’s balanced scorecard and implementation of strategic issues;
• discuss progress on projects identifi ed as high risk, including litigation matters;
• assess all operational aspects of projects, fi nancing, development and implementation, including procedures for project preparation and approval;
• discuss any staff matters relevant to existing or new staff required; and
• discuss views and perceptions with funders and shareholders.
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Application of and 

compliance with King III
We are committed to good corporate 

governance. We believe that good corporate 

governance not only protects, but also adds 

value to the Group and its stakeholders. 

We are committed to operating in an ethical 

and transparent manner and are resolute 

about staying accountable to 

our stakeholders.

Corporate governance is a dynamic process 

and therefore evolves over time and as 

growth, regulatory requirements and the 

strategic purpose of the Group evolve. 

There remains a commitment by the boards 

of TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF 

Limited to implement an effective 

governance framework that will support 

our growth. 

King III, together with the Companies. Act, 

No. 71 of 2008, are the primary corporate 

governance frameworks in South Africa. 

We believe that in order to create a truly 

sustainable organisation, one that builds 

cooperative relationships with stakeholders 

and maintains strong governance, the 

application of the King III principles 

is essential. In December 2015, TUHF 

was admitted to the Johannesburg Stock 

Exchange’s (JSE) debt securities listing in 

respect of its domestic medium-term note 

(DMTN) programme and in doing so 

declared that it adhered to the King III Code 

of Corporate Governance. The boards of 

TUHF Holdings and TUHF believe that the 

75 corporate governance principles 

prescribed by the JSE Listing Requirements 

should be used as a benchmark to measure 

our corporate governance practices. 

We embrace the relevant principles of 

King III in keeping with our commitment to 

good governance and broader stakeholder 

interests. On the release of King IV, TUHF 

will align those governance requirements 

with its current governance structures.

The boards accept the responsibility of 

ensuring that the King III principles are 

considered and applied, and is satisfi ed that 

every effort has been made to comply in all 

material aspects with these principles. 

Where the Group does not comply, this is 

stated below and explained. 

Corporate governance report continued

King III principle Principle TUHF explanation

2.16 paragraph 38 The chairman of the board should be a 

non-executive and independent director.

The chairman is non-executive but not independent. 

See explanation alongside.

2.18 paragraphs 64, 65 and 66 The board should comprise a majority of 

non-executive directors, the majority of whom 

should be independent, independent in fact and in 

perception of a reasonably informed outsider and 

should be independent in character and judgement.

The majority of the directors are non-executives, 

with only one being independent. 

See explanation alongside.

2.18 paragraph 73 A minimum of two executive directors should be 

appointed, the CEO and a director responsible for 

the fi nance function.

A director responsible for the fi nance function has 

not been appointed, and this is being addressed. 

The directors of the two public companies and 

the audit and risk committee are satisfi ed that 

the chief fi nancial offi cer, Ms IL Roodt, has the 

necessary expertise and experience to carry out 

the responsibilities required of a fi nancial director.

2.18 paragraphs 74 and 75 At least one-third of non-executive directors 

should retire by rotation yearly at the annual 

general meeting (AGM). Those retiring may be 

re-elected provided they are eligible.

The audit and risk committee, together with 

the social and ethics committee, will review 

this  requirement and recommend whether the 

memorandum of incorporation (MOI) should be 

amended to accommodate this principle or not.

2.18 paragraph 77 Any term beyond nine years (three three-year 

terms) for an independent non-executive director 

should be subject to a rigorous review by the 

board of the performance and independence of 

the director.

The audit and risk and social and ethics committees 

will be asked to recommend that the MOI be 

amended to accommodate this principle if it is 

agreed that the rotation of directors should be 

introduced.

3.1 paragraph 3 Shareholders of a public company must elect the 

members of the audit committee at the AGM.

TUHF Holdings and TUHF only became public 

companies in December 2015. This principle will be 

applied at the forthcoming AGM.

3.2 paragraphs 9 and 10 All members of the audit committee of a public 

company must consist of at least three independent 

non-executive directors.

TUHF Holdings and TUHF do not have the requisite 

number of independent non-executive directors to 

fulfi l this principle. See explanation alongside.

3.3 paragraph 18 The audit committee should be chaired by an 

independent non-executive director.

The audit committee is chaired by a non-executive 

director, who, although not independent, has the 

necessary experience and ability to lead the audit 

committee effectively and effi ciently.
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Explanation – non-compliance
To achieve good governance, a board must 

ensure that there is effective leadership. 

With the view of achieving sustainable 

economic, social and environmental 

performance, good governance requires 

the ethical values of responsibility, 

accountability, fairness, and transparency. 

TUHF Holdings consists of a small group 

of strategic shareholders who share the 

ambition of achieving very specifi c 

commercial and developmental impact 

objectives within a defi ned market niche. 

These shareholders, being signifi cant 

providers of debt capital, have the added 

responsibility to ensure that the 

non-executive directors exercise their duties 

with care, skill and in the best interests of 

the Group. Therefore, although the boards 

of TUHF Holdings and TUHF do not have 

the requisite number of independent 

non-executive directors, the shareholders 

are of the opinion that the boards, as 

presently structured, provide effective 

leadership, as described above. 

Prior to the restructuring of the Group 

into its present confi guration in 2009, 

all business operations were carried out 

by TUHF NPC. Six of the seven current 

non-executive directors, one of whom is the 

chairman, were and still are members and 

directors of TUHF NPC. These directors have 

the institutional memory, experience, skills 

and leadership needed to carry out 

the TUHF Group’s unique business model. 

Their abilities, however, are also still 

required to lead TUHF NPC in achieving its 

core purpose of providing equity funding to 

enable previously disadvantaged individuals 

to access the property market. To require 

these non-executive directors to resign as 

members and directors of TUHF NPC is, 

therefore, not at present in the interests of 

the Group’s strategic ambitions.

The shareholders acknowledge, as growth, 

regulatory requirements and the strategic 

purpose of the Group evolve and its 

operational areas expand, the board 

numbers will need to increase and suitable, 

qualifi ed independent non-executive 

directors will be identifi ed and appointed.

TUHF’s governance structures are reviewed 

on an ongoing basis and updated when 

enhancements to the governing practices 

are required to ensure adherence to 

governance trends.

Boards of directors
The boards provide effective leadership 

based on an ethical foundation, striving 

to balance the interests of the Group 

with those of its various stakeholders. 

Ultimately responsible for corporate 

governance within regulatory risk 

parameters, the boards ensure that sound 

governance is practised, as this benefi ts 

long-term equity performance and 

enhances shareholder value.

A minimum of six meetings are scheduled 

per year (with additional ad hoc meetings 

as required). Key roles of the boards include:

• the approval of strategic plans;

• monitoring management’s 

implementation of strategic plans;

• delegation of powers and duties to 

management; and

• establishment of policies and processes 

to ensure the integrity of management 

and related internal controls.

Composition of the boards
The board of TUHF NPC consists of 

six directors, including one executive 

director. The boards of the public registered 

companies, TUHF Holdings Limited and 

TUHF Limited, comprise nine directors, one 

of whom is the executive director. All the 

directors of TUHF Holdings’ board also serve 

on the board of TUHF. These two publicly 

registered companies’ boards serve as an 

integrated unit with the same chairman and 

chief executive. TUHF NPC also has the 

same chairman and chief executive offi cer.

There is no fi xed-term service contract in 

place for the chief executive offi cer, and his 

tenure is subject to the normal terms and 

conditions that prevail in an employer/

employee framework. In terms of TUHF 

NPC, one-third of the non-executive 

directors retires by rotation at each annual 

general meeting. Directors who retire may, 

if eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

Each non-executive director of TUHF 

Holdings and TUHF serve for an indefi nite 

period and accordingly will only cease to 

be a director under the circumstances as 

provided for in the Companies Act or 

the MOI.

Other than the single executive director 

who sits on the boards of the three 

companies dealt with here, all are non-

executives, one of whom is an independent 

non-executive. The explanation for not 

applying the King III principle is given on 

this page under the heading “Explanation – 

non-compliance”.

Notwithstanding that the shareholding 

structure of the Group fl ows from TUHF 

NPC to TUHF Holdings to TUHF/TUHF 

Bridge (Proprietary) Limited/TUHF MBS 

(Proprietary) Limited (see Group structure 

on page 11), the focal point of the Group’s 

corporate governance is centred around 

TUHF Limited. This company is pivotal in 

determining the Group’s vision, values, 

purpose and strategies. All directors’ 

meetings are initiated by TUHF Limited 

with business relating to other Group 

companies being dealt with concurrently 

with its agenda. This prevents duplication 

of effort and optimises the fl ow of 

information, enhancing the productivity and 

effi ciency of the boards. In addition, as the 

board of TUHF Limited comprises the same 

directors of TUHF Holdings, all shareholders 

in the Group are represented.

As TUHF Limited is considered by 

shareholders and directors as the focal point 

of the Group’s governance, TUHF Limited 

has entered into management agreements 

with TUHF NPC, TUHF Holdings Limited, 

TUHF Bridge (Proprietary) Limited, and 

TUHF MBS (Proprietary) Limited in terms 

of which TUHF Limited will provide 

management and administrative services 

necessary, incidental and ancillary, to satisfy 

the ongoing commercially reasonable 

requirements of each of the companies 

concerned. This includes, but is not limited 

to, secretarial services, accounting services, 

banking services, administrative services, 

corporate governance services, social and 

ethics management, strategy planning and 

reporting services, as well as statutory 

reporting services.

The boards of these companies have agreed 

to delegate the corporate governance 

functions, decisions, and applications to the 

board of TUHF Limited. The directors of 

TUHF Limited will, however, be subject to 

instructions from the respective boards and 

the respective MOIs, and will be required to 

safeguard, at all times, the interests of TUHF 

NPC, TUHF Holdings and TUHF Bridge 

(Proprietary) Limited and TUHF MBS 

(Proprietary) Limited when implementing 

the obligations and duties set out in the 

management agreements.

The board of TUHF Limited will, therefore, 

respect the fi duciary duties of the boards of 

TUHF NPC, TUHF Holdings Limited, TUHF 

Bridge (Proprietary) Limited and TUHF MBS 

(Proprietary) Limited.

The implementation and adoption of 

policies, processes and procedures of TUHF 

Limited will be considered and approved by 

the boards of the signatory companies to 

the management agreements.
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A formally documented and approved board 

charter outlines the scope of authority, 

responsibilities, powers and functioning of 

the TUHF Limited board. This charter is 

reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that 

it remains relevant and in line with 

governance best practice.

The governance framework sets out the 

operating principles for dealing with 

confl ict of interests.

The procedures of the appointments and 

induction of new directors are detailed 

in the governance framework and 

board charter. 

The role, function and powers of a board, 

its members, shareholders and committees, 

and its relationship with direct and indirect 

subsidiaries, are determined by law, the 

MOI, third-party agreements, governance 

regulations and best practices guidelines 

and policies, including resolutions of the 

board and shareholders/members, all of 

which are related to the decision making 

power or control of a company.

The TUHF Limited board has unrestricted 

access to all the Group’s information, 

records, documents, management and staff.

The Group’s boards are assisted by a 

competent, suitably qualifi ed and 

experienced company secretary who is 

required to provide practical support 

and guidance to directors.

Regarding management agreements already 

referred to, TUHF Limited will:

• be subject to instruction from the board 

of the company referred to; 

• be subject to the MOI of the company 

referred to; 

• be subject to the board of the company 

referred to;

• remain responsible for the overall 

direction and control of that company;

• be entitled to impose and implement any 

and all decisions;

• take any and all actions;

• sign any and all documents; and

• provide any and all management services, 

including those incidental to the business 

of the company referred to.

Accordingly, fulfi lling its role as the focal 

point of corporate governance, the TUHF 

Limited board (where applicable) and 

management undertake the role and 

function of ensuring that the businesses of 

the Group are run effectively and effi ciently 

so as to achieve sustainable prosperity for 

members, shareholders, and 

all stakeholders.

The roles, functions, and responsibilities 

of the TUHF Limited board can be 

summarised as follows:

• The Group’s objectives, strategy, 

short-term and medium-term plans and 

the monitoring of actual performance 

against budgeted and operational results

• Annual fi nancial statements, 

management accounts, interim reports, 

dividends, fi nancial matters 

and covenants

• Approval of the annual strategic and 

business plans

• The Group’s risk appetite, funding 

requirements and liquidity status

• Delegation of authority to the CEO

• Board committee mandates, authorities 

and mandates and review annually

• The Group’s policies

• External reports and ensuring appropriate 

action taken to resolve issues 

satisfactorily

• Effective risk-based internal audit and the 

strategy to mitigate the assessed risks are 

suitable and cost-effective

• Corporate governance philosophy and 

continuing governance compliance

• Law and regulation compliance

• Stakeholder communication

• Performance evaluations.

Separation of roles of chairman 

and chief executive offi cer (CEO)
The roles of chairman and Group CEO 

continue to be substantively different 

and separated, as detailed hereafter.

Chairman
TUHF Holdings’ and TUHF Limited’s boards 

are led by Samson Moraba, assisted by 

Cas Coovadia as deputy chairman. 

Neither of them are classifi ed as 

independent non-executive directors 

as recommended by King III.

As mentioned on page 51, Samson Moraba 

and Cas Coovadia are two of the six 

directors who are members and directors 

of TUHF NPC.

The chairman’s role and functions are 

formalised and include:

• presiding over board meetings, annual 

general meetings and general meetings, 

and ensuring all meetings are run 

effi ciently and time is used productively;

• ensuring that all directors are given the 

opportunity to express their views before 

any important decision is taken so that 

optimal board decision making and 

governance prevail;

• ensuring that complete, timely, relevant, 

accurate and accessible information is 

placed before the board in order that 

informed decisions are made by directors;

• managing confl icts of interest;

• establishing a constructive working 

relationship with, and providing support 

for the CEO, being available between 

board meetings to provide counsel 

and advice;

• ensuring that the boards delegate 

suffi cient authority to the board 

committees, the CEO, and others to 

enable the businesses of the TUHF 

Group to be carried out effectively 

between meetings of the boards;

• ensuring that the boards monitor their 

delegated authorities and that these are 

not abused;

• building and maintaining the trust and 

confi dence of shareholders in the Group;

• safeguarding good relations with the 

Group’s stakeholders;

• ensuring that decisions by the boards 

are executed;

• making certain that the boards receive 

professional advice when needed;
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• representing the relevant Group company 

on occasion;

• taking decisions on matters delegated to 

the chairperson with the advice of the 

CEO and, where necessary, with 

other directors;

• reviewing the composition of the boards 

and the skills of individual directors, how 

they interact at meetings and ensuring 

that directors are made aware of their 

responsibilities; and

• overseeing the formal succession plans 

for the boards and CEO.

Chief executive offi cer 
The CEO is an executive director of the 

companies in the Group, providing executive 

leadership. He is accountable to all the 

boards of the Group for the implementation 

of the strategies, objectives and decisions 

of the boards within a framework of the 

delegated authorities, values and policies of 

the applicable Group company. The CEO 

plays a critical role in the day-to-day 

business of the TUHF Group.

In terms of the board charter approved by 

the Group boards, all the authority of the 

boards is delegated to the CEO with the 

exception of approval of:

• debt fi nancing exceeding that delegated 

to the management committee;

• fi nancing and guarantees of projects 

above the established value bands as 

determined by the boards;

• the annual revision of salaries;

• personnel regulations and conditions of 

service, as well as amendments to these;

• the strategic and business plans;

• annual budgets, including 

capital budgets;

• operating expenditure and unbudgeted 

expenditure exceeding R500,000; 

• amendments to decisions and 

agreements with respect to loans that 

will result in an increased commitment 

for TUHF of more than R2 million or 25% 

of the original commitment, whichever is 

the greater;

• an investment strategy and investment 

limits, applicable to surplus funds being 

invested at fi nancial institutions other 

than the recognised top-four banking 

institutions in South Africa;

• write-offs of non-performing loans 

exceeding R1 million;

• the acquisition and disposal of 

immovable property and assets 

exceeding R2 million; and

• the integrated annual report and audited 

fi nancial statements.

Additionally, the authority of the CEO is 

limited in the:

• appointment and removal of the auditors;

• regulation of the meeting agenda, reports 

required and discussion topics of 

meetings of the directors;

• act of being the chief spokesperson 

for the TUHF Group, unless such 

responsibility is delegated for a specifi c 

event; and

• special protected matters as set out 

in clause 43 of TUHF Holdings 

Limited’s MOI.

Regarding clause 43 of TUHF Holdings’ 

MOI, there are a number of protected 

matters that TUHF Holdings Limited and 

subsidiaries will not engage in, agree to, 

perform or undertake unless directors 

representing shareholders who hold at least 

75% of the issued share capital have agreed 

to in writing.

“Where some view our business as a 
philanthropic entity, our success and that 
of our clients proves otherwise.”
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Company secretary
The company secretary plays a pivotal role 

in the management of meetings and the 

implementation of governance procedures. 

The TUHF Limited board is satisfi ed with the 

qualifi cation, competence, and expertise of 

the company secretary.

The company secretary is not a director of 

any of the main operating companies in 

the Group.

It is important that the company secretary 

maintains an arm’s-length relationship with 

the boards as far as reasonably possible. 

The company secretary is empowered by 

the boards to perform all delegated duties 

and is accountable to the boards to:

• maintain statutory records in accordance 

with legal requirements;

• ensure that the governance framework, 

board of directors’ charters and terms of 

reference of the TUHF Limited board 

committees are kept up to date;

• ensure that board procedures are 

followed and reviewed on a regular basis;

• ensure that the board affairs are 

conducted in terms of the rules and 

regulations as determined by statutory 

requirements and shareholders and/or 

board resolutions;

• inform the boards as a whole and 

individual directors of their 

responsibilities as board members, and 

support the directors and the boards in 

the discharge of their responsibilities;

• keep abreast of, and inform, the boards of 

current governance thinking and practice;

• keep the boards and committees 

informed of legal and regulatory matters 

including legal frameworks, processes, 

regulatory fi ling and public disclosures 

related to the Group business;

• prepare and circulate board and board 

committee agendas, documents 

and minutes;

• certify in the annual fi nancial statements 

that the companies have submitted the 

required returns and notices in terms of 

the Companies Act and, where necessary, 

carry out the functions of submitting 

such returns and notices;

• ensure that a copy of the annual fi nancial 

statements is sent to every person 

entitled to receive it; and

• assist, where required, in obtaining board 

and committee members’ viewpoints on 

agenda items for board and 

committee meetings.

During the year, Ms Ilona Roodt was 

company secretary but resigned on 

7 March 2016 when Kilgetty Statutory 

Services (Proprietary) Limited was 

appointed to replace her. This appointment 

was made to strengthen the requirement 

that the company secretary maintains an 

arm’s-length relationship with the boards. 

The company secretary is independent, 

ensuring all responsibilities are carried 

out fairly without undue infl uence by 

the boards. The company secretary will 

ensure that corporate governance is in 

place and the boards are advised of laws, 

procedures and best practice. The company 

secretary is appointed by and is accountable 

to the TUHF board.

“Over the years, we have become more bullish 
in our efforts to incorporate environmental 
aspects in our fi nancing assessments; to 
mitigate the affordability impact inherent in 
rising administered prices.”



Image to be replaced
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units.  Here the natural light is 

further utilised for a washing yard.
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Board committees
In terms of the MOI and the management agreements referred to, the TUHF board has the power to appoint board committees and to delegate 

to those committees certain functions to assist it in discharging its duties properly. The creation of a committee, however, does not absolve 

the board of its overall responsibility. Furthermore, the board’s decision (by majority vote) will override any recommendations made by 

a committee.

Each committee has a clear terms-of-reference document approved by the board, which sets out its purpose and functions and the 

authority delegated to it by the board. The board receives written or verbal reports from each committee on its activities and minutes of 

committee meetings. The board, with the assistance of the audit and risk and the social and ethics committees, annually review the activities 

and functions of the committees reporting to the board. If agreed by the board, an executive director may be the chairperson of a committee.

Meeting attendance

Board members are required to make an annual declaration of interests that could be considered a confl ict of interest as well as signing a 

declaration of a confl ict of interest in respect of any item on the board or committee agenda.

Committee 

members Board
Loan 

committee*

Audit and
 risk

 committee
Remuneration

committee

Social and
 ethics

 committee
Jobs fund

 committee
Shareholders’ 

AGM

Number of 

meetings held

5 3 3 2 1 3 1

Samson Moraba 

(chairman)

5 3 3 2 1 3 1

Cas Coovadia 

(deputy chairman)

3 2 3 1 N/A 3 1

Paul Jackson 

(CEO)

5 3 3 2 1 3 1

Taffy Adler 4 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Robert Emslie 5 3 3 2 N/A 3 1

Mandu Mamatela 4 1 2 N/A N/A N/A 1

Jill Strelitz 5 N/A N/A N/A 1 N/A 1

James Howard 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1

Paul Magula 4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1

N/A: Not applicable as not a member of this committee.

*  The meetings of this committee are only physically held when large loan applications are to be considered. All other evaluations and approvals are done on a formal round robin.
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Loan committees
For the roles and responsibilities of the loan 

committee see page 49. 

Management committee
For the roles and responsibilities of the 

management committee see page 49.

Executive committee
For the roles and responsibilities of the 

executive committee see page 49.

Audit and risk management 

committee 
The audit and risk committee report is set 

out on page 58.

Remuneration and human 

resources (HR) committee
The remuneration and HR committee report 

is set out on page 60.

Social and ethics committee
As TUHF has a public interest score of more 

than 500 points in any two of the preceding 

fi ve years, it must appoint a social and 

ethics committee. The committee is 

therefore a statutory as well as a 

board committee. 

Ethical leadership and corporate 

responsibilities are fundamental to the 

Group’s values. Ethical practice is therefore 

a part of the system of governance within 

the Group. The Group’s reputation and 

brand are affected by what the boards, 

management and employees do every day.

The social and ethics committee is involved 

in ensuring that the necessary processes 

and procedures are in place in order to 

be compliant with ethical leadership, 

corporate sponsorship and best practice. 

The committee met once during the year.

The committee will monitor the Group with 

regard to any relevant legislation, legal 

requirements or prevailing codes of best 

practice that concern social, economic, 

governance, employment and 

environmental activities.

A work plan is being put into place that will 

focus on 10 areas, namely:

• shareholders – rights, roles, 

and treatment;

• stakeholders – rights, roles, and 

treatment involved in the marketplace, 

workplace, social environment and 

natural environment;

• sustainability report;

• corporate citizenship being part of a 

commitment to integrate a corporate 

social responsibility strategy with the 

overall business strategy;

• ethics, risks and opportunities;

• strategy encompassing non-fi nancial 

strategic matters;

• human rights and labour;

• anti-corruption;

• social and environmental 

assessments; and

• regulatory compliance.

Other board committees
The job fund committee is required to 

oversee that all the terms and conditions 

of the R200 million grant by Treasury are 

adhered to and achieved.

The assets and liabilities committee’s terms 

of reference are in the process of being 

approved. The purpose and objectives of this 

committee will be:

• treasury risk management;

• asset and liability management;

• interest rate risk and hedging activities;

• treasury credit risk;

• funding;

• liquidity; and

• net interest margin and profi t 

performance.

Risk management
Effective risk management is key to the 

success of the Group. Effective execution of 

our business strategy depends on the ability 

to take calculated risks without 

compromising stakeholders’ interests. 

The role of the risk management committee 

is to identify, assess, measure and manage 

those risks that arise as a result of our 

business activities. We are mindful of the 

need to strike a healthy balance between 

performance and maintaining acceptable 

risk levels.

The Group’s governance framework provides 

the framework through which risk is 

managed. This risk framework must ensure 

that effective and ongoing risk assessments 

are performed and processes are in place 

to anticipate unpredictable risks, having 

oversight of fi nancial reporting risks, and 

internal fi nancial control risks, IT risks, and 

business risks including money laundering 

and compliance with industry codes, 

controls and regulatory requirements. 

TUHF is ultimately responsible for risk 

management in the Group and is supported 

by the audit and risk committee as well as 

the risk management sub-committee. 

TUHF must ensure that a risk awareness 

culture is implemented in the Group, 

ensuring that effective and continual 

monitoring takes place and internal controls 

to mitigate the risks are established.

Although the committee is accountable to 

the boards, each employee is responsible for 

risk management. While risks are managed 

as a part of our daily operations, on a 

quarterly basis the risk register is updated 

and submitted to the audit and risk 

committee for review and submission to the 

TUHF board with comments and proposed 

recommendations.

IT governance
TUHF has developed an industry-leading, 

bespoke Loan Cycle Management System 

(LCMS) and accounts receivable module.

The LCMS is data driven, makes extensive 

use of workfl ows to manage processes, and 

includes default management and portfolio 

management capabilities. Reporting has 

improved signifi cantly with management 

striving for real-time fi nancial reporting.

Development of the system is ongoing and 

improvements are introduced to meet any 

new requirements, optimise system 

processes and other enhancements while 

ensuring the necessary controls are in place 

and compliance maintained.

The system ensures information is readily 

available, so that the Group continues 

to meet reporting and governance 

requirements, and enhances its 

product offering. Accountable and 

principled business practices throughout 

the Group promote the ethical behaviour 

and quick decision making of the boards, 

managers and employees.
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The audit and risk committee 

(the committee) is pleased to present its 

report to the members of the Trust for 

Urban Housing Finance NPC and the 

shareholders of TUHF Holdings Limited 

and TUHF Limited as required in terms of 

section 94(7) of the Companies Act No. 71 

of 2008.

Membership
The committee comprises the following 

members*:

• Cas Coovadia (chairman);

• Robert Emslie;

• Mandu Mamatela; and

• Samson Moraba.

The committee has the fi nancial and 

commercial expertise and experience 

to properly execute its duties and 

responsibilities. The CEO, CFO, senior 

management and representatives from the 

external and internal auditors attend all 

meetings by invitation. Both external and 

internal auditors present formal reports 

to the committee.

The committee’s duties and responsibilities 

are set out in the audit and risk charter, as 

well as in the Companies Act No. 71 of 

2008. The committee has regulated its 

affairs in compliance with this charter. The 

committee assists the Group’s boards in 

discharging their fi duciary and corporate 

governance responsibilities in relation to:

• the safeguarding of assets;

• the operation of adequate systems and 

controls, including business rescue plans;

• the adequacy and effectiveness of 

fi nancial, audit, compliance and 

IT-related matters;

• preparation of statutory fi nancial 

reporting and statements;

• preparation of sustainability 

information; and

• prioritising and ranking risks facing the 

Group and understanding their causes 

and consequences.

A risk management committee, chaired 

by the CFO and comprising senior 

management, has been established to 

assist the committee in its governance 

of risk management.

During the year under review, the 

committee held three meetings.

Functions of the committee
The committee examined the following 

matters during the fi nancial year:

• The reports of the external auditors for 

the 2015 fi nancial year-end, discussed in 

July 2015, which dealt with the few 

matters of non-compliance of the 

Group’s accounting policies, 

benchmarking analysis of the TUHF 

Default Loan Workout and the National 

Credit Act compliance. Summarised 

below are some of the matters drawn to 

the committee’s attention:

 –  Tracking of historical data and back 

testing in order to improve the 

impairment methodology going 

forward, particularly for the probability 

of default across the various 

risk categories

 –  Apparent inconsistency in collateral 

valuations due to the fact that 

information had not been captured 

appropriately on the Mortgage 

Accounts Receivable Module system

 –  The IT system applications used do not 

automatically log all changes to 

program source code or program logic, 

resulting in the change control process 

not being verifi ed

 –  Audit logging was not re-enacted for 

the LCMS on an operating system or 

database level since building the fi le in 

2014. This could result in the risk of 

unauthorised activities on the 

operating system or database not 

being detected in a timely manner

• Regarding National Credit Act 

compliance, there was no formal 

in duplum limit monitoring controls in 

place, but for areas tested, no signifi cant 

issues of non-compliance were found

• Monthly management accounts and loan 

book analyses, quarterly funders’ reports 

for key stakeholders, the annual fi nancial 

statements, accounting policies and the 

integrated annual report

• The development of a compliance policy 

specifying the Group’s commitment to 

comply with regulatory requirements and 

King III principles, including an approach 

to manage compliance risk

• The reports of the internal audit functions 

on the state of the Group’s internal 

fi nancial controls, King III self-

assessment, IT disaster recovery 

assurance and the IT general 

control review

• The objectives of the Protection of 

Personal Information Act (POPI Act)

• Compliance and a readiness assessment 

to identify the impact areas and critical 

gaps across the Group that should be 

addressed to achieve an adequate level 

of readiness to comply once the POPI Act 

is enacted

• The review of the external auditor’s 2016 

audit plan

• The review of the internal audit plan for 

2017, which will cover liquidity risk 

management, market risk management, 

credit risk management, portfolio 

management and internal fi nancial 

control review

• Reviewing this integrated annual 

report and recommending it to the 

board for approval

• Reports on the risk management process 

in the Group and its exposure to the 

following risks:

 –  Liquidity and progress in the Jobs Fund 

programme and the DMTN 

programme, as well as negotiations 

with current and potential new funders

 –  Credit and a continuous assessment 

that key ratios remain within the 

dashboard indicators and 

funder covenants

 –  Market and the effect of negative 

macro-economic developments and 

the necessity of monitoring these 

effects as the outcome becomes 

more certain

 –  Compliance and the development of a 

compliance work plan that will set out 

the range of risks that the Group could 

be subject to for not complying with 

legislation identifi ed under the 

regulatory universe review

 –  Exposure to technological, operational, 

and political risks was reviewed

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

* None of the committee members are independent non-executive directors other than Robert Emslie – please see the corporate governance report for an explanation regarding 

this governance principle.
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In discharging its responsibilities during the 

year under review, the committee has not 

found or become aware of any material 

failures, irregularities or misstatements 

affecting the Group’s internal controls, 

structures, and systems. This includes 

fi nancial controls, accounting policies and 

controls, and reporting, incorporating the 

maintenance and improvement of 

accounting and control systems.

Independence of the 

external auditor
The committee is satisfi ed with the quality, 

effectiveness, independence and objectivity 

of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the 

external auditors and Stefan Beyers as the 

designated auditor.

The committee has approved 

PricewaterhouseCoopers’ terms of 

engagement and, in addition, has approved 

the fees paid to them. The contract with 

PricewaterhouseCoopers for the provision 

of taxation services has been pre-approved.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting 

to be held in August 2016, the committee 

will propose that PricewaterhouseCoopers 

and Stefan Beyers be the Group auditors for 

the 2017 fi nancial year. This appointment 

will comply with the Companies Act.

Statutory reporting
The committee has evaluated the 

consolidated annual fi nancial statements 

of TUHF NPC, TUHF Holdings Limited 

and TUHF Limited for the year ended 

31 March 2016. Based on the information 

provided to the committee, it is of the 

opinion that these companies comply in 

all respects with the requirements of 

the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, the 

International Financial Reporting Standards, 

the SAICA Financial Reporting Guide and 

all other applicable legislation.

Internal fi nancial functions
The boards of the Group have delegated 

the responsibility for the oversight of the 

fi nancial reporting to the committee. 

The committee has taken responsibility 

for the governance of fi nancial reporting, 

internal and external audits, and internal 

controls and policies.

The competency, skills, and resources of the 

fi nance function required by the Group have 

been assessed, and the committee is 

satisfi ed that the fi nance function 

requirements are adequate and appropriate.

The committee is satisfi ed that the internal 

controls of the Group operated effectively 

during the year ended 31 March 2016. 

The committee also provides reasonable 

assurance that the fi nancial records for the 

preparation of the annual fi nancial 

statements can be relied upon.

Chief fi nancial offi cer
The committee has, under review, affi rmed 

that Ms Ilona Roodt has the expertise and 

experience to undertake the duties and 

responsibilities of the chief fi nancial offi cer.

Company secretary
The committee has satisfi ed itself that the 

newly appointed company secretary, 

Kilgetty Statutory Services (Proprietary) 

Limited, has the appropriate competence 

and experience and will maintain an 

arm’s-length relationship with directors.

Recommendation of the 

annual fi nancial statements 

and integrated annual report
The committee has fulfi lled its oversight 

role regarding the reporting process for the 

annual fi nancial statements and the 

integrated annual report and, being satisfi ed 

with the integrity of these reports, 

recommends that both reports be approved 

by the boards of directors.

Directors’ report
This report is included as part of the annual 

fi nancial report.

Cas Coovadia

Chairman

4 August 2016
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REMUNERATION REPORT

The duties and responsibilities regarding 

remuneration decisions have been 

delegated to the remuneration committee 

(REMCO) by the TUHF board.

The committee is guided by a directors’ 

remuneration policy as well as the 

remuneration and human resources 

committee terms of reference, and the 

human resources policy and procedure 

manual. These policies and terms of 

reference defi ne the objectives of the 

committee and the required operating 

procedure, as well as defi ning its 

responsibilities and functions.

The committee is therefore established to:

• ensure that remuneration policies 

support the strategic aims of the Group;

• enable the recruitment, motivation and 

retention of senior executives; and

• comply with regulatory requirements 

and governance.

The committee assists the boards in 

discharging their duties and therefore 

oversees, reviews, and recommends 

objectives relating to:

• recognising that individual strengths 

contribute towards a successful 

organisation;

• ensuring that all staff are fairly and 

equitably rewarded and that all staff 

understand the way in which salaries 

are determined;

• setting remuneration levels which ensure 

that management is fairly and 

responsibly rewarded;

• ensuring that executive and non-

executive directors’ remuneration is 

in line with best practice, governance 

principles and in line with the 

benchmark set by companies of similar 

size and standing;

• ensuring, as far as possible, the 

recruitment of people with the required 

skills and by creating a strong, 

performance-orientated environment;

• ensuring that remuneration packages, 

including benefi ts, are competitive with 

the market and similar organisations, 

and that overall market trends and 

practices are considered and reviewed 

on a regular basis;

• the choice and structuring of employers 

share schemes;

• human resource policies and 

procedures; and

• reviewing the expectations of the 

employees of the Group.

The remuneration philosophy includes the 

principle of rewarding individuals directly in 

accordance with their level of contribution 

towards meeting both their specifi c job 

objectives, as well as meeting overall 

organisational goals. This performance 

delivery is monitored and assessed during 

the year using the TUHF performance 

management system. The system operates 

on the basis of the implementation of the 

balanced scorecard approach. Performance 

contracts are developed annually that are 

aligned with the overall strategy and 

balanced scorecard. Within the system, job 

profi les are created, agreed to by the job 

incumbent, and performance will be 

assessed and monitored on a monthly basis 

through one-on-one discussions between 

the individual staff member and 

managerial staff. The resulting overall 

rating will inform the annual salary review.

The key principles of the incentive 

philosophy capture and embody the Group’s 

remuneration policy. The primary objectives 

of these key principles are that:

• incentives are based on actual, 

measurable performance in the Group;

• incentives for performance are holistic 

and not only incentivise volume and 

quantitative measures and, therefore, 

include integration of 

qualitative measures;

• team and individual awards are 

frequently made in order to 

support performance;

• the system is closely aligned to, and 

integrated with, the balance scorecard 

and overall performance 

management; and

• the Group strongly incentivises 

performance.

In order to achieve the objectives of the 

incentive policy, an annual budgeted 

incentive policy pool is created with two 

clear components comprising a fi xed 

portion that is allocated to the individual 

incentives, and a variable portion that is 

allocated to the team-based award. 

The individual incentive award is 

determined as a performance percentage 

against the performance contract signed by 

the staff member at the beginning of the 

fi nancial year. The payment of this award 

is made in three tranches over the year. 

In establishing the team-based award, 

the committee determines the overall 

performance of the Group against the 

corporate balanced scorecard. This award 

is a percentage of the current salary bill, of 

which 60% is allocated as the team-based 

component of the award and 40% is 

allocated as an incentive determined by the 

staff member’s performance rating achieved 

at the end of the fi nancial year.

Executive director
The TUHF board, on the recommendation 

made by the committee, determines the 

remuneration of the executive director. 

The executive director’s remuneration is 

aligned to measurable performance criteria, 

which in turn are aligned with the strategy 

and objectives of the Group. The determined 

remuneration is also compared to those of 

executives of companies of similar size 

and scope.

The executive director is presently paid a 

short-term incentive designed to reward 

performance. No fi xed fee is paid.

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors do not receive 

short or long-term incentives. 

Non-executive directors are paid an 

annual fee for their services as a director 

and attendance fees for each board or 

committee meeting attended including a 

fee for each round robin event the director 

is required to act in other than a meeting. 

These fees are reviewed annually, 

recommended by the committee to the 

board for acceptance and subject to a 

special resolution approved by the 

shareholders of TUHF Limited. 

The quarterly payment of the basic 

directors’ fee is subject to the non-executive 

director attending 60% of the meetings 

convened in the quarter for which payment 

is made. Non-executive directors are 

entitled to subsistence and travel 

allowances at the rates indicated in the 

Financial Management and 

Administration Manual. Any non-director 

appointed to a board committee is 

remunerated on the same basis as a 

non-executive director. Alternate 

directors will not be paid attendance 

fees but are entitled to subsistence 

and travel allowances.
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TUHF Holdings Limited 

Conditional Share Plan* 

(CSP)
In 2010, TUHF Holdings Limited established 

a CSP with the objective of recognising 

services rendered, encouraging long-term 

shareholder value creation and incentivising 

current and prospective employees of TUHF. 

All employees of TUHF may participate in 

this plan.

The committee is required to call upon 

TUHF to make recommendations as to which 

employees it intends to incentivise through 

grants. Subject to the approval of the board, 

the committee approves the grants based on 

the recommendations received.

A grant of conditional awards is made to 

selected employees that shall vest in the 

shares awarded after a performance period 

of three years, and is subject to the 

performance conditions being achieved. 

The vesting of shares shall be as follows:

• One third of the award after the third 

anniversary of the grant award date

• One third of the award after the fourth 

anniversary of the grant award date

• One third of the award after the fi fth 

anniversary of the grant award date

If the employee does not meet the 

performance conditions stipulated in the 

letter of grant, no award, or a portion of the 

award, will be made. Following the vesting, 

TUHF will procure the number of TUHF 

Holdings Limited’s shares for a subscription 

price equivalent to the market value 

per share. No dividend is paid while the 

awards are unvested.

No shareholder to whom shares have been 

delivered in terms of the CSP may sell or 

dispose of his/her shares. When a 

shareholder requires to dispose shares in 

order to pay the tax arising on the vesting of 

the shares or has resigned or been dismissed 

or retired, the shares will be sold to TUHF 

Limited at the current market price. 

Depending on the reason for leaving the 

employment of TUHF Limited, the unvested 

awards will either lapse or a pro rata 

portion be vested at the absolute discretion 

of REMCO.

Included in the CSP is a conditional award 

that is settled in cash as opposed to shares. 

The conditions and terms applicable to 

conditional awards settled in shares are also 

applicable to cash conditional awards.

* For details of shares awarded, vested and treasury shares see the directors’ report on page 68.
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“Financing 

property 

entrepreneurs is 

contingent on our ability to 

raise capital. This has been the 

Group’s primary challenge since 

inception, as many providers of capital 

still perceive investment in inner cities as 

risky, yet the demand for housing and fi nance 

in these areas runs deep.” – Paul Jackson, CEO
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LODGEMENT OF PRESCRIBED RETURNS CERTIFICATE

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2008, I certify that in respect of the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company has 

lodged with the Registrar of Companies all returns prescribed by the Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date. 

Matthew Wray for and on behalf of Kilgetty Statutory Services (Proprietary) Limited Johannesburg

Performing duties as company secretary

4 August 2016 

A
n

n
u

a
l fin

a
n

c
ia

l

sta
te

m
e

n
ts



64  I  TUHF  I  BACKING ORDINARY PEOPLE, DOING EXTRAORDINARY THINGS

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 

content and integrity of the annual fi nancial statements and related fi nancial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to 

ensure that the annual fi nancial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the fi nancial year and the results of 

its operations and cash fl ows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors 

are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual fi nancial statements. 

The annual fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon appropriate 

accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal fi nancial control established by the Group and place 

considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the directors set 

standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 

of responsibilities within a clearly defi ned framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an 

acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 

standards in ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk 

management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Group. While operating 

risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 

behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides 

reasonable assurance that the fi nancial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual fi nancial statements. However, any system 

of internal fi nancial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash fl ow forecast for the year to 31 March 2017 and, in light of this review and the current fi nancial 

position, they are satisfi ed that the Group has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements. The annual fi nancial 

statements have been examined by the Group’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 65. 

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all fi nancial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, 

the board of directors and committees of the board. The board believes that all representations made to the independent auditors during their 

audit are valid and appropriate. 

The annual fi nancial statements set out on pages 66 to 103, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the 

directors on 4 August 2016 and were signed on their behalf by: 

PGN Jackson C Coovadia

4 August 2016 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE TRUST FOR URBAN HOUSING FINANCE

We have audited the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements of the Trust for Urban Housing Finance set out on pages 66 to 103, which 

comprise the statement of fi nancial position as at 31 March 2016, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 

equity and statement of cash fl ows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial statements

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate fi nancial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate fi nancial statements that are free from 

material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 

fi nancial position of the Trust for Urban Housing Finance as at 31 March 2016, and its consolidated and separate fi nancial performance and 

its consolidated and separate cash fl ows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016, we have read the directors’ report 

and the company secretary’s certifi cate* for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and 

the audited consolidated and separate fi nancial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading 

these reports we have not identifi ed material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate fi nancial 

statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc 

Director: Stefan Beyers

Registered Auditor 

Sunninghill 

4 August 2016

* Lodgement of prescribed returns certifi cate
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual fi nancial statements of the Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC and the 

Group for the year ended 31 March 2016. 

INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated in South Africa on 18 January 1993. 

NATURE OF BUSINESS

The main business of the company, together with its subsidiaries and associated companies, is to provide commercial property fi nance in 

the form of bridging fi nance and long-term loans secured by mortgage collateral and other fi nancial products to fi nance entrepreneurs and 

landlords for the purchase, construction and improvement of property for the purpose of the regeneration of South African inner city precincts 

and surrounding suburbs showing indications of decline where the primary objective is the supplying of housing and associated commercial 

property for rental stock. 

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Group’s business in the current year. 

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES 

The consolidated annual fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008. The accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year. 

Full details of the fi nancial position, results of operations and cash fl ows of the Group are set out in these consolidated annual fi nancial 

statements. 

GOING CONCERN 

The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 

and estimates. The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern in the 

foreseeable future. 

LOAN IMPAIRMENT 

It is the opinion of the board and management that the realisable values of collateral held in respect of advances exceed the book value of 

such advances. Advances always contain certain balances that, although not yet identifi ed as a problem, will prove to be irrecoverable. 

Similarly, certain clients and advances may display certain triggers such as late or non-payment and an assessment of the project collateral 

must be considered. 

The Group does not have suffi cient historical data to estimate with any accuracy what these losses may be. Management has conservatively, 

based on risk profi les, estimated the potential impairment of advances on a collective basis. Applying management’s methodology, a total loan 

impairment of R12 790 661 (2015: R12 587 833) for the year under review has been provided. A risk rating of certain products has resulted 

in the general impairment provision of mortgage loans being decreased to R33 480 858 (2015: R37 858 914) and a slight increase to

R14 298 916 (2015: R12 485 234) in respect of specifi c provisions. Note 3 to the fi nancial statements sets out how the Company manages 

credit risk. 

TAXATION

In previous reports our directors advised that the Company was exempt from taxation in terms of the repealed section 10(1)(cc) of the Income 

Tax Act, but had made the required application in terms of section 30 to have its PBO status approved.

In June 2007 the South African Revenue Services (SARS) advised that the exemption in terms of paragraph 3(f) of the Ninth Schedule of the 

Income Tax Act was granted. This exemption, however, was subject to conditions prescribed by the Minister of Finance which had not been 

promulgated. Over the past few years the Company sought clarifi cation on the Company’s tax status for the periods prior to September 2009. 

Notwithstanding SARS advise that the Company’s exemption from tax was still valid, the directors provided tax were the Company had taxable 

income. The board has now reviewed the necessity to retain the provision for taxation for taxable income prior to September 2009 and after 

consultation with the Company’s tax consultants, decided to reverse the provision amounting to R4 864 079.

The Company also entered into a Voluntary Disclosure Programme (VDP) with SARS in which it was agreed that the Company underestimated 

its taxable income for the tax years 2010 and 2011 due to the exemption in terms of paragraph 3(f) being incorrectly applied. In October 2015 

an agreement was signed with SARS acknowledging that an amount of R3 088 187,84, including interest of R916 506,82, was payable by 

30 October 2015. R4 759 352 (2015: R12 407 855) has been provided for taxation of which R2 301 302 (2015: R5 214 862) was in respect 

of deferred taxation.

FUNDING

During the year under review, Intuthuko Equity Fund (Proprietary) Limited secured a R5 million funding facility from The New Housing 

Company and TUHF Limited secured the following funding facilities:

• R60 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited replacing a facility from Cadiz Asset Management Limited.

• R50 million from Cadiz Asset Management Limited being a fi ve-year extension of a previous loan term.

• R280 million three-year term warehouse facility with Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited acting as an agent for and 

on behalf of various lenders

• R200 million fund grant from the National Treasury of the government of the Republic of South Africa
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In December 2015 TUHF Limited concluded with the Johannesburg Stock Exchange all the terms and conditions of ZAR1 000 000 000 

domestic medium-term note programme.

SUPPORT PROGRAMME FOR SOCIAL HOUSING

The Company continues to act as agent for and on behalf of the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited and its representative 

in respect of a social housing programme funding in the sum of R23,1 million originated from the Commission of the European Community.

EQUITY FUNDING

Supporting emerging entrepreneurs who qualify for debt support in the form of variable interest subordinated loans continues to remain one 

of the principles of the Company’s lending approach.

DIRECTORATE

The directors in offi ce at the date of this report are as follows: 

Directors Offi ce Designation

SS Moraba Chairperson Non-executive

TM Adler Non-executive

C Coovadia Non-executive

PGN Jackson Chief executive offi cer Executive

JK Mamatela Non-executive

JS Strelitz Non-executive

RR Emslie resigned as a director on 30 March 2016.

SECRETARY

For the period 1 April 2015 to 7 March 2016, Ilona Roodt served as company secretary. Since 7 March 2016, Kilgetty Statutory Services 

(Proprietary) Limited performs the function of company secretary.

PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated fi nancial statements together with the accounting policies applied for the year under review were prepared in accordance 

with the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the SAICA Financial 

Reporting Guide. The annual fi nancial statements were independently compiled by: Jacqueline Proudfoot CA(SA) with Ilona Roodt CA(SA) 

performing the management review

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in offi ce as auditors for the Company in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act of 

South Africa, with Stefan Beyers as the designated auditor responsible for performing the function as auditor.

INVESTMENTS

Refer to Note 29 of the fi nancial statements.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

No special resolutions were considered by the shareholders of the Group or members of the Company during the fi nancial year ended 

31 March 2016.

In terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, TUHF Limited was authorised to pay remuneration to non-executive directors 

for their services an amount in aggregate not exceeding R2 100 000.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The directors are not aware of any matters arising since the end of the fi nancial year to date and not dealt with in this report, that would 

signifi cantly have any infl uence on the operations, the results and fi nancial position of the Group. 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT SCHEME

The Group has a Conditional Share Plan (CSP) from which conditional shares and cash awards are granted to employees of TUHF Limited. 

All awards granted are subject to a performance management system and are measured over a three or four-year performance period. 

The performance conditions of the awards are determined by the management of the employing companies (presently only TUHF Limited) 

for each of the performance years by means of a performance management assessment (Performance Contract). 

For each of the fi nancial years covering the performance period, the performance level of the Performance Contract will be reviewed. At the 

end of the performance periods the Performance Contract will be fi nalised. The Company’s remuneration committee, together with the 

management of TUHF Limited, will examine the extent to which performance conditions have been satisfi ed and determine the awards 

to which employees will be entitled. The awards decided upon will be vested over a period of three years in equal numbers. 
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2016 2015

During the year under review the following transactions took place:

– Conditional awards to which employees became entitled 869 939 –

– Conditional awards vested (of which 296 166 (2015: Nil) treasury shares were vested) 869 939 –

– Conditional awards purchased by TUHF Limited 477 366 280 238

As at 31 March 2016:

– Total shares vested 2 883 820 2 737 462

– Treasury shares held by TUHF Limited 735 289 554 089

– Total unvested awards 1 179 940 1 811 984

– Total shares reverted back to allocation pool 259 704 201 432

No awards have been forfeited during the period under review. Management estimates that all awards granted will be vested over the vesting 

periods. Conditional awards amounting to 569 430 ordinary shares will be vested in the fi nancial year ending March 2017.

MEMBERS’ FUNDS

The Company is a non-profi t company (NPC) and there are no members’ funds vested.

MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

The Company is without share capital and is incorporated as an NPC in terms of the transitional provisions of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008.

In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, each member of the Company guarantees to contribute the sum of R1 (one rand) in the event 

of the Company being wound up. At the reporting date the guarantee value amounted to R8 (2015: R8).

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Information regarding the Company’s interest in companies whose business is to provide commercial property fi nance to entrepreneurs and 

landlords for the purchase of property for the purpose of the regeneration of South African inner cities can be found under accounting policy 

Note 1.2.

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

In September 2009 the Group companies (Companies) entered into management agreements with TUHF Limited in terms of which TUHF 

Limited will provide management and administrative services necessary, incidental and ancillary to satisfy the ongoing commercially 

reasonable requirements for these Companies including, but not limited to, secretarial services, accounting services, banking services, 

administrative services, corporate governance services, social and ethics management, strategy planning and reporting services, and statutory 

reporting services. 

The various boards agreed to delegate the corporate governance functions, decisions and applications to the board of TUHF Limited. The 

directors of TUHF Limited will, however, be subject to instructions from the boards, to the Companies’ memorandums of incorporation and be 

required to safeguard, at all times, the interests of the Companies when implementing the obligations and duties set out in the management 

agreements. 

The various boards of TUHF Limited will therefore respect the fi duciary duties of the companies’ boards. 

A formally documented and approved board charter outlines the scope of authority, responsibilities, powers and functioning of the TUHF 

Limited board. This charter is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it remains relevant and in line with governance best practice. 

Directors’ report continued
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GROUP COMPANY

Note
2016

R
2015

R
2016

R
2015

R

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 6 88 621 238 46 121 017  2 182 492  4 017 453

Money market assets 7 33 388 686 32 664 698

Advances 8 2 117 439 295 2 019 405 280

Other assets 9 22 479 498 4 974 845 – 874

Taxation 12 3 396 852 –  252 426 –

Deferred taxation 13 18 322 725 19 383 696

Investments and amounts owing by related parties 10 8 430 000 8 430 000 51 169 094 51 422 334

Equipment and intangible asset 14 5 867 550 3 599 273

Total assets 2 297 945 844 2 134 578 809 53 604 012 55 440 661

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

Reserves

Owners’ reserve 113 228 746 91 780 349

Share scheme 6 855 527 4 843 183

Non-controlling shareholders’ share of reserves 108 554 736 102 999 030

Reserves 39 097 365 31 931 254

Non-distributable reserve 87 500 000

Equity development fund reserve 323 373 170 730

316 462 382 199 793 292 39 097 365 31 931 254

Liabilities

Taxation 12 –  8 515 675 – 9 201 298

Deferred taxation 13 1 240 331 – 204 204

Trade and other payables 15 24 960 143 21 619 875 14 506 443 14 293 996

Dividends payable 16 6 032 652 5 755 654

Amounts owing to related parties 11 – 13 909

Raising fees deferred 17 18 585 827 17 346 025

Financial liabilities 18 1 928 584 225 1 878 209 773

Share-based reserve 19 2 080 284 3 338 515

1 981 483 462 1 934 785 517 14 506 647 23 509 407

Total reserves and liabilities 2 297 945 844 2 134 578 809 53 604 012 55 440 661 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2016
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Note

2016

R

2015

R

2016

R

2015

R

Interest income 20 265 090 564 245 800 535 1 087 030 862 582

Interest expenses 21 164 357 892 151 871 857 658 899 769 959

Net interest income 100 732 672 93 928 678 428 131 92 623

Loan impairments 8  12 790 661 12 587 833

Income from lending activities 87 942 011  81 340 845 428 131 92 623

Non-interest income 22 19 574 226  13 588 269 3 355 614 5 126 327

Operating income 107 516 237 94 929 114 3 783 745 5 218 950

Operating expenditure 23 72 120 791 51 259 121 586 477 1 813 045

Profi t before taxation 35 395 446 43 669 993 3 197 268 3 405 905

Taxation 25  4 759 352 12 407 854 (3 968 843) 953 653

Net profi t for the year 30 636 094 31 262 139 7 166 111 2 452 252
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
for the year ended 31 March 2016

Share 
scheme

R

Owners’ 
reserves

R

Minority 
interest

R

Distributable 
reserves

R

Total 
reserves

R

GROUP

Balance at 31 March 2014 4 660 650  79 097 484 93 503 598 177 261 733

Total recognised income and expenses 
for the year 903 182 12 324 052 18 037 409 31 264 642

Intuthuko Equity Fund (Proprietary) 
Limited transfer of funder margin  198 640  198 640

Sale of consolidated share plan shares 
to TUHF Limited  (720 649) 720 649

Dividends accrued (8 541 977) (8 541 977)

TUHF Limited – investment in treasury 
shares written back  (560 476) (560 476)

Balance at 31 March 2015 4 843 183 91 780 349 102 999 030 199 622 562

Total recognised income and 
expenses for the year 721 373 15 483 775 14 430 947 30 636 095

Grant from National Treasury in 
respect of Jobs Fund 87 500 000 87 500 000

Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary 
Limited transfer of funder margin (568 799) (568 799)

Loan conversion to equity 6 533 403 6 533 403

Dividends accrued (8 875 241) (8 875 241)

Additional share capital issued 39 18 57

Share premium on additional 
share capital 1 290 932 1 290 932

Balance at 31 March 2016 6 855 527 113 228 746 108 554 736 87 500 000 316 139 009

Members’ 

reserves

R

Total

R

COMPANY

Balance at 31 March 2014 29 479 002 29 479 002

Total recognised income and expenses for the year 2 452 252  2 452 252

Balance at 31 March 2015 31 931 254 31 931 254

Total recognised income and expenses for the year  7 166 111 7 166 111

Balance at 31 March 2016 39 097 365 39 097 365
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
for the year ended 31 March 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Note
2016

R
2015

R
2016

R
2015

R

Cash fl ows from operating activities 26

Interest income 265 090 565 245 800 536 1 087 030 862 582

Finance charges  (164 357 892)  (151 871 857)  (658 899)  (769 959)

Tax (paid)/received (16 671 878) (8 974 299)  (5 484 880) 13 239

Cash received from clients 3 355 614 5 126 327

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (68 675 720) (43 118 283) (373 153) (1 594 086)

Net cash infl ow/(outfl ow) from 
operating activities 15 385 075  41 836 096 (2 074 288) 3 638 103

Cash fl ows from investing activities (110 035 318) (176 752 251) – 145

Advances to customers (88 006 680) (174 332 789) – 145

Purchase of equipment and computer hardware (2 830 502) (1 935 835)

Purchase of intangible assets (1 198 136) (483 627)

Purchase of investment property (18 000 000)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities 137 874 452 161 356 940 239 328 261 465

Proceeds from fi nancial liabilities 524 840 618 477 428 574

Repayment of fi nancial liabilities (474 466 166) (316 071 634)

(Repayments to)/proceeds from related 
party borrowings 239 328 261 465

Grant fund received 87 500 000

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
for the period 43 224 209 26 440 785 (1 834 960) 3 899 713

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the period  78 785 715 52 344 930  4 017 453 117 739

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  122 009 924 78 785 715  2 182 493 4 017 453

Made up as follows:

Cash and bank current accounts 88 621 238 46 121 017 2 182 493 4 017 453

Money market assets 33 388 686 32 664 698

122 009 924 78 785 715 2 182 493 4 017 453
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 March 2016

1.  PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

  The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the 

Companies Act No 71 of 2008. The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 

measurement of certain fi nancial instruments at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are 

presented in South African rand. 

 These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period. 

1.1  Signifi cant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 

  In preparing the annual fi nancial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 

represented in the annual fi nancial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is 

inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual 

fi nancial statements. 

  The only area of estimation uncertainty where there is signifi cant risk of material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and liabilities 

in the next accounting period is the impairment of fi nancial assets. This is more fully dealt with in Note 1.5 on page 75. 

 Signifi cant judgements include: 

 Impairment of performing loans 

  Impairment of performing loans can only be accounted for if there is objective evidence that a loss event has occurred after the initial 

recognition of the fi nancial asset but before the reporting date. In order to provide for the latent losses in a portfolio of loans that have 

not yet been individually identifi ed as impaired, a credit impairment for incurred but not yet reported losses is recognised based on 

historic loss patterns. In some cases management apply its judgement to these balances based on the value of the underlying loan 

balance, the collateral held, arrears and past history. 

  It is the opinion of the board and management that the realisable values of collateral held in respect of advances exceed the book 

value of such advances. Advances always contain certain balances that, although not yet identifi ed as a problem, will prove to be 

irrecoverable. Similarly certain clients and advances may display certain triggers such as late or non-payment and an assessment of 

the project collateral must be considered. 

  The Company does not have suffi cient historical data to estimate with any accuracy what these losses may be. Management has 

conservatively, based on risk profi les, estimated the potential impairment of advances on a collective basis. Applying management’s 

methodology a total loan impairment charge of R12 790 661 (2015: R12 587 833) for the year under review has been provided. A risk 

rating of the mortgage products has resulted in the general impairment provision of mortgage loans being decreased to R33 480 858 

(2015: R37 858 914) and increased to R14 298 916 (2015: R12 485 235) in respect of specifi c provisions. Note 3 to the fi nancial 

statements sets out how the Company manages credit risk. 

  The carrying amount of the impairment on performing loans would be a charge to the statement of comprehensive income if the 

impairment coverage ratios differed by 10% from managements estimate. 

 Taxation 

  The Group is subject to local income taxes in terms of the Income Tax Act No 58 of 1962, as amended. There are many transactions for 

which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated 

tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the fi nal tax outcome of these matters is different 

from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in 

which such determination is made. 

 If taxable income estimates were to differ by 10%, the Company’s tax liability would be R751 572 (2015: R1 222 760) lower/higher. 

1.2 Consolidation

 Basis of consolidation 

  The consolidated annual fi nancial statements incorporate the annual fi nancial statements of the Group and all entities, including special 

purpose entities, which are controlled by the Group. 

  Subsidiaries 

  Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the 

Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the entity. 

  Defacto control may arise in circumstances where the size of the Group’s voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings 

of other stakeholders give the group the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies, etc. 

  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date 

control ceases. 

  Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as 

transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant 

share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling 

interests are also recorded in equity. 
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 1.  PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1.2 Consolidation: Subsidiaries continued

  When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when control is 

lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The fair value is the initial carrying 

amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or fi nancial asset. In addition, 

any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets and liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 

classifi ed to the statement of comprehensive income. 

  Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Profi ts and losses 

resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 

changed when necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 Business combinations 

  The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of 

a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree, and the equity 

interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 

consideration agreement. Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an 

acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts 

of acquiree’s identifi able net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

  If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquiree’s previously held equity interest in 

the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income. 

  Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling interest 

over the net identifi able assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the 

subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

  The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value 

of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifi able net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total 

of the consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of 

the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

 Company fi nancial assets 

 In the Company’s separate annual fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment. 

 The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of: 

•  the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 

Company; plus 

• any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary. 

  An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the investment if the 

adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably. 

1.3 Equipment

 The cost of an item of equipment is recognised as an asset when: 

• it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the Company; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

  Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to or replace part of it. The carrying 

amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profi t or loss during the fi nancial period 

in which they are incurred. 

   Equipment is depreciated on the straight-line basis over its expected useful life to the estimated residual value. Equipment is carried at 

cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

 The useful lives of items of equipment has been assessed as follows: 

 Item Depreciation method Average useful life

 Offi ce furniture and equipment Straight line 20% – 33,33% per annum

 Computer hardware and fax Straight line 25% per annum

 The residual value of an asset is defi ned as the higher of an asset’s value in use, and fair value less costs to sell. 

 

Accounting policies continued
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1.  PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1.3 Equipment continued

  The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted on an annual basis and should expectations differ from previous 

estimates, changes are accounted for as a change in accounting estimates in accordance with IAS 8.

  The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of equipment and intangible assets is included in profi t or loss when the item is 

recognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of equipment and intangible assets is determined as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 

to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

1.4  Intangible assets 

 An intangible asset is recognised when: 

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefi ts that are attributable to the asset will fl ow to the entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

 An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when: 

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;

• there is an ability to use or sell it;

• it will generate probable future economic benefi ts;

• there are available technical, fi nancial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset; and

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

  Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. The amortisation period and the 

amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end and adjusted if appropriate. If the expectations differ from 

previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 

 Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values as follows: 

 Item Useful life

 Computer software 20% per annum

 Other development expenditure that does not meet these criteria is recognised as an expense as incurred. 

 Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 

1.5  Financial instruments 

 Recognition and measurement 

 Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 

   The Group classifi es fi nancial instruments on initial recognition as a fi nancial asset, a fi nancial liability or an equity instrument in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

   Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed to the statement of comprehensive 

income. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash fl ows from the investments have expired or have been 

transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

 Performing loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the fi nancial assets are presented in the statement of comprehensive income 

within other (losses)/gains – net in the period during which they arise. Dividend income from fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t 

or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments 

is established. 

 Impairment of fi nancial assets 

  The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial asset or group of fi nancial 

assets is impaired. A fi nancial asset or a group of fi nancial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that 

loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash fl ows of the fi nancial asset or group or fi nancial assets that can be 

reliably estimated. 

  Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty, 

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other fi nancial reorganisation, 

and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash fl ows, such as changes in arrears or 

economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
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1.  PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1.5  Financial instruments: Impairment of fi nancial assets continued 

   For the performing loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at 

the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised 

in the statement of comprehensive income. If a performing loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 

impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure 

impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price. 

  If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised 

impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 Loans to/(from) Group companies 

  These loans are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs. Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised to refl ect irrecoverable amounts. 

 Advances and other receivables 

  Advances and receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income. Refer to the accounting policy on impairment. (See Note 1.1 on page 73.)

  Fees earned on fi nancial assets are recognised in accordance with the loan agreements. These are capitalised to the value of the loan and 

credited to non-interest income as the fee is earned. 

 Trade and other payables 

  Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired or incurred in the ordinary course of business from 

suppliers and service providers.

  Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

rate method. 

 Cash and cash equivalents and money market assets 

  Cash and cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are 

subject to insignifi cant risk in changing value. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. 

  Money market assets and cash held in trust are disclosed separately and are not included in cash and cash equivalents on the statement 

of fi nancial position. 

  Cash held in trust funds is deposited into the Company’s attorneys’ trust account to facilitate the issue of purchase guarantees and 

payment of the purchase price to the property seller on the bond and transfer registration. Cash and cash equivalents held in trust 

are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

 For the purpose of the statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents include money market assets. 

 Offsetting fi nancial instruments 

  Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of fi nancial position when there is a legally 

enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously. 

1.6 Income tax

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 

  Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the fi nancial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from 

the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in 

a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss. 

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date of 

the statement of fi nancial position and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 

income tax liability is settled.

  Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available against which 

the temporary differences can be utilised. 

  Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred 

income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that 

the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 

tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the 

same taxable entity.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled. 

Accounting policies continued
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1.  PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1.6 Income tax continued

 Income tax expenses 

  The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except 

to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other statements of comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is 

also recognised in other statements of comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

  The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws of South Africa. Management periodically evaluates positions 

taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions 

where appropriate on the basis of amounts to be paid to the tax authorities. 

1.7 Leases

  A lease is classifi ed as a fi nance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classifi ed 

as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.8  Impairment of non-fi nancial assets 

  The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that a non-fi nancial asset may be impaired. 

If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. 

  If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs is determined. 

  The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing 

impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifi able cash fl ows (cash-generating units). 

Non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each 

reporting date. 

1.9 Share-based payments 

  The Group, through TUHF Holdings Limited, operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the Group receives 

services from employees as consideration for equity instruments of TUHF Holdings Limited. The fair value of the employee services 

received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised as an expense. 

 The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the share awards granted: 

• including any market performance conditions;

• excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions such as profi tability, sales growth targets and 

remaining an employee of the Group over the vesting period; and 

• including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save). 

  Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of shares that are expected to be acquired. The total 

expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specifi ed vesting conditions are to be satisfi ed. 

At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the 

non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive 

income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

  When the shares are acquired, TUHF Holdings Limited issues new shares. The shares are acquired for no consideration and the actual 

consideration is compared to the amount provided over the vesting period and any adjustment is made where appropriate. 

1.10  Employee benefi ts 

 Short-term employee benefi ts 

  The cost of short-term employee benefi ts (those that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period in which the employees render the related service) are recognised in the period in which the employee renders the related service. 

  The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement 

or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. 

 The accruals have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current wage and salary rates. 

 Defi ned contribution plans 

  A defi ned contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fi xed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no 

legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold suffi cient assets to pay all employees the benefi ts 

relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 

  For defi ned contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to privately administered pension insurance plans on a contractual basis. 

The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee 

benefi t expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 

the future payments is available.
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1.  PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1.11  Revenue 

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for services 

provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and value added tax. 

 Revenue comprises interest income and non-interest income. 

 Interest income and expense

  Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement for comprehensive income for all interest bearing instruments, on a 

time-apportionment basis using the effective interest rate method. In terms of this method, interest receipts and payments are 

brought to account in proportion to the balance outstanding on a time-proportional basis. Disclosed separately in the statement of 

comprehensive income is the notional interest on present valuing fi nancial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost. This is disclosed 

as fair value adjustments in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 Non-interest income

  Revenue from the provision of services is recognised on an accrual basis, as the service is rendered by reference to the stage of completion 

in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements. 

1.12 Unlisted investments 

  Unlisted investments comprise the equity investment in associated organisations held to earn dividend income and/or for capital 

appreciation. Unlisted investments are carried at fair value based on valuations of the underlying property portfolio by independent 

external values less the interest bearing liabilities in respect of the underlying mortgage. 

  The valuators have appropriate qualifi cations and extensive experience in property valuations. Fair values are determined by discounting 

expected future cash fl ows at appropriate market interest rates. Valuations are carried out annually. Changes in the fair value of 

investments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive incomes as investment surpluses. 

Accounting policies continued
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

 The following IAS and IFRS including amendments have been adopted during the fi nancial year under review.

  Amendment to IFRS 2: Share-based Payment: Annual improvements project 

  Amended the defi nitions of “vesting conditions” and “market conditions” and added defi nitions for “performance condition” and 

“service condition”. 

 The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 

  The Group has adopted the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2016 annual fi nancial statements. The impact of the amendment is 

not material. 

 Amendment to IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement: Annual improvements project 

  The amendment clarifi es that references to fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities in paragraphs 48 to 51 and 53 to 56 should be read as 

applying to all contracts within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with, IAS 39 or IFRS 9, regardless of whether they meet 

the defi nitions of fi nancial assets or fi nancial liabilities in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

 The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 

  The Group has adopted the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2016 annual fi nancial statements. The impact of the amendment is 

not material. 

 Amendment to IAS 38: Intangible Assets: Annual improvements project 

  The amendment adjusts the option to proportionately restate accumulated amortisation when an intangible asset is revalued. Instead, 

the gross carrying amount is to be adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount. The accumulated 

amortisation is then adjusted as the difference between the gross and net carrying amount. 

 The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 

  The Group has adopted the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2016 annual fi nancial statements. The impact of the amendment is 

not material. 

 Amendment to IAS 24: Related Party Disclosures: Annual improvements project 

  The defi nition of a related party has been amended to include an entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, which provides 

key management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity (management entity). Disclosure is 

required of payments made to the management entity for these services but not of payments made by the management entity to its 

directors or employees. 

 The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 

  The Group has adopted the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2016 annual fi nancial statements. The impact of the amendment is 

not material. 

 Amendment to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Annual improvements project 

  The amendment adjusts the option to proportionately restate accumulated depreciation when an item of property, plant and equipment 

is revalued. Instead, the gross carrying amount is to be adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount. 

The accumulated depreciation is then adjusted as the difference between the gross and net carrying amount. 

 The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 

  The Group has adopted the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2016 annual fi nancial statements. The impact of the amendment is 

not material. 
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued

2.2  Standards and interpretations effective but not yet adopted

  The following IAS and IFRS including amendments, although effective, are expected to be adopted in the fi nancial year ending 31 March 

2017.

 Amendment to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Annual improvements project 

  The amendment provides additional guidance regarding transfers with continuing involvement. Specifi cally, it provides that cash fl ows 

exclude cash collected which must be remitted to a transferee. It also provides that when an entity transfers a fi nancial asset but retains 

the right to service the asset for a fee, that the entity should apply the existing guidance to consider whether it has continuing 

involvement in the asset. 

 The effective date for the Group is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2017 annual fi nancial statements. 

 It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements. 

 Amendment to IAS 19: Employee Benefi ts: Annual improvements project 

  The amendment clarifi es that when a discount rate is determined for currencies where there is no deep market in high-quality corporate 

bonds, then market yields on government bonds in that currency should be used. 

 The effective date for the Group is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2017 annual fi nancial statements. 

 It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements. 

 Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements 

  The amendment provides new requirements when an entity presents sub-totals in addition to those required by IAS 1 in its annual 

fi nancial statements. It also provides amended guidance concerning the order of presentation of the notes in the annual fi nancial 

statements, as well as guidance for identifying which accounting policies should be included. It further clarifi es that an entity’s share of 

comprehensive income of an associate or joint venture under the equity method shall be presented separately into its share of items that 

(a) will not be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss and (b) that will be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss. 

 The effective date for the Group is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2017 annual fi nancial statements. 

 It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarifi cation of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 

  The amendment clarifi es that a depreciation or amortisation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that 

includes the use of the asset is not an appropriate method. This requirement can be rebutted for intangible assets in very specifi c 

circumstances as set out in the amendments to IAS 38. 

 The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2017 annual fi nancial statements. 

 It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements. 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 and 12 and IAS 28: Investment Entities. Applying the consolidation exemption 

  The amendment clarifi es the consolidation exemption for investment entities. It further specifi es that an investment entity which 

measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value is required to comply with the “investment entity” disclosures provided in IFRS 12. The 

amendment also specifi es that if an entity is itself not an investment entity and it has an investment in an associate or joint venture 

which is an investment entity, then the entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by such associate or joint venture to any 

of its subsidiaries. 

 The effective date for the Group is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

 The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the fi rst time in the 2017 annual fi nancial statements. 

 It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements. 

Accounting policies continued
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued

2.3  Standards and interpretations not yet effective

 The following IFRS will become effective in fi nancial years beginning on or after 1 April 2016.

 IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 

 IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classifi cation and measurements of fi nancial assets. 

  IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial liabilities 

and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of 

IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include (a) impairment requirements for fi nancial assets and (b) limited amendments to the 

classifi cation and measurement requirements by introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI) measurement 

category for certain simple debt instruments. 

 Key requirements of IFRS 9: 

• All recognised fi nancial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are required to 

be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifi cally, debt investments that are held within a business model whose 

objective is to collect the contractual cash fl ows, and that have contractual cash fl ows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the outstanding principal are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. Debt 

instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash fl ows and selling 

fi nancial assets, and that have contractual terms of the fi nancial asset give rise on specifi ed dates to cash fl ows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on outstanding principal, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity investments are 

measured at fair value at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election 

to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income 

with only dividend income generally recognised in profi t or loss. 

• With regard to the measurement of fi nancial liabilities designated at fair value through profi t or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount 

of change in the fair value of the fi nancial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is presented in other 

comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effect of the changes of the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income 

would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profi t or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in fair value of a 

fi nancial liability designated at fair value through profi t or loss is presented in profi t or loss. 

• In relation to the impairment of fi nancial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss 

model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those 

expected credit losses at each reporting date to refl ect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. It is therefore no longer necessary 

for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. 

• The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. 

Under IFRS 9, greater fl exibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifi cally broadening 

the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-fi nancial items that are eligible 

for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been replaced with the principal of an “economic relationship”. 

Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk 

management activities have also been introduced. 

 The effective date for this standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

 The Group expects to adopt the standard for the fi rst time in the 2019 annual fi nancial statements. 

 It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements. 

 IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

  IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11: Construction Contracts; IAS 18: Revenue; IFRIC 13: Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15: Agreements for 

the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18: Transfers of Assets from Customers; and SIC 31: Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving 

Advertising Services. 

  The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in 

an amount that refl ects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity 

recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps: 

• Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Determine the transaction price

• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfi es a performance obligation.

 IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure requirements. 

 The effective date for this standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2017. 

 The Group expects to adopt the standard for the fi rst time in the 2018 annual fi nancial statements. 

 It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s annual fi nancial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2016

3. RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital risk management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 

returns for the shareholders and benefi ts for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the shareholders, return capital 

to the shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Group monitors capital on the gearing ratio basis together with a debt service cover ratio. 

The Group’s debt to capital ratio must not exceed 90:10 and the debt service cover ratio, being the Group’s free cash fl ow divided by the 

total sum of all amounts payable for all indebtedness, must be at least 1.1 times. 

Capital as defi ned in the relevant agreements with shareholders is included in the calculation and differ to the IFRS defi nition of capital. 

Total capital is calculated as equity shown in the statement of fi nancial position together with any subordinated shareholders loans plus 

interest-bearing debt.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements. 

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance, or externally imposed capital 

requirements from the previous year. 

The gearing ratio at 2016 and 2015 respectively was as follows: 

2016 2015

Interest-bearing debt

Loans 1 893 584 225 1 836 676 370

Equity 369 724 836 258 501 991

Tier 1 228 639 009 199 622 562

Tier 2 141 085 827 58 879 429

Total capital 2 263 309 061 2 095 178 361

Gearing ratio 84% 88%

Financial risk management 

Financial risks are identifi ed and managed on a Group basis. These risks are identifi ed in the risk matrix which is reported to the boards.

The responsibility for risk management resides at all levels, from members of the boards to individuals throughout the Group. Overall 

risk management policies and risk appetite are established on a comprehensive, organisation-wide basis by senior management and, 

reviewed with and where appropriate, approved by the boards of directors. 

There has been no change in how the Group assesses or manages its risks from the previous year. 

The main risks managed by the risk committee as described below include liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and credit risk. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due and to replace funds when they are 

withdrawn, the consequences of which may be the failure to meet obligations to repay commitments to funders. 

Debt capital to meet secured lending commitments is primarily raised from the debt capital markets. 

The Johannesburg Stock Exchange approved in December 2015 a R1 billion DMTN programme memorandum to meet the Group’s 

liquidity requirements. 

Unsecured lending on average amounts to R5 million – R10 million per year and is currently funded internally until an additional source 

of capital is raised. 

Low interest rate equity loans are funded by funders: Gauteng Partnership Fund and New Housing Company – these funds are ring-fenced 

and secured by a second bond and rank after senior debt providers. 

Historically the Group has been able to match closely the actual loan advances loan term of 15 years to the actual debt funding 

repayment period of either 15 or 20 years. 
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Liquidity risk continued

This resulted in a matched loan advances collections and funder repayment cash fl ows. 

More recently, the repayment terms offered by funders has reduced to 10 years in line with market practice. 

The average loan period of the mortgage loans is now nine years which closely matches the funder repayment terms, but this is being 

monitored as fl exibility is offered to customers wishing to release portfolio equity. This may result in a mismatch in the capital collected 

on loan advances being extended compared to the funder repayments. This does not result in a cash fl ow mismatch, but rather a capital 

and interest mismatch while total pooled cash fl ow remains suffi cient to cover the Group’s commitments.

The Group is currently developing and implementing a treasury management system with full assets and liability management (ALM) 

functionality. More detailed treasury and risk management processes will be important for the Group as the funding strategy of accessing 

the debt capital markets is implemented in fi nancial year ending 2017. 

TUHF Limited raises debt capital by means of on balance sheet term facilities and is in the process of listing a listed rated note on the 

Johannesburg Stock Exchange in terms of the approved R1 billion note programme. The notes will achieve investment grade status and 

the fi rst tranche will be a minimum of R280 million. 

The R280 million raised from the note issue will be used to repay current interest-bearing debt facilities. A warehouse facility is currently 

in place to fund the loan advances that form part of the secured, construction complete and rented up assets with a book value of 

R350 million. Once repaid the warehouse facility will again be drawn on to fund assets for future note issues. 

The TUHF Limited board is responsible for the management of the liquidity risk of the Group, but it has delegated this responsibility to 

the chief fi nancial offi cer. Prudent management of liquidity contributes to sound liquidity risk management. The key focus in managing 

this risk is the use of a cash fl ow model that monitors loan and funders cash fl ows for a 12-month window period. 

The table below analyses the Group’s fi nancial liabilities on the remaining period at the statement of fi nancial position date to the 

contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash fl ows. 

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Discounting Total

Group at 31 March 2016

Other liabilities and accruals 30 992 795  30 992 795

Interest-bearing liabilities 469 226 594 1 247 868 041 1 049 668 691 (838 179 101) 1 928 584 225

Liabilities per statement of 

fi nancial position 500 219 389 1 247 868 041 1 049 668 691 (838 179 101) 1 959 577 020

Group at 31 March 2015

Other liabilities and accruals 27 375 529 27 375 529

Interest-bearing liabilities 359 977 062 1 193 540 567 1 148 897 126 (824 204 982) 1 878 209 773

Liabilities per statement of 

fi nancial position 387 352 591 1 193 540 567 1 148 897 126 (824 204 982) 1 905 585 302

Company 31 March 2016

Other liabilities and accruals 14 506 443 14 506 443

Liabilities per statement of 

fi nancial position 14 506 443 14 506 443

Company 31 March 2015

Other liabilities and accruals 14 293 996 14 293 996

Liabilities per statement of 

fi nancial position 14 293 996 14 293 996
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument fl uctuate because of changes in market 

interest rates. 

The Group is exposed to cash fl ow interest rate risk on both loan advances and interest-bearing liabilities that are linked to the prime 

interest rate. Performing loans and advances, cash and cash equivalents and money market assets as well as interest-bearing liabilities 

are stated at amortised cost derived from a fair rate or return or fair cost of borrowings. 

The market risk exposure relates to the potential adverse effect of interest rate movements on net interest income. 

The market risk exposure is further exacerbated by the fact that some loan advances have six monthly fi xed interest rate periods delaying 

the impact of a change in interest rates on the positive margin. The Group has tried to match this exposure in its loan profi le and the 

exposure in relation to the total book has declined to less than 10%. 

Where clients request fi xed rates applicable to loans, the interest rate risk is mitigated by management entering into an interest rate 

swap contract to swap the fi xed interest rate for a fl oating interest rate. In this way, the Group ensures that no interest rate risk is 

taken on. 

At 31 March 2016, if interest rates on net borrowings and advances had been 1% higher with all other variables held constant, pre-tax 

profi t for the year would have been R2 247 468 (2015: R1 994 549) lower, mainly as a result of higher net interest paid on variable rate 

borrowings and advances. 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a fi nancial instrument will cause fi nancial loss for another party by failing to discharge 

an obligation.

The credit risk that the Group faces arises mainly from commercial loans and advances. The Group has policies, procedures and processes 

dedicated to controlling and monitoring risk from all such activities. 

While credit exposures principally arise in loans and advances, the Group can be exposed to other credit risks. These exposures comprise 

loan commitments and contingent liabilities. The risks are managed in a similar way to those loans in loans and advances, and are subject 

to the same or similar approval and governance processes. 

The granting of credit is one of the Group’s major sources of income and is therefore one of the most signifi cant risks, and the Group 

dedicates considerable resources to controlling it effectively. A system based on a loan workfl ow process is used to facilitate the loan 

approval process. The granting of credit is considered on a project-by-project basis and various hurdle rates are considered in terms of 

our loan and credit policy which is fully compliant with the National Credit Act. 

The following represents the maximum exposure, at 31 March 2016, to credit risk and is stated before the allowance for impairment: 

GROUP COMPANY

Note

2016

R

2015

R

2016

R

2015

R

Financial instrument

Cash and short-term assets 6 88 621 238 46 121 017 2 182 493 4 017 453

Money market assets 7 33 388 686 32 664 698

Loans and advances 8 2 176 872 712 2 080 436 033

Other assets excluding investment property 9  4 479 498  4 974 845 –  874

Investment and amount owing to related 

parties 10 8 430 000 8 430 000 51 168 404 51 422 334

Total assets 2 311 792 134 2 172 626 593 53 350 897 55 440 661

Undrawn commitments 27

Advances for the refurbishment of buildings 152 638 194 184 144 178

Advances pending contractual compliance 324 585 261 385 682 280

477 223 455 569 826 458

Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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Cash and short-

 term assets

R

Money 

market

R

Advances 

R

Other

assets

R

3. RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Credit risk continued

Financial assets subject to credit risk

Group 2016

Neither past due nor impaired 88 621 238 33 388 686 2 023 629 431 4 479 498

Past due but not impaired 51 236 286

Impaired 90 353 336

Carrying value before impairment 88 621 238 33 388 686 2 165 219 053 4 479 498

Less: Impairment allowance (47 779 758)

Identifi ed impairments (14 298 916)

Identifi ed individual (14 298 916)

Identifi ed collective –

Unidentifi ed impairments (33 480 842)

Carrying value of fi nancial assets 88 621 238 33 388 686 2 117 439 295 4 479 498

Group 2015

Neither past due nor impaired 46 121 017 32 664 698 1 903 513 314 4 974 845

Past due but not impaired 82 432 354

Impaired 83 803 760

Carrying value before impairment 46 121 017 32 664 698 2 069 749 428 4 974 845

Less: Impairment allowance (50 344 149)

Identifi ed impairments (12 485 234)

Identifi ed individual (12 485 234)

Identifi ed collective –

Unidentifi ed impairments (37 858 914)

Carrying value of fi nancial assets 46 121 917 32 664 698 2 019 406 280 4 974 845

Company 2016

Neither past due nor impaired 2 182 493 – – –

Carrying value of fi nancial assets 2 182 493 – – –

Company 2015

Neither past due nor impaired 4 017 453 – – 874

Carrying value of fi nancial assets 4 017 453 – – 874
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate because of changes in foreign 

exchange rates. 

The Group does not have exposure to currency risk as all transactions are rand denominated. 

Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows or a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate because of changes in market process 

(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specifi c to the individual 

fi nancial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar fi nancial instruments traded in the market. 

Money market assets do not bear price risk as they include mainly cash, call funds and deposits in interest-bearing accounts. 

Fair value estimation

The fair value of all fi nancial instruments recognised at amortised cost approximates their carrying values at the reporting date.

4. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for fi nancial assets have been applied to the line items below: 

Loans and

 receivables

R

Fair value

R

Total

R

Group 2016

Cash and short-term assets 88 621 238 88 621 238

Money market assets 33 388 686 33 388 686

Loan advances (see Note 8) 2 177 439 295 2 117 439 295

Other assets: excluding prepayments 1 446 645 18 000 000 19 446 645

Unlisted investments  8 430 000  8 430 000

2 240 895 864 26 430 000 2 267 325 864

Group 2015

Cash and short-term assets 46 121 017 46 121 017

Money market assets 32 664 698 32 664 698

Loan advances (see Note 8) 2 019 405 280  2 019 405 280

Other assets: excluding prepayments  1 709 811  1 709 811

Unlisted investments 8 430 000 8 430 000

2 099 900 806 8 430 000 2 108 330 806

Loans and 

receivables

R

Total

R

Company 2016

Cash and short-term assets 2 182 493 2 182 493

Related parties 51 168 404 51 168 404

53 350 897 53 350 897

Company 2015

Cash and short-term assets 4 017 453 4 017 453

Other assets: excluding prepayments  874  874

Related parties 51 422 334 51 422 334

55 440 661 55 440 661

Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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5. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for fi nancial liabilities have been applied to the line items below: 

Financial 

liabilities at

 amortised cost

R

Total

R

Group 2016

Trade and other liabilities 24 960 143 24 960 143

Dividend payable  6 032 652 6 032 652

Raising fees deferred 18 585 827 18 585 827

Interest-bearing liabilities 1 928 584 225 1 928 584 225

1 978 162 847 1 978 162 847

Group 2015

Trade and other liabilities 21 619 874 21 619 874

Dividend payable 5 755 654 5 755 654

Raising fees deferred 17 346 025 17 346 025

Interest-bearing liabilities 1 878 209 773 1 878 209 773

1 922 931 326 1 922 931 326

Company 2016

Trade and other liabilities 14 506 443 14 506 443

Loans from Group companies (690) (690)

14 505 753 14 505 753

Company 2015

Trade and other liabilities 14 293 996 14 293 996

Loans from Group companies  13 909  13 909

14 307 905 14 307 905

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

GROUP COMPANY

2016

R

2015

R

2016

R

2015

R

Cash on hand 824 729 793 844

Current and call accounts 87 796 509 45 327 173 2 182 492 4 017 453

88 621 238 46 121 017 2 182 492 4 017 453

For the purpose of the statement of cash fl ows, 

cash and cash equivalents include total cash assets 

plus money market assets less bank overdrafts.

Composition of cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 88 621 238 46 121 017 2 182 493 4 017 453

Money market assets 33 388 686 32 664 698

122 009 924 78 785 715 2 182 493 4 017 453

7. MONEY MARKET ASSETS

Deposits for payment guarantees 16 257 069 32 325 803

Deposits pending property transfer registrations 17 131 617 338 895

33 388 686 32 664 698
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GROUP

2016

R

2015

R

8. ADVANCES

Loan advances 2 176 872 712 2 080 436 033

Loan impairments (47 779 758) (50 344 149)

Advances before suspended interest 2 129 092 954 2 030 091 884

Suspended interest (11 653 659) (10 686 604)

Net loan advances at fair value 2 117 439 295 2 019 405 280

Maturity analysis

Within 1 year 90 608 336 62 492 598

Within 2 to 5 years 495 358 707 285 318 677

Within 6 to 10 years 912 416 358 783 540 673

Within 11 to 15 years 678 489 311 949 084 085

2 176 872 712 2 080 436 033

Fair value disclosure Carrying value Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Loan advances 2 176 872 712 2 176 872 712 2 176 872 712

GROUP

2016

R

2015

R

Credit risk information 

Advances are subject to a risk rating evaluation that takes into consideration, inter alia, 

the overall risk profi le, collateral cover, payment record, past experiences, customers’ 

co-operation in abiding by loan conditions and the economic climate. For further details 

regarding the Group’s fi nancial instrument policy refer to accounting policy Note 1.5. 

For the purpose of the Group’s disclosure regarding credit quality the exposure to credit risk 

has been analysed as follows: 

Neither past due nor impaired 2 035 283 090 1 914 199 919

Past due but not impaired 51 236 286 82 432 354

Impaired 90 353 336 83 803 760

2 176 872 712                                                                                   2 080 436 033

Financial assets neither past due nor impaired are considered to be fully recoverable. 

Renegotiated terms 

None of the fi nancial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year. Funds received are fi rst applied to any past 

due amounts. 

Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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GROUP

2016

R

2015

R

8. ADVANCES continued

Loans and receivables past due but not impaired 

Financial assets neither past due nor impaired can be analysed according to the internal 

assessment of the client character and performance of the loan. 

The mortgage loan amounts past due but not impaired relate to the overdue instalment 

portion in respect of loans amounting to R84 743 965 (2015: R82 442 354). The loan 

balances have not been impaired or renegotiated as clients are part paying amounts and 

the value of the collateral exceeds the loan balance. 

In respect of the mortgage loans that are past due but not impaired, the overdue instalment 

portion can be analysed as follows: 

30 days 586 171 1 072 951

60 days 454 934 458 593

90 days 383 496 324 541

120 days 1 376 735 1 301 421

Loans and receivables impaired

At each reporting date an assessment is made whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. Loans and advances are 

stated net of impairment. Where carrying values of individual loans and advances are less than discounted amounts realisable or net of 

recoveries from collateral, a provision is made for the differences as loan impairment. Advances are subject to a risk rating evaluation that 

takes into consideration, inter alia, the overall risk profi le, collateral cover, payment record, past experiences, customers’ cooperation in 

abiding by loan conditions and the economic climate.

As of 31 March 2016, loans and receivables specially identifi ed of R84 743 965 (2015: R82 432 354) were impaired and provided for.

The amount of the provision in respect of these loans was R14 298 916 as of 31 March 2016 (2015: R12 485 234). The analysis of assets 

individually assessed as impaired are as follows.

GROUP

2016

R

2015

R

Mortgage loans

Carrying amount 51 236 286 83 803 760

Impairment (14 298 916) (12 485 234)

Revised carrying amount 36 937 370 71 318 526

The Company has no assets individually assessed as impaired. 

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of loans and receivables 

The Group’s impairment allowance comprises the following:

Identifi ed individual 14 298 916 12 485 234

Unidentifi ed collective 33 480 842 37 858 915

47 779 758 50 344 149

Loan impairment analysis

Balance at beginning of year 50 344 149 42 857 734

Legal fees and loans written off against impairment provision  (15 355 051) (5 101 419)

Impairments raised during the year 12 790 661 12 587 834

Balance at 31 March 2016 47 779 758 50 344 149
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Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

Opening 

balance Impairment

Loans 

impaired

Closing 

balance

8. ADVANCES continued

Loans and receivables impaired continued

Group 2016

Mortgage loans

Identifi ed individual 12 320 570 5 200 001 (3 782 320) 13 738 251

Unidentifi ed collective 37 304 781 7 718 809  (11 572 732) 33 450 858

49 625 351 12 918 810  (15 355 052) 47 189 109

Bridging fi nance

Unidentifi ed collective 521 953 (521 953) –

521 953 (521 953) –

Defi ned sale loans

Unidentifi ed collective 32 181 (2 196) 29 985

32 181 (2 196) 29 985

Equity fi nance loans

Identifi ed individual 164 664 396 000 560 664

164 664 396 000 560 664

50 344 149 12 790 661 (15 355 052) 47 779 758

Group 2015

Mortgage loans

Identifi ed individual 9 432 266 4 800 000 (1 911 696) 12 320 570

Unidentifi ed collective 29 809 557 7 495 224 – 37 304 781

39 241 823 12 295 224 (1 911 696) 49 625 351

Bridging fi nance

Identifi ed individual 2 517 950 (2 517 950) –

Unidentifi ed collective 603 795 (81 842)  521 953

3 121 745 (81 842) (2 517 950) 521 953

Defi ned sale loans

Unidentifi ed collective 30 441 1 740 – 32 181

30 441 1 740 – 32 181

Equity fi nance loans

Identifi ed individual 463 725 372 712 (671 773) 164 664

463 725 372 712 (671 773) 164 664

42 857 734 12 587 834 (5 101 419) 50 344 149

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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8. ADVANCES continued

The creation and release of provision for impairment receivables have been included in operating expenses in the statement of 

comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering 

additional cash.

GROUP COMPANY

2016

R

2015

R

2016

R

2015

R

Credit quality of advances 

Geographical analysis: 

Gauteng 1 995 409 360 1 858 752 897

Eastern Cape 78 752 555  70 532 596

KwaZulu-Natal 102 710 796 151 150 540

2 176 872 712 2 080 436 033

Collateral held 

The Group follows the principle of registering a 

mortgage bond to the value of 120% of the loan 

facility amount. In addition, another 30% of this 

amount is provided for legal costs in the total bond 

registered. The amounts stated below are stated 

exclusive of the legal costs provided for in the 

registered mortgage bond. 

Mortgage loans

Neither past due nor impaired 3 354 809 216 2 497 396 796

Loans past due and not impaired 76 854 429 123 648 531

Loans individually impaired 135 530 004 125 705 640

3 567 193 649 2 746 750 967

Deferred sale loans 33 274 905 25 572 361

Equity fi nance second bond 24 683 117 22 009 552

Total 3 625 151 671 2 794 332 880

9. OTHER ASSETS

Investment property 18 000 000

Deferred and prepaid expenses 3 032 853 3 265 033 – 874

Other receivables – staff debtors and 

other sundry debtors 462 520 188 636 – –

Interest on guarantee funds 984 125 1 521 176 – –

22 479 498 4 974 845 – 874

Amounts receivable are all current. No amounts are past due or impaired. 

The investment property represents erven 10846 and 10847 Durban situated at 65 Maud Mfusi Street held under sectional title 

number 7297/83.
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9. OTHER ASSETS continued

This note explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair value of the investment property that is recognised and 
measured at fair value in the fi nancial statements.

At year end the Group only had one asset for which the fair value was to be determined.

Figures in rand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Erven 10846 and 10847, Durban Township – – 18 000 000 18 000 000

To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classifi ed its fi nancial assets and 
liabilities into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards:

Level 1:  The fair value of fi nancial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-
sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for fi nancial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2:  The fair value of fi nancial instruments that are not traded in an active market  (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and relay as little as possible on 
entity-specifi c estimates. If all signifi cant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included 
in level 2.

Level 3:  If one or more of the signifi cant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the 
case for unlisted equity securities.

Level 2 valuation techniques used to determine level 2 and level 3 fair value.

The Group obtains independent valuations for its investment properties at least annually.

At the end of each reporting period, the directors update their assessment of the fair value of each property, taking into account the 
most recent independent valuations. The directors’ determine a property's valuation within a range of reasonable fair value estimates.

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such information is not available the 
directors consider information from a variety of sources including:

• current prices in an active market for properties of different nature or recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, 

adjusted to refl ect those differences;

• discounted cash fl ow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash fl ows; and

• capitalised income projections based upon a property’s estimated net market income, and a capitalised rate derived from an analysis 

of market evidence.

All resulting fair value estimates for properties are included in level 3.

The investment property has been valued by an independent valuer at R19 100 000. The directors have valued the property at
R18 000 000.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R

2015
R

2016
R

2015
R

10. INVESTMENTS AND AMOUNTS OWING
BY RELATED PARTIES

Balance at the beginning of the year 8 430 000 25 088 801 25 350 439

Advances to/(from) related parties – 8 430 000 (253 240)  (261 638)

Balance at 31 March 2016 8 430 000 8 430 000 24 835 561 25 088 801

Investments in related parties 26 333 533 26 333 533

Net amount owing by related parties (Note 29) 8 430 000 8 430 000 51 169 094 51 422 334

TUHF Limited holds 5% in the issued share capital 
of Urban Task Force (Proprietary) Limited which are 
held at fair value. 8 430 000 8 430 000

Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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10. INVESTMENTS AND AMOUNTS 
OWING BY RELATED PARTIES 

continued

Fair value disclosure Carrying value Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Unlisted investment 8 430 000 8 430 000 – – 8 430 000

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R

2015
R

2016
R

2015
R

11. AMOUNTS OWING TO RELATED PARTIES

Balance at the beginning of the year 13 909 14 082

Advances to/(from) related parties (13 909)  (173)

Balance at 31 March 2016 – 13 909

12. TAXATION

Amount owing to revenue authorities: income tax (8 314 854) (9 185 829)

Amount owing by revenue authorities: income tax 3 461 357 252 426

Amount owing to revenue authorities: VAT (64 505) (200 821) (15 469)

3 396 852 (8 515 675) 252 426 (9 201 298)

13. DEFERRED TAX 

Deferred tax liability

Balance at the beginning of the year – – (204) (204)

Deferred taxation timing differences (1 240 331) – – –

Balance at year-end (1 240 331) – (204) (204)

Total deferred tax liability

Deferred and prepaid expenses (204) (204)

Fair value adjustment (1 240 331)

Total deferred tax liability (1 204 331) (204) (204)

Deferred tax asset

Balance at the beginning of the year 19 383 696 14 170 234

Deferred taxation timing differences (1 160 971) 5 214 862

Utilisation of tax losses – (1 400)

Balance at year-end 18 322 725 19 383 696

Provisions 903 975 1 115 156

Accelerated depreciation  (394 723)  (256 558)

Loan impairments  11 690 960 12 991 309

Rental equalisation  59 370 25 584

Deferred income 5 204 031 4 856 887

S 24J accrual 1 160 848  982 256

Deferred and prepaid expenses (854 189) (883 391)

Share incentive reserve 552 424 552 453

Total deferred tax asset 18 322 696 19 383 696
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Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

Book value at 
31 March 2015

R
Additions

R
Disposals

R

Depreciation/
amortisation

R

Book value at 
31 March 2016

R

14. EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Offi ce furniture and equipment 374 871 1 433 569 (77 601) (267 830) 1 463 009

Computer hardware 1 579 710 1 396 933  (9 425) (700 817) 2 266 401

Intangible assets – computer software 1 644 692 1 198 136 (704 688) 2 138 140

Total 3 599 273 4 028 638 (87 026) (1 673 335) 5 867 550

Book value at 
31 March 2014

R
Additions

R
Disposals

R

Depreciation/
amortisation

R

Book value at 
31 March 2015

R

Offi ce furniture and equipment 399 817 241 783 (132 896) (133 833) 374 871

Computer hardware 481 649 1 694 052 (298 831) (297 160) 1 579 710

Intangible assets – computer software 2 233 072 483 627 (1 072 007) 1 644 692

Total 3 114 538 2 419 462 (431 727) (1 503 000) 3 599 273

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R

2015
R

2016
R

2015
R

Total cost at the beginning of the year 14 721 410 11 117 176

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation  8 853 860 7 517 903

Book value at year-end  5 867 550 3 599 273

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Payroll accruals (52 894) (2 852)

Creditors 19 328 873 15 305 417 14 506 444 14 293 996

Operating lease accruals 248 635  127 564

Bonus remuneration 4 824 587 5 638 942

Leave pay 610 942 550 804

 24 960 143 21 619 875 14 506 444 14 293 996

Creditors are settled within 30 days of invoice date. 

16. SHAREHOLDERS FOR DIVIDENDS

Dividends payable to TUHF Holdings Limited’s 
B ordinary shareholders

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited 1 945 850 1 862 484

Old Mutual Investment Group (South Africa) 
(Proprietary) Limited 1 216 375 1 164 263

Government Employees Pension Fund 1 216 375 1 164 263

4 378 600 4 191 010

Dividend payable to TUHF Holdings preference 
shareholder

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited 1 654 052 1 564 644

Total accrued dividends 6 032 652 5 755 654

17. RAISING FEES DEFERRED 

Raising fees deferred over nine-year average loan period 18 585 827 17 346 025

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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GROUP

2016
R

2015
R

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The loan from the Gauteng Partnership Fund which has a nominal value of R2 million 
is unsecured and interest free and to be repaid by April 2015

– 2 000 000

The loan of R50 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an 
interest rate of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid by 
September 2024. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group 
holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user 
agreements which have been fi nanced from this facility. 

28 454 553 30 739 709

The loan of R50 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an 
interest rate of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid by April 
2028. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or 
which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which 
are fi nanced from this facility.

36 467 878 38 230 196

The loan of R150 million from The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited is at an interest 
rate of prime minus 0,8%. The loan is to be repaid in full by 15 May 2020 with a repayment profi le 
that matches that imposed on the end users to whom this facility has been onward lent. The loan 
is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or, interests the Group holds or which 
it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which 
are fi nanced from this facility.

44 918 949 68 900 799

The loan of R50 million from the Development Bank of Southern Africa SOC Limited is at an 
interest rate of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid by 
September 2022. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group 
holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user 
agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

26 639 622 29 695 555

The loan of R100 million from the Development Bank of Southern Africa SOC Limited is at 
an interest rate of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid 
in full by 31 March 2023. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests 
the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end 
user agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

64 652 702 70 089 254

The loan of R100 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited acting as 
facility agent on behalf of Senior Lenders is at an interest rate of prime minus 0,75%. Interest and 
capital is paid monthly and must be repaid by February 2022. The loan is secured by a cession of 
all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out 
of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

59 386 121 66 672 149

The loan of R100 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at 
an interest rate of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid 
in full by July 2028. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the 
Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user 
agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

78 459 171 82 132 526

The loan of R25 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an 
interest rate of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid in 
full by August 2029. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the 
Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user 
agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

16 828 101 17 515 673

The loan of R120 million from the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at 
an interest rate of prime minus 0,50%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid 
in full by December 2025. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests 
the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end 
user agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

97 331 408 103 306 342

The loan of R200 million from the Development Bank of Southern Africa Limited is at an interest 
rate of prime minus 1,0%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid in full by 
31 December 2024. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the 
Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user 
agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

147 174 600 158 005 798
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Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

GROUP

2016
R

2015
R

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES continued

The loan of R40 million from Cadiz Life and R10 million from Cadiz Asset Management is at 
an interest rate of prime minus 0,25%. The facility period was extended for another 60 months 
in June 2015. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be repaid in full by June 2020. The 
loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it 
may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are 
fi nanced from this facility.

38 889 918 41 655 149

The loan of R250 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited acting as a 
facility agent on behalf of Senior Lenders is at an interest rate of prime plus 0,50%. Interest and 
capital is paid monthly and must be paid in full by July 2021. The loan is secured by a cession of all 
the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, 
or in connection with the end user agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

185 950 435 201 894 466

The loan of R15 million from Mergence Investment Managers is at an interest rate of prime 
less 0,50%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be paid in full by July 2025. 
The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group holds or 
which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements 
which are fi nanced from this facility.

12 923 036 13 636 513

The loan of R300 million from the Public Investment Corporation on behalf of the GEPF is at an 
interest rate of prime less 2%. Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be paid in full by 
June 2027. The loan is secured by a cession of all the rights, title and/or interests the Group 
holds or which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in connection with the end user 
agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

262 022 101 276 347 636

The loan of R20 million from The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited was available over 
fi ve years. The facility was at an interest rate of prime plus 0,2%. The loan was repaid in 
August 2015.

– 17 740 361

The loan of R300 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited acting as 
facility agent on behalf of senior lenders is at an interest rate of prime plus 0,20%. 
R200 million is repayable in equal monthly instalments of capital and interest calculated 
according to a 144-month amortisation profi le as from 15 June 2013 and a fi nal single payment 
on 15 July 2023. The loan is secured by a cession of rights, title and/or interest the Group holds, 
or which it may acquire in future arising out of, or in connection with, the end user agreements 
which are fi nanced from this facility.

262 038 356 277 993 710

The loan of R10 million from Stanlib Asset Management Limited is at an interest rate of prime 
less 0,50%. Interest is paid monthly and capital will be repaid over a 15-year amortising profi le 
the balance is to be repaid by August 2018. The loan is secured by a cession of rights, title and/
or interest the Group holds, or which it may acquire in future arising out of, or in connection 
with the end user agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

9 447 160 9 830 714

Thirty direct, unconditional and unsubordinated promissory notes issued at a nominal value 
of R2 million each, ranking equally in security being loans made to property developers funded 
by the issue of the notes. The coupon was prime plus 0,25% and the promissory notes were 
settled during the year.

– 58 360 687

A R70 million short-term facility provided by the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC 
Limited at an interest rate of prime plus 2%. Interest was serviced monthly and the capital was 
repaid during the year.

– 47 491 759

A R50 million promissory note progamme at a coupon rate of prime plus 0,25%. Interest was 
serviced monthly and the capital was redeemed during the year.

– 50 403 425

The loan of R200 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited acting as 
a facility agent on behalf of Senior Lenders is at an interest rate of prime plus 0,20%. Interest 
and capital is paid monthly and must be paid in full by July 2025. The loan is secured by a 
cession of rights, title and/or interest the Group holds, or which it may acquire in future arising 
out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

186 210 472 78 309 958

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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GROUP

2016
R

2015
R

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES continued

A R65 million promissory note programme at a coupon rate of prime plus 0,20%. Interest is 
serviced monthly and capital must be redeemed by March 2020.

65 542 514 65 487 782

The loan of R11 million from Mergence Investment Managers is at an interest rate of prime. 
Interest and capital is paid monthly and must be paid in full by July 2030. The loan is secured 
by a cession of rights, title and/or interest the Group holds, or which it may acquire in future 
arising out of, or in connection with the end user agreements which are fi nanced from 
this facility.

11 108 416 11 128 486

The warehouse loan of R280 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) 
Limited acting as facility agent on behalf of Senior Lenders is at an interest rate of prime plus 
0,20% paid monthly. The facility will be used solely and exclusively to fi nance end user loan 
agreements and is available for a three-year period ending October 2018.

175 831 705

The loan of R60 million from Futuregrowth Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited is at an 
interest rate of prime plus 0,25%. Interest and capital are paid monthly and must be paid in full 
by February 2026. The loan is secured by a cession of rights, title and/or interest the Group 
holds, or which it may acquire in future arising out of, or in connection with the end user 
agreements which are fi nanced from this facility.

60 141 370

The loan from the National Housing Finance Corporation Limited was converted into 
7 936 059 C Ordinary Shares of no par value in terms of an agreement entered into on 
31 March 2016.

– 6 533 403

The preference shares are issued to the National Housing Finance Corporation Limited and 
are at an interest rate of prime multiplied by the corporate tax rate expressed as a decimal 
fraction, currently 0,72%. Dividend payments have been accrued. The preference shares are 
redeemable in June 2017 and rank after secured loans for repayment.

35 000 000 35 000 000

The loan of R8 million from the Gauteng Partner Fund is at an interest rate of prime minus 
4,16%. Interest and capital are paid monthly and payment must be paid in full by 
September 2018. The facility may only be vested in equity funding projects.

5 633 363 6 729 359

The loan of R5 million from the New Housing Company NPC is at an interest rate of prime 
less 2%. Draw-downs from the facility are made when an advance request has been submitted
 in terms of the loan contractual agreement. Security is by means of a second mortgage bond. 
The repayment of capital is due in November 2019. The facility may only be vested in equity 
funding projects.

5 061 326 5 056 274

The loan of R10 million from the Gauteng Partnership Fund is at a rate of prime less 2%. 
Draw-downs from the facility are made as and when advance requests are submitted in terms 
of the contractual loan agreement. Interest is paid monthly. The repayment of capital is due in 
September 2020. The facility may only be vested in equity funding projects.

9 877 056 7 322 090

The loan of R5 million from New Housing Company NPC is at an interest rate of prime 
less 2%. Draw-downs from the facility are made against advance requests submitted in terms 
of the contractual loan agreement. Security is by means of a second mortgage bond. Interest 
is payable monthly. The repayment of capital is due in May 2022. The facility may only be 
vested in equity funding projects.

2 593 892

1 928 584 225 1 878 209 773

Maturity analysis

Repayable within 12 months 291 886 474 204 228 531

Repayable 1 to 3 years 240 636 991 224 703 914

Repayable 3 to 5 years 347 749 266 378 676 681

Repayable >5 years 1 048 311 474 1 070 600 647

1 928 584 225 1 878 209 773
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GROUP

2016
R

2015
R

19. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

Capital contribution for Conditional Share Plan share issue

Balance at the beginning of the year 3 338 515 1 927 099

Additional cost contribution 916 626 1 411 416

Allocation of shares against cost  (2 174 857) –

Balance at year-end  2 080 284 3 338 515

TUHF Conditional Share Plan

As an incentive for current and prospective employees of TUHF Limited, TUHF Holdings Limited has established a Conditional Share Plan 
(CSP) to which 4 858 000 ordinary shares of a par value of R0,0001 each have been allocated. 

Conditional awards made are subject to TUHF Limited’s performance management system and are measured over a three or four-year 
performance period. Conditional awards that employees become entitled to as a result of the remuneration committee and 
management’s deliberations are vested into their name, equally over a three-year period.

Following the vesting of conditional awards, TUHF Limited is required to procure the settlement of the shares to be vested from 
TUHF Holdings Limited. Such shares are allotted and issued at the ruling market value per share. 

In terms of the rules of the CSP, if an employee should leave the employment of TUHF Limited, TUHF Limited will be entitled to be given 
the right of fi rst refusal to purchase those shares registered in the employee’s name at the current market value. 

During the year, share awards granted amounted to 869 939 (2015: nil) of which 869 939 (2015: nil) were exercised. During the year 
477 456 (2015: 280 238) were sold to TUHF Limited to fund certain employees’ tax obligations or due to resignations from TUHF Limited. 

At 31 March 2016, 2 833 820 (2015: 2 737 462) shares had been vested while TUHF Limited held 735 289 (2015: 554 089) 
treasury shares. 

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R

2015
R

2016
R

2015
R

20. INTEREST INCOME 

Interest on advances 261 322 489 241 368 940

Interest on advances to related company 1 050 979 850 262

Interest on guarantee deposits 2 051 926  2 408 460

Interest on call deposits 1 708 157  2 032 738 36 051 12 320

Interest on staff loans 7 992 –

Interest on tax refunds – 504

Hedging costs offset against interest received – (10 107)

265 090 564 245 800 535 1 087 030 862 582

Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R

2015
R

2016
R

2015
R

21. FINANCE CHARGES

Interest on borrowings 164 356 831 151 870 179 658 899 769 959

Interest on fees on current account 1 061 1 678

164 357 892 151 871 857 658 899 769 959

22. NON-INTEREST INCOME

Profi t on sale of fi xed assets – 938 660

Sundry income 9 569 468 5 002 790 1 850 000 3 624 827

Agency fee income  1 662 664 1 574 716 1 505 614 1 501 500

Raising fee 8 342 094 6 072 103

19 574 226 13 588 269 3 355 614 5 126 327

23. OPERATING EXPENDITURE

Auditors’ fees 1 247 154 1 233 873

Consulting fees 7 055 719 4 084 091 152 667 32 226

Depreciation and amortisation 1 673 335 1 503 000

– Computer equipment 700 817 297 160

– Offi ce furniture and equipment 267 830 133 833

– Intangible assets 704 688 1 072 007

Information technology 1 478 064 1 046 259

Staff costs 41 358 067 28 427 797 138 –

Marketing 3 523 079 1 692 668

Offi ce rental 3 551 869 965 689

Project management 714 197 390 488

VAT written off 3 792 864 2 100 379 19 591 86 971

Valuations 503 555 754 323

Other expenses 7 222 887 9 060 553 414 081 1 693 848

72 120 791 51 259 121 586 477 1 813 045

24. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

Employee costs included in Note 23 above, comprise:

Employee costs

Staff costs 33 788 267 23 060 376

Directors’ emoluments 4 541 942 4 309 844

Non-executive directors 2 111 094 1 050 933

Share-based payment 916 626 1 145 782

41 357 929 29 566 935

TUHF Limited has a defi ned contribution provident 
plan governed by the Pension Funds Act 1956, as 
amended, which all permanent employees are required 
to join. 

Payments to the provident plan are charged as an 
expense as they fall due. 3 761 857 2 737 022

The Group has no obligations for post-retirement 
health benefi ts.
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R

2015
R

2016
R

2015
R

25. TAXATION

South African normal tax – current 2 458 050 17 622 716 (3 968 844) 953 653

South African deferred tax – current 2 301 302 (5 214 862) – –

4 759 352 12 407 854 (3 968 844) 953 653

Reconciliation between expected tax charge 
to actual tax charge

Profi t before tax 35 395 446 43 669 993 3 197 268 3 405 905

Tax at 28% on the above 9 910 725 12 227 598 895 236 953 653

Reversal tax provision – paragraph 3(f) of the 
Ninth Schedule of the Income Tax Act  (4 864 079) (4 864 079)

Factors affecting the tax rate

– Disallowable expenditure (260 015) 148 298 – –

– Permanent differences (27 279) 31 958 – –

Actual tax current charge 4 759 352 12 407 854 (3 968 843) 953 653

26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Profi t before taxation 35 395 446 43 669 993 3 197 268 3 405 905

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 1 673 335 1 503 000

Raising fee deferred (8 342 094) (6 072 103)

Impairment loss 12 790 661 12 587 833

Notional interest – 102 330

Other non-cash items (5 287 352) (8 107 886)  (5 059 983) 451 593

Operating profi t/(defi cit) before working 
capital changes 36 229 996 43 683 167 (1 862 716) 3 857 498

Working capital changes (20 844 921) (1 847 072) (211 572) (219 394)

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable (17 504 654) (329 235) 874 (145)

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable (3 340 267) (1 517 837) (212 446) (219 249)

Cash generated by operating activities 15 385 075 41 836 095 (2 074 288) 3 638 104

27. COMMITMENTS

Operating leases – as lessee (expense) 

Future aggregate minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable leases are as follows: 

Offi ce rental payable within 1 year 2 939 995 653 552

Offi ce rental payable between 2 to 5 years 10 020 941 1 650 268

12 960 936 2 303 820

Lease renewals have been concluded in respect of 
TUHF Limited’s premises in Johannesburg, Durban, 
Port Elizabeth, Cape Town and Bloemfontein. 

Advances 

The Company has the following commitments 
relating to advances: 

Advances for refurbishment of buildings – funds 
will be drawn over the average construction period: 
6 to 9 months 152 638 194 184 144 178

Advances pending contractual compliances – funds will 
be drawn down over the average property transfer and 
construction period (12 to 18 months) 324 585 261 385 682 280

477 223 455 569 826 458

Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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28. BORROWING CAPACITY 

In terms of the Company’s memorandum of incorporation the borrowing powers of the Company are unlimited except where any 
indebtedness, other than trade debt in the ordinary course of business, is limited to R20 million. Undertakings have also been given to 
certain lenders of maintaining a Group debt to capital ratio of 90:10. 

INVESTMENT IN SHARE INDEBTEDNESS

2016
R

2015
R

2016
R

2015
R

29. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES AND 
ASSOCIATED COMPANY

The Company owns 33,31% (2015: 33,53%) of 
TUHF Holdings Limited but control is maintained 
through a voting pool agreement.

The company owns 100% of TUHF Properties 
(Proprietary) Limited and Intuthuko Equity Fund 
(Proprietary) Limited

TUHF Holdings Limited 26 333 333 26 333 333 21 073 525 23 478 600

TUHF Properties (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 1 633 358  1 610 201

Intuthuko Equity Fund (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 2 128 678 –

26 333 533 26 333 533 24 835 561 25 088 801

Total investment and indebtedness 51 169 094 51 422 334

2016
R

2015
R

30. RELATED PARTIES 

Related party balances and transactions 

Refer to Notes 10 and 29 for details of loan balances with related parties. 

Amounts due to and from related parties: 

Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC 

Current account payable within 30 days 13 909

TUHF Holdings Limited

Loan from TUHF Limited – interest paid at market call rates (20 856 585) (10 745 652)

Loan from TUHF Bridge (Proprietary) Limited – interest paid at market call rates (731 610)

Repayable within 12 months

Loan to TUHF Limited – no interest is charged 10 000 000 10 000 000 

No repayment terms

Loan to TUHF Limited – interest received at 75% of the prime rate 62 128 814 57 808 912

No repayment terms

Loan to TUHF Limited– interest received at prime rate minus 2% 94 292 569 87 387 298

No repayment terms

TUHF Limited

Loan from Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC – interest paid at market 
call rates 21 073 526 24 478 600

No repayment terms

Current account payable within 30 days 1 045 336
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Notes to the annual fi nancial statements continued

2016
R

2015
R

30. RELATED PARTIES continued

Intuthuko Equity Fund (Proprietary) Limited

Loan from Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC – interest paid at market call rates (2 128 678) (213 614)

Repayable within 12 months

TUHF Properties (Proprietary) Limited

Loan from Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC – interest paid at market call rate (1 632 668) (1 610 201)

Repayable within 12 months 

TUHF Bridge (Proprietary) Limited

Loan from TUHF Limited – interest received at market call rates – (8 985 436)

TUHF MBS (Proprietary) Limited

Current account payable within 30 days (1) (1)

Business Venture Investments 1904 (Proprietary) Limited

Loan from TUHF Limited – interest received at prime rate plus 10% (13 570 618)

Repayable within 12 months

Amounts paid to and received from related parties

Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC 

Interest received 1 050 979 850 261

Management fees paid (168 515)  (146 578)

TUHF Holdings Limited

Interest received 11 225 173 9 868 703

Interest paid  (964 170)  (373 065)

Intuthuko Equity Fund (Proprietary) Limited

Interest paid (107 419) (3 762)

TUHF Properties (Proprietary) Limited

Interest paid (122 467) (124 831)

TUHF Limited

Interest received 2 184 119 967 172

Interest paid (12 151 376) (10 594 444)

Management fees received 168 515 146 578

TUHF Bridge (Proprietary) Limited

Interest paid (415 790) (608 643)

Interest received  31 106 18 610

Business Venture Investments 1904 (Proprietary) Limited

Interest paid (768 571)

Key Management

All members of the board are considered key management. For remuneration refer to 
note 24 and 31.

SS Moraba, a director of the Company, is chief executive offi cer of National Housing Finance 
Corporation SOC Limited. This company has granted TUHF Limited wholesale loan facilities 
amounting to R257 541 111 (2015: R386 533 400).

Total NHFC debt facilities: capital advanced 257 541 111 386 533 400

Interest paid 24 395 341 25 231 867

Interest and capital repayments 86 270 435 38 666 622

for the year ended 31 March 2016
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31. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 

All director emoluments, fees and other services are paid by TUHF Limited

Cash component 
R

Bonus
R

Pension paid
R

Other
R

Total
R

Executive

2016

PGN Jackson 2 133 047 2 000 000 189 900 218 995 4 541 942

2015

PGN Jackson 1 976 127 1 780 000 371 465 182 252 4 309 844

Directors’ fees
R

Total
R

Non-executive

2016

SS Moraba 245 000 245 000

TM Adler 376 600 376 600

C Coovadia 279 500 279 500

RR Emslie 284 500 284 500

JF Howard 269 744 269 744

P Magula 278 750 278 750

JK Mamatela 207 000 207 000

JS Strelitz 170 000 170 000

2 111 094 2 111 094

Director’s fees
R

Other fees
R

Total
R

2015

SS Moraba 209 666 209 666

TM Adler 100 167 100 167

C Coovadia 221 500 221 500

RR Emslie 230 000 230 000

JF Howard 81 667 81 667

P Magula 48 333 48 333

JK Mamatela 178 500 178 500

JS Strelitz 135 000 135 000

Other services accrued (153 900) (153 900)

1 204 833 (153 900) 1 050 933

32. CONTINGENCIES 

The rules of the Group’s Conditional Share Plan requires all participants who leave the employ of any Group company for any reason 
whatsoever, will offer to sell their shares to TUHF Limited. 

Should TUHF Limited not accept this offer, the participant must offer to sell the shares to other participants in the plan and failing this 
being accepted, the offer must be extended to all other shareholders in the Company. 

Notwithstanding the fact that TUHF Limited is not required to purchase all shares held by participants on leaving the Group’s employ, 
TUHF Limited could have a potential contingency amounting to R9 379 944 (2015: R5 492 806).

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

No matter which is material to the fi nancial affairs of the Group has occurred between the reporting date and the date of approval of the 
fi nancial statements. 
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GLOSSARY

board TUHF board of directors

CBD central business district

CEO chief executive offi cer

CPA Credit Providers Association

CSP Conditional Share Plan

CTI cost to income ratio

DSCR debt service cover ratio

FSC Financial Services Charter

GEPF Government Employees Pension Fund

Group The TUHF Group comprising Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC, TUHF Properties (Proprietary) Limited, 

Intuthuko Equity Fund (Proprietary) Limited, TUHF Holdings Limited, TUHF Limited, 

TUHF Bridge (Proprietary) Limited and TUHF MBS (Proprietary) Limited.

GPF Gauteng Partnership Fund

HR human resources

IAS International Accounting Standards

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

ICHUT Inner City Housing Upgrading Trust

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IT information technology

JHC Johannesburg Housing Company

JPOMA Johannesburg Property Owners and Managers Association

JSE JSE Limited, the licensed securities exchange in Johannesburg

King Code The Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct set out in the King Report on Corporate Governance 

for South Africa 2009

KPI key performance indicator

LCMS Loan Cycle Management System

LOANCO loan committee

MANCO management committee

MARM Mortgage Accounts Receivable Module

NCR National Credit Regulator

NHFC National Housing Finance Corporation

NIM net interest margin

NPC Non Profi t Company

OMLACSA Old Mutual Live Assurance Company (South Africa) Limited

PBO Public Benefi t Organisation

PIC Public Investment Corporation

R South African rand

Rbn rand billion

REMCO remuneration committee

Rm rand million

ROI return on investment

SAPOA South African Property Owners Association

SROI social return on investment

TUHF TUHF Limited

TUHF NPC Trust for Urban Housing Finance NPC
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